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STATEMENT FROM THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AT B AR B Rk A

Dear shareholders of CLSA Premium Limited:

Another year has slipped away. 2019 was a challenging year for the
Company, both internally and externally.

In summary, the Group achieved a total annual revenue of
approximately HK$16.1 million (2018: HK$471.1 million) and
incurred a loss of approximately HK$180.0 million (2018: annual
profit of approximately HK$34.2 million). The Board considers that
such substantial loss was attributable to the following factors:

e areduction in leveraged foreign exchange and other trading
income earned from external customers due to a sharp decline
in the number of customers and reduced volatility in foreign
exchanges, which led to decrease in trading volume of the
Group’s customers in the period from 1 January 2019 to 31
December 2019 (the “Reporting Period”);

e regulatory authorities in different regions, including Australia
and Hong Kong, tightened the regulations on leveraged
foreign exchange trading, which led to investors’ restructuring
of their investment portfolios in the Reporting Period; and

e the global economy has entered a synchronized slowdown
during the Reporting Period, which affected investors’ attitude
towards investment in leveraged foreign exchange and
commodity products.

Externally, the Group faced more and more tightening of
regulations over the Group’s operations in New Zealand, Australia
and Hong Kong in relation to its online forex margin trading
business. The Group, after taking legal advice as to the relevant
laws of the PRC, conducted a detailed survey of the Group’s
existing ethnic Chinese clients. In line with the advice from
the Group’s legal advisers on the PRC laws and in light of the
heightened regulatory expectations of the PRC regulators, the
Group took a conservative approach and deemed clients who were
unable to provide overseas residential address proof as actual or
potential PRC domestic clients and disengaged approximately 95%
of its clients who were identified as actual or potential PRC domestic
clients.
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STATEMENT FROM THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AT B AR B Rk A

Internally, there was substantial change of management during the
year. Mr. Liu Stefan (“Mr. Liu”) and Mr. Huang Songyuan, resigned
on 29 July 2019 due to disagreement with the other members
of the Board regarding the matters set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 29 July 2019. The other executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors resigned/retired on their
own accord. Regarding Mr. Liu, the Board has established a sub-
committee to review his performance during his time as our chief
executive officer and executive Director.

We welcomed the onboarding of our new executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors, who bring in new experience
and vitality to the Group. Under the leadership of our new
management, we have undergone corporate rebranding during
the year and will implement new business plan for our Group’s
development in 2020.

To pave the way for our future growth, the Company changed its
name from “KVB Kunlun Financial Group Limited 27 BIFR & w5
EAFR A5 to “CLSA Premium Limited” last year and changed
its logo to (_151: in order to rebrand the corporate image of
the Group and to differentiate itself from unaffiliated entities that
are using a similar name and conducting similar business as the
Company. The new company name will better reflect that the Group
is part of the substantial shareholder’'s group of entities, including
the CLSA group, and attain synergies by capitalizing on the
business know-how and potential of CLSA group and its affiliates.

Under the leadership of the new management of the Company,
we spared no effort in fully implementing our new business plan
for development. We have completed integrating information
technology systems applied across our business and introducing
new mobile App, including mobile transaction functions. In
addition, through cooperation with new information technology
service providers, the Company’s internally operating information
technology system has been established, and our network security
control has been further strengthened. In 2020, we will endeavor to
develop/enhance the information technology system applied in our
business, so as to provide more stable and higher quality services
for our clients.
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CLSA PREMIUM LIM

STATEMENT FROM THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AT B AR B Rk A

After we completed the trading system migration with Meta Trader
5, we will be able to offer more products to attract more non-
Chinese speaking individual clients and institutional clients to use
the Company'’s services through providing diversified products.

On the other hand, we are recruiting talents with solid experience
and knowledge in leveraged foreign exchange and marketing to
join the Group, which is conducive to our developing new business
plans.

2020 is another year with challenges ahead. Given the outbreak of
COVID-19, economic activities have been slowing down globally.
The financial market is extremely volatile in the first quarter of 2020.
However, we believe panic will be settled in the second half of
2020.

Albeit the current sentiment, the Group is ready for the challenges
and to grasp the opportunities ahead. The Group will implement
vigorous risk management and enhance its information technology
system to cope with the ever changing market. The Group is
endeavoured to use information technology such as big data
and artificial intelligence to deliver swift, secured and hassle free
services to our clients.

In the year ahead, the Group will deliver on our financial
commitments to shareholders by maximizing customer satisfaction,
expanding current product line and driving sustainable incremental
revenue. We also understand the importance of talents and we will
continue to bring in more with experience from the industry to build
a professional, young and dynamic team.

YUAN Feng
Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 April 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B BHLRG Z t m Ke or i

The Board presents the audited consolidated results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2019, together with the audited
comparative figures for the corresponding year in 2018.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Business review

We have experienced a difficult year for the period under review.
Global growth in 2019 recorded its weakest pace since the global
financial crisis a decade ago, reflecting common influences across
countries and country-specific factors.

Rising trade barriers and associated uncertainty weighed on
business sentiment and activity globally. In some cases, these
developments magnified cyclical and structural slowdowns already
under way. Further pressures came from country-specific weakness
in large emerging market economies such as Brazil, India, Mexico,
and Russia. Worsening macroeconomic stress related to tighter
financial conditions, geopolitical tensions such as Iran, and social
unrest such as Venezuela, Libya, Yemen rounded out the difficult
picture.

The US-China trade war is an ongoing economic conflict between
the world’s two largest national economies, the progress of the
phase one of US-China trade negotiation was beneficial on the
stability of the global macroeconomic and trade environment.

Central banks reacted aggressively to the weaker activity. Over the
course of the year, the US Federal Reserve, the European Central
Bank (ECB) and large emerging market central banks cut interest
rates, while the ECB also restarted asset purchases.

The top three most traded FX pairs in the year under review were
USD/JPY, EUR/USD and GBP/USD. For contracts for difference
(“CFD”) and commodity products, gold was the most popular
product traded by our customers, followed by crude oil.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B BHLRG Z t m e gr

In the currency market, we can see the Japanese Yen was stable
in 2019, trading in a slightly narrower range compared with that
of 2018. The highest and the lowest price levels of USD/JPY were
observed to be 112.07 and 104.72 respectively, a 735-pips trading
range during 2019; this is compared with a price movement of
999-pips in 2018, with the highest level at 114.55 and the lowest at
104.56.

Euro was weak in 2019 as Eurozone economy was sluggish. It
went south amid low inflation, shy PMI and the fear of recession in
Germany. EUR/USD was traded within in a price range of 655-pips,
which was narrower than that of 2018. The highest level of EUR/USD
was traded at 1.1551, while the lowest level was seen at 1.0896.
The price range of EUR/USD in 2018 was 1,339-pips, with highest
price at 1.2555 and lowest price at 1.1216.

The uncertainty over Brexit and the general election drove the
investors on guard and infused the Pound with significant volatility
during 2019. The GBP/USD price moved in a slightly lower range
in 2019 than that in 2018. The highest and lowest prices were
observed to be 1.3470 and 1.2033 respectively, a range of 1,437-
pips. This can be compared with the 1,899-pips range observed in
2018, between the highest level of 1.4377 and the lowest level of
1.2478.

For CFD and commodities, the gold was bullish in 2019. Gold
traded within a wider price range of $276.60 USD/ounce. The
highest price of gold was traded at $1,546.10 USD/ounce and the
lowest at $1,269.5 USD/ounce during the year 2019. The 2018 price
range, in comparison, was $205.76 USD/ounce; with the highest
price at $1,366.15 USD/ounce, and the lowest at $1,160.39 USD/
ounce.

Despite the geopolitical tensions, the crude oil price was stable. The
crude oil price range had become much lower in 2019, compared
with that of 2018. In 2018, the crude oil was traded in a range of
$34.54 USD/barrel, with the highest price at $76.9 USD/barrel and
the lowest at $42.36 USD/barrel. The price movement of crude oil in
2019 decreased to $12.00 USD/barrel, with the highest price traded
at $68.58 USD/barrel and the lowest traded at $56.58 USD/barrel.

EEEmSIE  R-T—NF - HEEXRE
E - RZEER-ZZ-NFKE -R=ZF—N
F X2/ HENES REEEEKFESD R
B112.07%104.72 * R 5 ZE R735%0 : IR =
T-N\FHERIKEEAI A998 - ZRKTFR
114.55 % S (KK F /2104.56 °

HRBITEEETNS BT 2T —NFX
IR S5 - BRMEAEIE - PMIRIR & ¥ BB &%
TRMES BULEETK BT EIH
X5 EBR6558 BT — \FIWE - BT
S ETH RS KFEAE1.1551 0 MREKFEE
1.0896 - RZT—N\F B ETHEE
/31,3398 - Fx = /KFE R1.2555 R KK A
1.1216 °

RZZT—NF - BEFREA AR TARE X
SWEHERFTLYG  SHHELHRBBARE - B
ZE-NF B EONEER-Z—NF
HMKRE S RREERKFED R AE1.3470
12033 Z={E1,437% M _T— /\FH=
B Al 31,8998 & = 7K F B1.4377 R & (K K
F51.2478 ©

TEEBEEHNERERIHE 2R — %5
e BE 2 FEMRRZEEEINE276.603TT,
HBE - RZE—NFHE  E2NEaKIE
#1,546.10% 7T #8 Al R R IE K (B A1,269.5
EjL/Bae - BERmME —E—N\FWEEAE
205.763 7T, #a Al B = AKX (B £1,366.153
JT 2 A MR 2B A1,160.3935 7T, %2 ) °

BEMEBOARBER - FUABKRETE - R=
T—h& RhHME=E8_T—N\FXIET
B RZZT—N\F - RAMNKREE R34.54
XL/ W MEmkREAR76.9% T, 1M
KK (B R42.36ETT, B R=_T— -
UMM B RS TR E12.00ET, 18 &
=R B R68.58E T, MLk REKRER
56.58% 7T, 1§ °



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B BHLRG Z t m Ke or i

The retail margin FX trading market is highly competitive. This
includes international multi-product trading firms, other online
trading firms, and financial institutions. We expect the market to
remain very competitive in the foreseeable future. We are constantly
looking for ways to improve our customer service level and meet the
needs of our clients, by providing more trading opportunities in the
global financial markets.

Total income

The total income of the Group decreased by approximately 96.6%
to approximately HK$16.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 from approximately HK$471.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2018.

A. Leveraged foreign exchange and other trading income

The leveraged foreign exchange and other trading
income of the Group decreased by approximately 96.9%
to approximately HK$11.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 from approximately HK$372.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018. This was mainly due
to the decreased trading volume during the year ended 31
December 2019 as compared to the year ended 31 December
2018.

B. Fee and commission income

The fees and commission income of the Group decreased
from approximately HK$56.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately HK$3.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019. The decrease was mainly due
to the decrease in commission earning as a result of lower
trading volume.

C. Other income

The Group recorded other income of approximately HK$2.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 as compared
to other income of approximately HK$38.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B BHLRG Z t m e gr

The variance was mainly a fair value gain of approximately
HK$26.0 million recorded for the year ended 31 December
2018, on the embedded derivative portion of convertible
bonds issued on 12 February 2018 not being repeated in
2019. In addition, the Group recorded a net exchange gain of
HK$9.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 where
the Group recorded a net exchange loss of HK$1.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019. This was mainly due
to the year-end translation of monetary assets denominated
in foreign currency into local reporting currency by CLSA
Premium New Zealand Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company.

Referral expenses and other charges

The referral expenses and other charges of the Group decreased
by approximately 90.3% to approximately HK$17.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 from approximately HK$175.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The decrease was
mainly due to the decrease in the trading volume of the clients
referred by services providers and decreased transaction fees paid
to remittance channels.

Staff costs

The staff costs of the Group decreased by approximately 73.1%
to approximately HK$27.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 from approximately HK$101.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2018. The decrease was mainly due to the staff
headcount decreased from 53 as at 31 December 2018 to 21 as at
31 December 2019.

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation and amortisation increased by approximately 84.4%
to approximately HK$27.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 from approximately HK$14.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. The increase was mainly due to the depreciation
of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$11.7 million after
the recognition of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$33.5
million at 1 January 2019, measured at the present value of the
corresponding lease payments, following the adoption of new
accounting standard for measurement of the lease assets and
liabilities that the total lease payments for operating leases were
discounted by applying the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at
the date of initial adoption (i.e. 1 January 2019), details of which are
set out in Note 2.2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Lease payments under land and buildings

Lease payments under land and buildings decreased by
approximately 73.2% to approximately HK$3.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019 from approximately HK$14.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018 as a result of adoption of new
accounting standard for measurement of lease assets and liabilities
on 1 January 2019.

Administrative and other operating expenses

The administrative and other operating expenses of the Group
increased to approximately HK$107.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2019 from approximately HK$84.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018. The increase was mainly due
to additional impairment of intangible assets of HK$37.5 million
during the year and the significant increase in professional and
consultancy fees from approximately HK$5.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018 to approximately HK$25.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 which was mainly due to additional
legal expenses in relation to legal actions taken against the Group’s
former IT service provider which is a connected party of the Group.

Net loss

For the reasons set forth below, the Group incurred a net loss of
approximately HK$180.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 compared with a net profit of approximately HK$34.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

In summary, the decrease in profitability of the Group was primarily
contributed by:

e areduction in leveraged foreign exchange and other trading
income earned from external customers owing to decrease in
trading volume of the Group’s customers during the year under
review;

e regulatory authorities in different countries, including
Australia and Hong Kong, tightened the regulations on
leveraged foreign exchange trading which led to investors’ re-
consideration on their investment portfolio; and

e the global economy has entered a synchronized slowdown
during year under review which affects investors’ attitude
towards investment in leveraged foreign exchange and
commodity products.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year under review, the operations of the Group were
financed principally by equity capital, cash generated by the
Group’s business operations, the cash and bank deposits and
leases.

As at 31 December 2019, cash and bank balances held by the
Group amounted to HK$379.7 million (2018: HK$725.4 million).
There were no bank borrowings of the Group (2018: nil) and the
carrying amount of convertible bonds of the Company amounted to
HK$191.1 million as at 31 December 2018 was redeemed during
the year.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio calculated on the basis of net debts (finance lease
obligations and convertible bonds) over the total shareholders’
equity as at 31 December 2019 was approximately 5.7% (2018:
33.5%).

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

During the year under review, the Group recorded an exchange
loss of approximately HK$1.9 million (2018: exchange gain of
approximately HK$9.4 million). This was mainly due to the year-
end translation of monetary assets denominated in foreign currency
into local reporting currency by a subsidiary of the Company in
New Zealand. The foreign currency risk is managed proactively by
regular review of the currency positions in the basket of currency
mix. In order to minimize the exposure of the Group to the risk, the
Group has hedge strategy based on prevailing market conditions
and working capital requirements of subsidiaries.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year under review, the capital structure of the Group
consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.
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REDEMPTION OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 12 February 2018, the Company issued 7.5% convertible bonds
(the “Bonds”) with an aggregate principal amount of HK$200 million
to BC Global Fund SPC - BC Fintech Fund SP and PA Investment
Funds SPC for the account of PA High Technology Fund SP
(collectively the “Bondholders”).

On 7 May 2019, the Bondholders exercised the option of early
redemption pursuant to the relevant agreements to request the
Company to redeem the full amount of the convertible bonds with
redemption date on 15 May 2019. Details on the movement of
the convertible bonds were set out in Note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

NEW PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

During the year under review, there was no new products or
services launched.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES DURING THE YEAR
UNDER REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did not
have any significant investments held, material acquisitions and
disposals.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group engaged a total of 21
employees (2018: a total of 53). Total staff costs including Directors’
remuneration for the year under review amounting to approximately
HK$27.4 million (2018: HK$101.7 million). The Group’s
remuneration policies are in line with the prevailing market practices
and are determined on the basis of performance and experience
of individual employees. The Group provides retirement benefits
in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the place
where the staff is employed. The Company has adopted a share
option scheme pursuant to which the Directors and employees of
the Group are entitled to participate.
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CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, certain bank balances of the Group
amounting to approximately HK$84.1 million (2018: HK$90.4
million) were used to secure the banking facilities. As at 31
December 2019, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

We plan to:

1.  rebrand our corporate image to raise market positioning and
competitive edge;

2. expand our customer base, in particular, diversify our
individual clients to include both overseas Chinese speaking
and non-Chinese speaking clients in Australia;

3. expand our customer base to institutional clients by providing
competitive solutions to them;

4. expand the range of our financial services and products,
provided that it does not compete with the business of the
majority shareholders of the Company;

5. continual enhancement of information technology including a
new Customer Relationship Management System; and

6. develop the high net worth and sophisticated institutional
clients segment.
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THE VIEW OF THE BOARD AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
AND THE ACTION TAKEN TO ADDRESS THE
DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The Board has provided all necessary information to the Auditor for
preparing the 2019 Annual Results. The Board has from time to time
closely communicated with the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”) and the Auditor on the updated business
situation and financial performance of the Group, in particular,
the issues raised by the Auditor during the Audit Committee
meetings held on 27 March 2020 and 23 April 2020. As advised
by the Auditor, the disclaimer of opinion was due to denial of the
Auditor’s access to the evidence relating to the Group’s information
technology related systems databases and servers and the data
contained in the databases and servers maintained by Banclogix
which are necessary for the purpose of the audit. There were also
no other alternative audit procedures that the Auditor could perform
to satisfy themselves for issuance of an unmodified opinion. As such
the Audit Committee is fully aware of the basis and the reasons for
such disclaimer of opinion issued by the Auditor.

The Board and the Audit Committee believe the root cause for the
disclaimer of opinion is the uncooperative attitude of Banclogix
in response to requests of information which led to inability of the
Company’s management to provide the level of information and
audit evidence in the below areas to the satisfaction of the Auditor:

1. The accessibility to the data stored on back-ups of the shared
drives and file servers;

2. The accessibility to the trading servers which related to the
testing of revenue completeness;

3. The accessibility to e-mail data which contained but not limited
to correspondence regarding disengagement of PRC clients;
and

4.  The accessibility to information relating to IT general controls,
application controls and report testing.
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The Board, including the Audit Committee, has critically reviewed
and understand the basis of the opinion put forward by the Auditor.
No disagreement had been raised by the Board, including the Audit
Committee, and the Audit Committee members have agreed with
the Auditor’s views and relevant accounting treatment about the
annual disclosure and expressed no further comments on it.

To tackle the above issues, the Board has spent tremendous effort
to migrate the IT platform completely from Banclogix to under
CLSA Limited (“CLSA”") control since August 2019. The Board
has adopted and accomplished different measures of IT platform
migration including (i) shared drives and file servers migration
— completed in December 2019; (ii) trading servers migration —
completed in December 2019; (iii) e-mail migration — completed
in October 2019. As disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 9 March 2020 and 23 March 2020, the Company has
terminated the Renewed Information Technology Services
Agreement with Banclogix and entered into the New Information
Technology Services Agreement with CLSA which has taken effect
on 17 March 2020. The Board, including the Audit Committee,
believes that the above measures already addressed the issues
raised by the Auditor under the Disclaimer of Opinion and there
is no carry forward effect on the financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2020 given the new IT services provider (i.e.
CLSA) has resolved the issues.

EXe (BREEXZES) CERRLEMZ
HEHRELERZKE EFS (BREZEZE
) WEEHEMEZE MELZZEENED
FEZBEEFERERTR 2B NARSET
BRIETE - RETRAUERUIMAFLE—FER -

RERFERE - EEeg T -hF AR
BB TARBRETEEBEEHRH
FERFEHFERQAR([HREER DTS - ES
ORI TR EAEH T a 8B EE -
BRE)EAMBRERERFARSEEZ 2R
TE-NFF+ZAEK: (DX B AREFES—
ERZZE—NAF+ZAREK: (INEFHBHEH
B-ERZE—NF+ATK - AR FH
T _FTF=ANAER=Z_FF=H
ZH=BZAEMEE  ARREEEDRIE
KEEEMBERSE HE - WEP(EEREE]
MEMBERS RS BT =TF=A++t
ARER  -EFg (BEEZEZE®)RR - £
MR E SRR BRI N AR R E R ATIRY
< B BRFEMBIE R HER (R E
ER)EHAEHEME B EHEMETZE
BE-ZT-ZF+-A=+T—HLFEZ2H®%
WMEREREELE -



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND SECRETARY
HH O AE L K R

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YUAN Feng, aged 36, was appointed as the deputy chief
executive officer of the Group in June 2019, as well as a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company and a responsible officer
of CLSA Premium International (HK) Limited. He is also a member
of the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Yuan is a
senior vice president of planning and finance department of CITIC
Securities Company Limited (“CITIC Securities”), the controlling
shareholder of CITIC Securities Overseas Investment Company
Limited (“CITIC Securities Overseas Investment”), which is a
substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) since
April 2019 and a deputy chief financial officer of CLSA Hong Kong
Holdings Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CITIC
Securities since April 2020. Mr. Yuan previously worked as a senior
accountant of finance department of CITIC Corporation Limited
from February 2015 to April 2019, and as an audit manager of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited from July 2008 to July 2014.
Mr. Yuan obtained his master’s degree in world economics from
University of International Relations (BIFR & Z63) in 2008, and
has been a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since 2014.

Mr. WU Fei, aged 42, was appointed as the general manager of
the Group in November 2019. Mr. Wu serves as the deputy head
of legal and compliance department of CLSA Limited (“CLSA”), a
subsidiary of CITIC Securities, since January 2019 and has been
working in compliance department and legal department of CITIC
Securities since 2013. Mr. Wu has a doctor's degree in International
Law of Peking University.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Stephen Gregory McCOY, aged 67, joined the Group in
October 2006 as the senior manager of operations and was later
appointed the country manager of Australia in 2008. Mr. McCoy
resigned as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
McCoy is a non-executive director of other subsidiaries of KVB
Kunlun Holdings Limited, which is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Before joining the Group, Mr. McCoy worked at Arab
Bank Australia Limited as an internal auditor from May 2002 to
December 2003 and later as the head of operations from January
2004 to October 2006 and was responsible for managing the
operations department of the bank including treasury settlements,
retail operations, loan administration, office administration, trade
finance and product compliance in line with regulatory authorities
and policies and procedures of the bank and before that, Mr.
McCoy worked at Westpac Banking Corporation for over 30
years from February 1969 to April 2001 and last held the position
of manager of operational risk. With the previous and current
position held by Mr. McCoy in the Group and other companies, Mr.
McCoy has obtained over 47 years of combined experience in the
financial services industry which is relevant to the operation and
development of the Group. Mr. McCoy was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 15 April 2011.

Mr. LI Jiong, aged 50, is the Chairman of the Board, the chairman
of the nomination committee of the Company and a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. He concurrently serves as
the director of CITIC Securities Overseas Investment and CITIC
Securities International USA, LLC., as well as a chief treasury
officer and person-in-charge of the treasury department of CITIC
Securities. After Mr. Li joined CITIC Securities in 1996, he had
served as the manager of the international cooperation division
of the information centre of China International Trust Investment
Corporation (renamed to CITIC Group Corporation), manager of
development department of CITIC International Cooperation Co.,
Ltd., manager of the bond department, deputy general manager
of the treasury department and person-in-charge of the treasury
department of CITIC Securities. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s
degree in International Finance from the University of International
Business and Economics in 1992 and a master’'s degree in MBA
from Tsinghua University in 2000. Mr. Li was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 21 May 2018.
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Mr. XU Jiangiang, aged 39, is the chairman of the corporate
governance committee of the Company and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He currently serves as a deputy
head of the equity derivatives business line of CITIC Securities
and also a head of Equity Derivatives at CLSA. After Mr. Xu joined
CITIC Securities in August 2005, he had served as an analyst of the
research department, product development manager of the equity
derivatives business line, head of trading of the equity derivatives
business line and head of equity derivatives of CITIC Securities
International Company Limited. Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Mathematics and Applied Mathematics from Peking
University in 2003 and a master’s degree in Mathematics from the
University of British Columbia in 2005. Mr. Xu was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 21 May 2018.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WU Jianfeng, aged 44, joined the Group in June 2019. He
is a member of each of the Company’s audit committee and
remuneration committee. Mr. Wu has served as the lead engineer
of American Express Company (a company listed on the New York
Stock Exchange, stock code: AXP) since 12 September 2019.
Mr. Wu served as a senior manager of information technology
department, an executive manager of technology center, and as a
deputy director of technology center and a director of technology
development department of the Shanghai Stock Exchange from
2000 to 2014. Mr. Wu graduated from Tsinghua University (BZX
&) and obtained his bachelor’s degree of engineering in computer
science and technology in 1993 and his doctorate degree of
engineering in computer system architecture in 2000.
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Mr. Christopher Wesley SATTERFIELD, aged 47, joined the
Group in June 2019. He is a member of each of the Company’s
audit committee, nomination committee and corporate governance
committee. Mr. Satterfield currently serves as an executive director
and chief executive officer of China Post & Capital Global Asset
Management Limited (“CPG”) since September 2015, and is a
registered responsible officer of CPG recognized by the Securities
and Futures Commission for engaging in Type 1 (dealing in
securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities. Mr. Satterfield is a chairman of
China Post Global (UK) Limited and a director of EBA Investments
(Advisory) Limited and RQSI Limited (“RQSI”). He joined RQSI
in September 1999, and had served as its president and chief
operating officer. Mr. Satterfield graduated from the US Navy
Nuclear Field “A” School (“US Navy”) in 1992 and received his
Honorable Discharge from the US Navy in 1997.

Ms. HU Zhaoxia, aged 68, joined the Group in June 2019. She is
the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and a member
of the corporate governance committee of the Company. From 2012
to September 2015, Ms. Hu served as the chief financial officer of
Zanhua (China) Equipment Leasing Co., Ltd.* (B ()& EMHE
EHBR/AT]. Prior to this, from October 1978 to January 2012, Ms.
Hu worked as deputy director of the accounting system division,
deputy general manager and director of the accounting division
of the finance and accounting department of the Head Office of
Bank of China; deputy manager of the accounting department and
assistant general manager of Bank of China London Branch; deputy
general manager of Bank of China Sydney Branch; chief financial
officer of the retail banking business department of Bank of China
and senior supervisor of the office of the board of supervisors of
the Head Office of Bank of China. Ms. Hu graduated from Tianjin
University of Finance and Economics (K28 &£ £2p3) with major in
Finance in 1978 and obtained her senior accountant qualification,
which was granted by the committee of assessment of Bank of
China in 1992.
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Mr. JIN Shaoliang, aged 59, joined the Group in June 2019. He
is the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company,
and a member of each of the Company’s nomination committee
and corporate governance committee. Mr. Jin worked in Ping
An Insurance Group of China (“Ping An”) from September 1992
to May 2017 and had held different positions in Ping An, namely
director of international business department, general manager
of Re-insurance department, deputy general manager of finance
department, deputy general manager of strategy corporate
department, director of the general actuary office, deputy general
manager of strategic development department, investor relations
officer, director of the board office and secretary of the board. From
1988 to 1992, he had worked in China Merchants Shekou Industrial
Zone Nanhai Petroleum Service Company* (& Bt 0 TR /)&
BHRF A7) and Esso China Limited (EBAHAA]). From April
2009 to 2013, he served as a non-executive director of the Fortis
Group. Mr. Jin received a master’s degree in Marine Engineering
and a master’s degree in Economics and Management of
Commercial Enterprises from the Norwegian Institute of Technology
in 1984 and 1987 respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. WONG Tin Yu is a Manager of Corporate Services of
Tricor Services Limited, a global professional services provider
specializing in integrated Business, Corporate and Investor
Services. He has extensive experience in a diversified range of
corporate services and has been providing professional secretarial
services to many companies listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited for the past 7 years. Mr. Wong is a Chartered
Secretary and an Associate of both The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom. Mr. Wong received a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree in Finance from Lingnan University in 2012.
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CLSA Premium Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed to high standards of
corporate governance in the interest of its shareholders and other
stakeholders. It has continued and will continue to identify and
adopt the best corporate governance practices appropriate to the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has complied with all the code provisions set out
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) during the year ended 31 December 2019,
except for the following deviations:

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Li Zhi Da retired as
the Chairman of the Board and non-executive Director after the
conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on
21 May 2018. Since then, the position of the Chairman has been
vacant until the appointment of Mr. Li Jiong as the Chairman of the
Board after the conclusion of the annual general meeting held on 27
June 2019 (the “2019 Annual General Meeting”).

Besides, Mr. Liu Stefan has resigned as an executive Director
and the chief executive officer of the Company on 29 July 2019.
Since then, Mr. Yuan Feng, an executive Director and the deputy
chief executive officer of the Company, has assumed the position
of the chief executive officer. The Board will keep reviewing the
current structure of the Board from time to time. The Board is
also identifying a candidate with suitable knowledge, skills and
experience, and will make appointment to fill the vacancy of chief
executive officer as and when appropriate.
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Pursuant to code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the chairman
of the board should attend the annual general meeting. The
chairman should also invite the chairmen of the audit, remuneration,
nomination and any other committees (as appropriate) to attend. In
their absence, he should invite another member of the committee
or failing this his duly appointed delegate, to attend. These persons
should be available to answer questions at the annual general
meeting. At the 2019 Annual General Meeting, the then members of
the Board Committees of the Company, were unable to attend that
meeting due to other engagements. In view of their absence, the
Company had arranged for the management, who are well-versed
in the Company’s business and affairs, to attend the meeting and
communicate with shareholders of the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the formulation of strategies
and policies, including an oversight of the management. The
management of the Company is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Company under the leadership of the Deputy
Chief Executive Officer.

As at 31 December 2019, the Board comprised nine Directors,
namely (i) Mr. Yuan Feng (as Deputy Chief Executive Officer) and
Mr. Wu Fei (as General Manager) as executive Directors; (i) Mr. Li
Jiong (as the Chairman of the Board), Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy
and Mr. Xu Jiangiang as non-executive Directors; and (iii) Mr. Wu
Jianfeng, Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield, Ms. Hu Zhaoxia and
Mr. Jin Shaoliang as independent non-executive Directors. The
Company has fulfilled the requirement of Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules that at least one of the independent non-executive Directors
must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a specific term, and his term of office is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company and the Listing Rules. For all non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, the
term of them has been fixed for 3 years and they are also subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company and the Listing Rules.
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There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
material/relevant relationships) among members of the Board.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section of
“Biographies of Directors, Senior Management and Secretary” on
pages 17 to 21 of this annual report.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

In determining the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, the Board has followed the requirements as set out in
the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each of the
independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based
on such confirmation, the Company is of the view that all the
independent non-executive Directors have met the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers
that they are independent.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Li Zhi Da retired as
the Chairman of the Board and non-executive Director after the
conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on
21 May 2018. Since then, the position of the Chairman has been
vacant until the appointment of Mr. Li Jiong as the Chairman of the
Board after the conclusion of the 2019 Annual General Meeting.

Besides, Mr. Liu Stefan has resigned as an executive Director
and the chief executive officer of the Company on 29 July 2019.
Since then, Mr. Yuan Feng, an executive Director and the deputy
chief executive officer of the Company, has assumed the position
of the chief executive officer. The Board will keep reviewing the
current structure of the Board from time to time. The Board is
also identifying a candidate with suitable knowledge, skills and
experience, and will make appointment to fill the vacancy of chief
executive officer as and when appropriate.
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RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director, including those appointed
for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. All the retiring Directors shall be eligible for
re-election.

Mr. Li Jiong, Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy and Mr. Xu Jiangiang will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All of
them, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Wu Fei, who has been appointed as a Director on 5 November
2019, shall hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.

BOARD AND GENERAL MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Between scheduled meetings,
senior management of the Company from time to time meets with
Directors to discuss the businesses of the Group. In addition,
Directors have full access to information on the Group and
independent professional advice whenever deemed necessary by
the Directors.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board held 18 #®HE-_Z—hF+_A=1+—HIFE E=
board meetings and the Company held 2 general meetings, and the & HEB{TTI18KEETE S N AR RIT T2
attendance records of these meetings are set out below: KRR RE  ZEFHOE LM T
Extraordinary
Annual General ~ General Meeting
Meeting Held on Held on
Board Meetings 27 June 2019 29 October
Attended/ Attended/ 2019 Attended/
Eligible to Attend  Eligible to Attend  Eligible to Attend
HE/REER HE/REER
528 HER-ZB-NE WHERZB-AE
HERE,/ AA-TtAET +A-TAAES
EEREERE ZBRREEAE ZRRBIKE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Yuan Feng (Deputy Chief Executive — RIESF 4 (8778 4%) 11111 N/ATNEF 1/1
Officer) (appointed on 27 June 2019) (RZFE-NFENF -1+ HEZE)
Mr. Wu Fei RREE il N/ATE A N/ATE A
(appointed on 5 November 2019) (RZFE-NFF—HEAEEL)
Mr. Liu Stefan (Chief Executive Officer) — BITREE 4 (7T B 463E) 1010 11 N/AT i F
(resigned on 29 July 2019) (RZFE—-NF+H=+NHEE)
Mr. Huang Songyuan BEREE 9/10 1/1 N/AT P
(resigned on 29 July 2019) (RZFE—-NF+H=-+NHFEE)
Mr. Wong Yiu Kit Emest (Chief Financial —~ Bt %% (B EHKE) 1414 111 N/ATN i F
Officer) (R=ZFE-NENATAEFE)
(resigned on 16 August 2019)
Non-executive Directors EHITES
Mr. Li Jiong (Chairman) TREE(EE) 15/18 1/1 1/1
Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy Stephen Gregory McCoyt & 18/18 1 11
Mr. Xu Jiangiang FEREE 15/18 0 11
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BIFHITES
Mr. Wu Jianfeng Rl 11/11 N/AT i F 1/1
(appointed on 27 June 2019) (RZE-NENA=T+HEZHF)
Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield Christopher Wesley Satterfield’t 4 9/11 N/ATNE R i
(appointed on 27 June 2019) (RZFE-NENF -1+ HEZE)
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia HRER L 111 N/ATE 17
(appointed on 27 June 2019) (RZF-NE~NF-F+LHEZT)
Mr. Jin Shaoliang SHEBREE 6/11 N/AT i P 0N
(appointed on 27 June 2019) (RZE-NENA=T+HEZHF)
g Ms. Zhao Guixin HERLL 6/7 01 N/AT P
(retired on 27 June 2019) (R=ZFE—-NFNA=-F++HRE)
Mr. Cornelis Jacobus Keyser Cornelis Jacobus Keyser5t 4 6/7 0/1 N/ATE
(retired on 27 June 2019) (R=F—-NENA-++HREL)
Mr. Lin Wenhui MBS 6/7 0/ N/ARE
(retired on 27 June 2019) (RZFE-NENAZT+HEE)
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Directors and officers are indemnified under a directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance against any liability incurred by them in
the discharge of their duties while holding office as the Directors
and officers of the Company.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct
regarding transactions in securities of the Company by the
Directors and the relevant employees of the Company (including
directors or employees of a subsidiary or holding company of
the Company) who are likely to possess inside information of the
Company and/or its securities.

Having made specific enquiry with the Directors, all the Directors
confirmed that they had complied with the Model Code during
the year ended 31 December 2019. Besides, no incident of
non-compliance of the Model Code by the employees was noted by
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as to ensure
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
Company should be responsible for arranging and funding suitable
training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions
and duties of the Director.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has
arranged an in-house seminar for and provided relevant training
materials to the Directors. A summary of the records of training

E-E—AFTZAS+—BILER AR
RIZHE T 45 PO AT B IR T AR 05
SHTES - EHEFEIHV0LEREN

received by the then Directors is as follows: T
Training on
Corporate
Governance Studying
Regulatory Relevant
Development Publications
and/or on Legal and
Other Suitable Regulatory
Topics Updates
FRLEESR -
EERE MBEEER
k/REMEE EERH
EFEZEFIN BERZHY
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yuan Feng r g% AE v v
Mr. Wu Fei R OREAE v v
Mr. Liu Stefan BB E(R=ZFE—NF
(resigned on 29 July 2019) + A=+ HEHE) v v
Mr. Huang Songyuan FEREAE (RZFE—/1F
(resigned on 29 July 2019) + A=+ HEEE) v v
Mr. Wong Yiu Kit Ernest HRGEE (RZFE—NF
(resigned on 16 August 2019) JVA+7NHEFE) v v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Li Jiong = REEE v v
Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy Stephen Gregory McCoyst 4 v v
Mr. Xu Jiangiang FrELR A v
Independent Non-executive BIYFHITES
Directors
Mr. Wu Jianfeng WSS v v
Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield Christopher Wesley Satterfield st 4 v v
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia PHEIE L v v
Mr. Jin Shaoliang SHEREE v v
Ms. Zhao Guixin HERLZLT (R -_ZFE—NF
(retired on 27 June 2019) INHZ 1+ HRE) N/AA 3 A N/AT3E A
Mr. Cornelis Jacobus Keyser Cornelis Jacobus Keyserst 4
(retired on 27 June 2019) (R=F—NEFENHA =1+ HRF) N/ATN3E B N/AT3E A
Mr. Lin Wenhui MBS (R = FE—F
(retired on 27 June 2019) INHAZ 1+ HRE) N/A 3 N/AZTN5E
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code has been adopted.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to evaluate
the performance and determine the remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management of the Group, and evaluate
the performance and make recommendations on any other
employee benefit arrangement.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of one executive
Director, namely, Mr Yuan Feng, and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Jin Shaoliang and Mr. Wu Jianfeng. Mr. Jin
Shaoliang is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Majority of
the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-
executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Remuneration
Committee held 6 meetings. Details of the attendance of the
Remuneration Committee meetings during the year ended
31 December 2019 are set out below:

FHEES
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Attended/Eligible to Attend

Committee Member ZEEREB HEXE, SEEEHERE
Mr. Jin Shaoliang (Chairman) SRREE(FEFE) 3/4
Mr. Yuan Feng = BEsE 4/4
Mr. Wu Jianfeng HaegscE 4/4
Ms. Zhao Guixin (Former Chairman) I (FTEE) 2/2
Mr. Cornelis Jacobus Keyser Cornelis Jacobus Keyserst 4 2/2
Mr. Lin Wenhui MBS A 1/2

Note: Ms. Zhao Guixin retired as the Chairman, and Mr. Cornelis
Jacobus Keyser and Mr. Lin Wenhui retired as a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 27 June 2019. Mr. Jin
Shaoliang was appointed as the Chairman, and Mr. Yuan Feng and
Mr. Wu Jianfeng were appointed as a member of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 27 June 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Remuneration
Committee has considered and recommended to the Board,
amongst other things, distribution of the 2018 bonus payments for
the Directors and the senior management of the Company and the
remuneration packages of the newly appointed Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code has been adopted.
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis
and make recommendations to the Board regarding nomination of
suitable candidate to fill vacancies in the Board.

The Nomination Committee consists of one non-executive Director
and the Chairman of the Board, namely, Mr. Li Jiong, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Christopher
Wesley Satterfield and Mr. Jin Shaoliang. Mr. Li Jiong is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee. Majority of the members
of the Nomination Committee are independent non-executive
Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Nomination
Committee held 5 meetings. Details of the attendance of the
Nomination Committee meetings are set out below:

REZEES

ARBER =T ——FF+-A+/\BXIERER
Be([RRL8g))  EZERERENTESEE
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Attended/Eligible to Attend

Committee Member ZEERE HEXRE, SEEHERE
Mr. Li Jiong (Chairman) T BEEEE) 3/3
Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield Christopher Wesley Satterfield st & 3/3
Mr. Jin Shaoliang SRR EE 2/3
Ms. Zhao Guixin (Former Chairman) HEE LT (FTEE) 2/2
Mr. Cornelis Jacobus Keyser Cornelis Jacobus Keysert & 2/2
Mr. Lin Wenhui MR S A 1/2
Note: Ms. Zhao Guixin retired as the Chairman, and Mr. Cornelis [fisf: B2+ D RFTIREZEESETFE M

Jacobus Keyser and Mr. Lin Wenhui retired as a member of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 27 June 2019. Mr. Li Jiong
was appointed as the Chairman, and Mr. Christopher Wesley
Satterfield and Mr. Jin Shaoliang were appointed as a member of
the Nomination Committee with effect from 27 June 2019.
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The Nomination Committee considered and reviewed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors, the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, and the
attendance records of the Board meetings, committees meetings
and general meetings for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The Nomination Committee recommended the Board to approve
the proposed sequence for re-election of retiring Directors in
2019 annual general meeting. The Nomination Committee also
considered and make recommendations to the Board on the
proposed appointment of Directors during the year ended 31
December 2019. The Nomination Committee considers that the
existing policy for nomination, selection and recommendation for
directorship are suitable.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity in
the boardroom. The Board has therefore adopted a board diversity
policy which stated that the Board sees diversity as a wide concept
and believes that a diversity of perspectives can be achieved
through consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to skills, regional and industry experience, background,
race, gender and other qualities. In informing its perspective on
diversity, the Company will also take into account factors based on
its own business model and specific needs from time to time.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company endeavours to ensure that the Board has the
appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives that are required to support the execution of its
business strategy and in order for the Board to be effective.

The Nomination Committee shall consider, among others, the
following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

e  Character and integrity;

e  Personal attributes including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge, experience and expertise that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy, and the ability
to provide insights and practical wisdom based on those
attributes;

e Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
Board member, other directorships, memberships of various
committees and significant commitments;
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. For independent non-executive Directors to be appointed in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

¢  Ability to develop a good working relationship with other Board
members and contribute to the Board'’s working relationship
with senior management of the Company;

. Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted
by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the
Board; and

e Any other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity
of Directors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience.

A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of differences
in the skills, regional and industry experience, background, race,
gender and other qualities of Directors. These differences will be
taken into account in determining the optimum composition of the
Board. All Board appointments will be based on merit while taking
into account diversity (including gender diversity).

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually
measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board
and recommend them to the Board for adoption. The Nomination
Committee will report annually, in the Corporate Governance
Report, on the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives,
and monitor the implementation of this policy.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) on 18 December 2012 with written terms of reference
in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and risk management and internal control systems of
the Company, nominate and monitor external auditor and provide
advice and comments to the Directors.
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The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Ms. Hu Zhaoxia, Mr. Wu Jianfeng
and Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield. Ms. Hu Zhaoxia is the
chairperson of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has met the external auditor of the Group
to review the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed auditing, risk management and internal
control systems and financial reporting matters including the review
of this annual report and financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee
held 2 meetings. The attendance records of the Audit Committee
meetings during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out
below:

BEZEE SRR -RB Y IENITESHEK -
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Attended/Eligible to Attend

Committee Member ZE8RE BERE EEEHERE
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia (Chairman) BB 2= (£ /E) 1/1
Mr. Wu Jianfeng Haltgd A 1/1
Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield Christopher Wesley Satterfield 5t 4 11
Mr. Lin Wenhui (Former Chairman) MBS (BT E/E) 1/1
Ms. Zhao Guixin fii=KE g 1/1
Mr. Cornelis Jacobus Keyser Cornelis Jacobus Keyserst 4 1/1

Note: Mr. Lin Wenhui retired as the Chairman, and Ms. Zhao Guixin
and Mr. Cornelis Jacobus Keyser retired as a member of the
Audit Committee with effect from 27 June 2019. Ms. Hu Zhaoxia
was appointed as the Chairman, and Mr. Wu Jianfeng and Mr.
Christopher Wesley Satterfield were appointed as a member of the
Audit Committee with effect from 27 June 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee
reviewed with the management and the auditor of the Company
their audit findings, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Company, legal and regulatory compliance, and
financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee also considered
and made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment of
the auditor of the Company.

The audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Company established a corporate governance committee
(the “CG Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code has been adopted. The
primary duties of the CG Committee are to develop and review the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and
make recommendations to the Board.

The CG Committee currently consists of one non-executive Director,
namely, Mr. Xu Jiangiang, and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield, Ms. Hu
Zhaoxia and Mr. Jin Shaoliang. Mr. Xu Jiangiang is the chairman of
the CG Committee. Majority of the members of CG Committee are
independent non-executive Directors.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, the CG Committee held #HZE_—_ZT—HAE+_-_A=+—H ltif =
1 meeting. Details of the attendance of the CG Committee meeting EBIAZESERITT —XAEZ - DEEARETEE
are set out below: OB s T

Attended/Eligible to Attend
Committee Member ZEEREB HEXE, SEEEHERE
Mr. Xu Jiangiang (Chairman) AR (FE) N/AZ i A
Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield Christopher Wesley Satterfield st & N/A i@
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia A EE & N/AA 3 FH
Mr. Jin Shaoliang SERREAE N/AZ i
Mr. Cornelis Jacobus Keyser Cornelis Jacobus Keysert &

(Former Chairman) GIEY:P) on
Mr. Liu Stefan BIMRE LA 1/1
Ms. Zhao Guixin HEEBZ+ 0/1
Mr. Lin Wenhui RO S A= 1/1

Note: Mr. Cornelis Jacobus Keyser retired as the Chairman, and Mr. Liu
Stefan, Ms. Zhao Guixin and Mr. Lin Wenhui retired as/ceased to be
a member of the CG Committee with effect from 27 June 2019. Mr.
Xu Jiangiang was appointed as the Chairman, and Mr. Christopher
Wesley Satterfield, Ms. Hu Zhaoxia and Mr. Jin Shaoliang were
appointed as a member of the CG Committee with effect from 27
June 2019.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, the CG Committee
considered and reviewed the progress on the implementation of
the Group’s corporate governance framework. The CG Committee
also reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Company. Besides, the CG Committee considered and reviewed
the environmental, social and governance reporting proposal. The
CG Committee considers that the existing policies and practices of
corporate governance of the Company are suitable.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors ensure the financial statements of the Group are
prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards.

The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation of the financial
statements and the auditor’s responsibilities are set out in the
section of “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 74 to 78 of this
annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the
Company’s assets and shareholders’ interests, and, with the
Audit Committee, for reviewing areas of risk and uncertainty, the
operation and effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal
control and the procedures by which these are monitored. The
Board has engaged an independent external internal controls
consultant to provide enterprise risk assessment services and
internal control assessment services over certain business
processes of the Group during the year to ensure and maintain
sound internal control functions by monitoring such internal control
systems and procedures so as to ensure that they can provide
reasonable assurance against misstatement or loss and to manage
risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems.
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During the year under review, the Board reviewed all material
internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance
control. Together with the Audit Committee, the Board received and
considered the information from the management, external auditor
and the independent external internal controls consultant in respect
of the effectiveness of the Group’s certain internal control systems
and have considered the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function. The Board is satisfied that the financial,
operational, compliance controls, internal audit, risk management
and internal controls systems of the Group had been in operation
and considered that the Company’s risk management and internal
control system are effective and adequate.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage but not eliminate business risk, to help safeguard the
Group’s assets against fraud and other irregularities, and to give
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material financial
misstatement or loss. In addition, it should provide a basis for the
maintenance of proper and fair accounting records and assist in the
compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The audit works of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
were performed by PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”).

The total fee paid/payable in respect of the statutory audit and
non-audit services provided by PwC is set out in the following table:

% B AT B =

AEEBRE_T-NF+_A=T—"HLLFE
MWIZBITIFE Rz KUK E R TR B 15T ([ 2
FLlox B ]) #ETT -

LA R BUOKE RN A BATEEZ MIFEER
BEN,/ EANEERHHENTX

2019 2018

—E—-hAF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Audit services EZRE 4,021 3,223
Non-audit services IETFZ IR 307 302
Total B E 4,328 3,525

COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the
Chairman on board governance matters, and is responsible for
ensuring that Board procedures are followed and for facilitating
communications among Directors as well as with shareholders and
management.
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On 16 August 2019, Mr. Wong Yiu Kit Ernest resigned and Ms.
Yu Hiu Kwan, Hilda was appointed as the Company Secretary of
the Company. Subsequently on 25 October 2019, Mr. Wong Tin
Yu of Tricor Services Limited (an external service provider) was
appointed, in place of Ms. Yu Hiu Kwan, Hilda, as the Company
Secretary of the Company. The primary contact of Mr. Wong at the
Company is Mr. Yuan Feng, an executive Director and the Deputy
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. During the year under
review, Mr. Wong Tin Yu has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
any one or more shareholders of the Company holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by
the Company.
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In the event that any shareholders of the Company holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company would like to call for an extraordinary
general meeting, please make a written requisition to the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong from time to time, making
attention to “The Board of Directors and the Company Secretary”.

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to put forward
proposals at the general meetings under the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company. If shareholders wish to do
s0, they may request to convene an extraordinary general meeting
as stipulated above and specify the proposals in such written
requisition.

For any enquiries, shareholders are welcome to contact the
Company by post to the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong, by phone at (852) 2600 7670 or by fax at (852) 3014 6457.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

All corporate communication materials published on the website
of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) are posted on the
Company’s corporate website (www.clsapremium.com) as soon
as practicable after their release. The Company’s constitutional
documents are also available on both websites. During the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company have been amended and restated to
reflect the change of name of the Company on 31 October 2019.
Details of the amendments and restatement are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 30 September 2019 and 11
December 2019 and circular dated 4 October 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BT

The Board presents its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2019 by business and geographical segments are set
out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL RESULTS

The annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 are set out in the section headed “Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income” of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

On 31 October 2019, the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman
Islands issued the Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name
certifying that the change of the Company’s name from “KVB
Kunlun Financial Group Limited E®BE¢@MEBEGR AR to
“CLSA Premium Limited” (the “Name Change”) was approved
and registered on 31 October 2019. The Registrar of Companies
in Hong Kong issued the Certificate of Registration of Alteration of
Name of Registered Non-Hong Kong Company on 29 November
2019 confirming the registration of the new Company name “CLSA
Premium Limited” in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

CHANGES OF STOCK SHORT NAME AND COMPANY
WEBSITE

Following the Name Change becoming effective, the English
stock short name for trading in the shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) on the Stock Exchange was changed from “KVB KUNLUN
FG” to “CLSA PREMIUM” and there was no longer any Chinese
stock short name after rescinding “Em B £ 8" with effect from
13 December 2019. The stock code of the Company remains
unchanged as “6877".

The official website of the Company was changed to “www.

clsapremium.com” with effect from 13 December 2019.
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AMENDMENTS TO AND RESTATEMENT OF THE
MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF
THE COMPANY

The Amendments and Restatement of the Company’s
Memorandum and Articles of Association, which reflect the Name
Change by replacing all references in the Memorandum and
Articles of Association to the former name of the Company with
“CLSA Premium Limited”, were registered by the Registrar of
Companies in the Cayman Islands on 31 October 2019.

ADOPTION OF NEW COMPANY LOGO

Effective from 11 December 2019, the Company adopted a new
company logo “cigy-.".

CORPORATE REBRANDING AND BUSINESS PLAN

As part of the rebranding exercise of the Group, in late 2019, the
Company changed its name, logo and corporate image from “KVB”
to “CLSA Premium” and launched a new website, which reflects
the new name, new brand and new logo of the Group. The Board
considers that the Name Change better reflects that the Group is
part of the substantial shareholder’s group of entities, being the
CLSA group.

The rebranding is part of the Company’s plan and vision to better
utilize and capitalize on the business know-how and potential
synergies with CLSA group and its affiliates. Further, the Company
can leverage on the new “CLSA Premium” corporate brand
to attract more clients and strengthen its market position and
competitive advantage. The Board believes that the new name
and logo provide the Company with a fresh corporate image and
identity, which will benefit the Group’s future business development
and is in the interest of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 4 June
2020 (Thursday) to 9 June 2020 (Tuesday), both days inclusive,
during the period no transfers of Shares will be registered. In order
to qualify for attending and voting at the Company’s 2020 Annual
General Meeting, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Union
Registrars Limited, at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem
Exchange Square, 338 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong for
registration by no later than 4:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on 3 June
2020 (Wednesday).
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Business Review and Future Prospect

Since the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on 3 July
2013, the Company has been implementing its business plans to
accomplish its business objectives. A review of the business of
the Group during the year and a discussion on the Group’s future
business development are provided in the section of “Statement
from the Deputy Chief Executive Officer” on pages 4 to 6 of this
annual report.

Financial Key Performance Indicators

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the section of
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 16 of this
annual report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations
of the Group, some of which are inherent to its business and some
are affected by the external environment. The Group’s major risks
are summarized below.

(1) Financial risks

The Group’s principal business activities are exposed to a
variety of key financial risks including credit risk arising from
defaults or deterioration in creditworthiness of counterparties,
borrowers and security issuers; market risk (such as interest
rate risk and foreign currency risk), and liquidity risk arising
from shortage of funds and/or illiquidity of securities. Details of
the aforesaid key risks and risk mitigation measures are set out
in “Financial Risk Management” in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Macro-economic environment

Adverse macro-economic changes may affect the business
environment such as the trade war between China and the US
and Brexit, which may in turn affect the operating results. It is
therefore important that the Group is able to keep track of such
changes of macro-economic environment and swiftly adjusts
its operating policy and business plan under different market
conditions.

Information technology systems

Financial services sector is highly dependent on information
technology systems and networks and their security. Any
material disruption or slowdown of our IT systems, including a
disruption or slowdown caused by our failure to successfully
upgrade our systems, system failures, viruses or cyber attacks
could cause a loss of data or operation interruption. Therefore,
we invest continuously in our IT systems so as to keep up with
the technology security.

Legal and compliance risks

We may be subject to legal risks arising from disputes, claims,
breach of contracts and legal proceedings. Further, our
businesses may be subject to change of laws and regulations,
tightening of regulatory compliance requirements and
practices of the regulators which are out of our control.

The above is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all
principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group. These
may change over time as new risks and uncertainties
emerge and others cease to be of concern. The Directors will
constantly evaluate the Group’s business objectives and may
change or modify plans against the changing market condition
to avert or minimise the risks so as to attain sustainable
business growth of the Group.
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As disclosed in the announcements dated 31 May 2019, 17
July 2019 and 26 November 2019, as a holder of the Australian
Financial Services License, the Group received a letter (the
“Letter”) from the Australian Securities and Investments
Commission dated 18 April 2019 to its licensees which
reminded licensees that they were obliged to comply with
applicable laws of foreign jurisdictions, and recommended
that licensees should seek legal advice to ensure that the
products and services they offer to their clients comply
with applicable foreign laws. Certain subsidiaries of the
Group hold Australian and New Zealand financial services
licenses and the online forex margin trading platform of the
Group’s Australian and New Zealand subsidiaries targeted
towards, among others, ethnic Chinese, thus there existed a
number of clients with Chinese names (the “Existing Ethnic
Chinese Clients”). Further, regulatory authorities in different
countries, including Australia and Hong Kong, had tightened
the regulations on leveraged foreign exchange trading (the
“Tightened Regulatory Requirements”). In view of the Letter
and the Tightened Regulatory Requirements, the Company
sought legal advice from its lawyers as to the relevant laws
of the PRC and conducted a detailed survey of the Group’s
Existing Ethnic Chinese Clients with a view to identifying
anyone who would, or who might possible be, classified as
a PRC domestic client. Any Existing Ethnic Chinese Client
identified as an actual or potential PRC domestic client would
be disengaged.

In line with the advice of the Company’s legal advisers
on the PRC laws and in light of the heightened regulatory
expectations of the PRC regulators, the Company took a
conservative approach and deemed clients who were unable
to provide overseas residential address proof as actual or
potential PRC domestic clients and disengaged these clients,
As a result, approximately 95% of the clients of the Group had
been identified as actual or potential PRC domestic clients and
had been disengaged.
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Environmental Policy and Performance

We are committed to protect the environment by introducing a
green policy to enhance the awareness of environmental protection
among staff. The Group has implemented internal recycling
programme for office consumables such as toner cartridges and
paper to minimise the operation impact on the environment and
natural resources.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in offices
and branch premises where applicable, such as taking initiatives to
reduce paper usage by encouraging the use of websites and online
version of corporate communications. As regards reduction of
power consumption, we have a policy that lighting, air- conditioners
and office equipment shall be turned off when not in use.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements. The Group has been allocating resources
to ensure the Group’s ongoing compliance with the updated
applicable rules and regulations. During the Reporting Period,
the Group had complied with the laws, regulations and regulatory
requirements of the places where the Group operates in all material
respects including the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant rules, regulations and
guidelines of the regulatory authorities. The Group had maintained
all necessary licenses for its businesses throughout the Reporting
Period.

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group’s success lies also on the support from key
stakeholders, including employees, customers, bankers, service
providers and shareholders. Thus, the Group maintains close
relationship with our stakeholders.
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Employees

The Group treasures our employees as the most important and
valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resources management is to reward and recognise our employees
by providing a competitive remuneration package, appropriate
incentives, and opportunities within the Group for career
advancement.

The employees are paid a fixed salary and may be granted other
allowances based on their position. In addition, discretionary
bonuses may also be awarded to our employees based on the
employee’s performance. We conduct regular appraisals to ensure
our employees receive feedback on their performance and discuss
with them on their needs.

Customers

The Group is committed to provide excellent services to our
customers with a view to maintaining steady business and asset
growth as well as long term profitability.

Following the disengagement of Existing Ethnic Chinese Clients, the
Group will diversify its client base to include both overseas Chinese
speaking and non-Chinese speaking clients in Australia and New
Zealand. Besides individual clients, the Group will also expand its
services to provide competitive solutions to institutional clients.
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To facilitate the Group’s business plan and development in
2020, the Group will upgrade its information technology systems,
including the rolling out of a mobile foreign exchange trading
application to make it more convenient for existing and future
clients to trade forex products with the Group’s companies and
to strengthen the Group’s competitiveness. Further, the Group
will recruit experienced and talented personnel with relevant
experience and knowledge in leveraged foreign exchange to
strengthen the Group’s business. The Group will also launch a
variety of marketing activities to rebuild our brand and expand our
customer base, including holding seminars with associations in
Australia and New Zealand, launching digital marketing campaign
and sponsoring events.

Bankers

In order to ensure adequate market penetration and access, the
Group has maintained excellent relationship with our bankers
and we are able to obtain funds from our bankers as and when
necessary.

Service Providers

The Group’s good relationships with its key service providers
are important in provision of effective and efficient services to
our customers and meeting business challenges and regulatory
requirements. The key service providers comprise system
and equipment vendors, external consultants which provide
professional services, and other business partners which provide
value-added services to the Group.

Shareholders

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate
value to our shareholders. Description of the shareholders’ rights
and our investor relations can be found in the section of “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 22 to 39 of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the Company’s corporate governance practices is
set out in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note
12 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital during the year ended 31
December 2019 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements and the section headed “Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity” of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year
under review are set out in the section headed “Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity” of this annual report.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the
share premium account and retained earnings of the Company
are distributable to the shareholders of the Company subject to
the provisions of the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company and provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

As at 31 December 2019, in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company'’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders
were approximately HK$212 million (2018: approximately HK$369
million).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The dividend payout
ratio shall be determined or recommended, as appropriate, by
the Board at its absolute discretion after taking into account of
the operating results, cash flow, financial condition and capital
requirements of the Group, and subject to:

e the articles of association of the Company;

e the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of
the Cayman Islands; and

e any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company seeks to maintain a balance between meeting
shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management with
a sustainable dividend policy. The Company’s dividend policy aims
to allow our shareholders to participate in the Company’s profit and
for the Company to retain adequate reserves for the Group’s future
growth.
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The payment and the amount of dividends (if any) will depend on
the Group’s result of operations, cash flows, financial position,
working capital requirements, future expansion plans, general
economic conditions, future prospects, statutory and regulatory
restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Group, and other
factors that the Company may consider relevant. The Company
does not have any predetermined dividend distribution proportion
or distribution ratio. Any future declarations of dividends may or
may not reflect the Company’s historical declarations of dividends
and will be at the discretion of the Directors taking into account the
aforesaid factors.

Any payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the constitutional
documents, which indicate that dividends may be declared and
paid out of the profits, realised or unrealised, or from any reserves
set aside from profits. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution,
dividends may also be declared and paid out of the share premium
account or any other fund or account which can be authorised for
this purpose in accordance with the relevant law.

There can be no assurance that dividends of any amount will be
declared or distributed in any year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year under review, the aggregate percentage of purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers is approximately
52% of the total purchases of the Group and the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 19%.

For the year under review, the aggregate percentage of sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 89% of the total sales of the Group and the largest
customer included therein amounted to approximately 71%.

At no time during the year have the Directors, or any of their
associates, or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the number of issued Shares) had
any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out in the section headed
“Financial Summary” of this annual report.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme for the
year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 2.17 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this

report, the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yuan Feng (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 27 June 2019)

Mr. Wu Fei (Appointed on 5 November 2019)

Mr. Liu Stefan (Resigned on 29 July 2019)

Mr. Huang Songyuan (Resigned on 29 July 2019)

Mr. Wong Yiu Kit Ernest (Resigned on 16 August 2019)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Jiong (Chairman)
Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy
Mr. Xu Jiangiang

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu Jianfeng

(Appointed on 27 June 2019)
Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield

(Appointed on 27 June 2019)
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia (Appointed on 27 June 2019)
Mr. Jin Shaoliang (Appointed on 27 June 2019)
Ms. Zhao Guixin (Retired on 27 June 2019)

Mr. Cornelis Jacobus Keyser (Retired on 27 June 2019)

Mr. Lin Wenhui (Retired on 27 June 2019)
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Mr. Liu Stefan (“Mr. Liu”) and Mr. Huang Songyuan resigned on
29 July 2019 due to disagreement with the other members of the
Board regarding the Company’s publication of announcement
related to certain update on identification and disengagement of
PRC domestic clients in respect of the online forex margin trading
services provided by the Group’s Australia and New Zealand
subsidiaries and profit warning announcement for the Company.
The Company has established a sub-committee of the Board to
review Mr. Liu’s performance during his time as chief executive
officer and executive Director of the Company. Please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 31 May 2019, 17 July 2019,
29 July 2019, 26 November 2019 and 24 January 2020 for further
details.

In accordance with article 84 of the articles of association of the
Company, one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation but are eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. Any new Director appointed to
fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office
only until the next following general meeting and annual general
meeting of the Company respectively, and shall then be eligible for
re- election pursuant to article 83(3) of the articles of association of
the Company.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, Mr.
Wu Fei, Mr. Li Jiong, Mr. Xu Jiangiang and Mr. Stephen Gregory
McCoy will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Further,
each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his/
her independence of the Company and the Company considers
each of them to be independent in accordance with the guidelines
of assessing independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors have entered into any service contract with
any member of the Group which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Related Party
Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” and note
31 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which any of the Company’s subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an
entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year or at the
end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Interests and Short
Positions of Directors and Chief Executive in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” and “Share Option Scheme” below, at
no time during the year or at the end of the year has been/was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Company’s
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, subject
to the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in
or about the execution of their duty in their offices. Such permitted
indemnity provision has been in force throughout the Reporting
Period. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the directors and officers of
the Group.

DIRECTORS’ COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors and their respective
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) had any business
or interest in a business which competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
below, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into
any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Pursuant to subscriptions agreements entered into by the
Company on 25 January 2018, on 12 February 2018 (the “Issue
Date”), the Company issued convertible bonds with a principal
amount of HK$200 million (the “Bonds”) to two subscribers (the
“Bondholders”). The convertible bonds entitled the Bondholders to
convert them into 326,264,273 ordinary shares of the Company at
the conversion price of HK$0.613 per share of the Company at any
time from the day following one year from the Issue Date up to the
fifth business day immediately before the second anniversary of
the Issue Date (the “Maturity Date”) and bear interest at 7.5% per
annum. The Company may extend the Maturity Date for a further
term of one year by giving notice in writing to all of the Bondholders
on or before the Maturity Date and with the prior written consent
from Bondholders of not less than 50% of the aggregate principal
amount of the Bonds outstanding. Interest rate will be increased
to 12% per annum during the extended period. Unless previously
redeemed, converted or cancelled, the Company has to redeem the
convertible bonds on the Maturity Date (or the extended Maturity
Date) at 100% of the outstanding principal amount, together
with accrued interest. Further, according to the subscription
agreements, the Bondholders may, amongst others, exercise the
option to request the Company for early redemption commencing
from the day falling one year from the Issue Date.

On 7 May 2019, the Bondholders exercised the option of early
redemption to redeem the full amount of the Bonds with redemption
date on 15 May 2019.

Further information on the Bonds are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 3
June 2013. A summary of the Scheme is as follows:

(@) Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is for the Group to attract, retain
and motivate talented Participants (as defined below) to strive
for future developments and expansion of the Group.

(b) Participants of the Scheme

Under the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, invite the
following persons as participants (the “Participants”) of the
Scheme:

(i) any executive or non-executive Director including any
independent non-executive Director or any employee
(whether full-time or part-time) of any member of the
Group;

(i) any trustee of a trust (whether family, discretionary or
otherwise) whose beneficiaries or objects include any
employee or business associate of the Group;

(iii) any consultant (in the areas of legal, technical, financial or
corporate management) and other adviser to any member
of the Group;

(iv) any supplier of goods and/or services to the Group; or

(v) any other person whom the Board considers, in its sole
discretion, has contributed to the Group.

In determining the basis of eligibility of each Participant, the

Board would take into account such factors as the Board may
at its discretion consider appropriate.
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Basis for determining the exercise price and acceptance of
offer

The exercise price of an option to subscribe for shares granted
under the Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board at
its sole discretion and notified to the Participant and shall be
no less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date on which an option is granted; (ii) the average
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date on which an option is granted; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Share.

Offer of an option shall be deemed to have been accepted
by the grantee when the duplicate of the relevant offer letter
comprising acceptance of the option duly signed by the
grantee together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1.00 (or such other nominal sum in any currency as the
Board may determine) by way of consideration for the grant.

Maximum numbers available for issue

The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the adoption date (the
“General Scheme Limit") unless further shareholders’ approval
is obtained in general meeting, provided that options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme will not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the General Scheme Limit.

Notwithstanding the foregoing the total number of shares
of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and other schemes involving the issue or grant
of options or similar rights over the Shares or other securities
by the Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
shares of the Company in issue from time to time.
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Maximum entitlement of each Participant

For each Participant, the total number of shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted and further to
be granted in any 12-month period (including both exercised
and outstanding options) and in the 12-month period up to and
including the acceptance date (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) shall not in isolation or aggregate
exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of such grant,
and any grant of option which would result in such limit being
exceeded shall be approved by the Company in general
meeting with such Participant and any associate thereof
abstaining from voting.

Time of exercise of the option

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme at any time during the period
commencing on the first business day from the date of grant
of option and expiring at the close of business on a date to be
determined and notified by the Directors which shall not be
more than 10 years from the date of grant of option.

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated at the
time of granting the option, there is no minimum period for
which an option must be held before it can be exercised.

Remaining life of the Scheme

The Directors shall be entitled at any time within 10 years
commencing on 3 July 2013 to offer the grant of an option to
any qualifying participants.
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(h) Movements of the options granted under the Scheme

On 19 August 2015, the Company granted share options to
95 individuals to subscribe for an aggregate of 40,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company. Among the 40,000,000 share options granted,
12,200,000 share options were granted to the then six
Directors.

On 29 December 2016, the Company granted share options
to 95 individuals to subscribe for an aggregate of 40,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company. Among the 40,000,000 share options granted,
11,750,000 share options were granted to the then six
Directors.

On 22 March 2018, the Company granted share options to
82 individuals to subscribe for an aggregate of 40,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company. Among the 40,000,000 share options granted,
12,200,000 share options were granted to the then five
Directors.

Details of the movements of the options granted under the
Scheme are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above and Note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors, chief executive, deputy chief executive, substantial
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates
(as defined under the Listing Rules) had any right to subscribe
for the shares of the Company under the Scheme.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, save as disclosed below, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive nor the deputy chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were (i)
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (ii) required, pursuant to the Model
Code contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange:

Long positions in shares of the Company:

Number of shares/

EERESTRAEBRKNS - HEARSG R
B zEERKXE
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RAERBRGFZHA :

Approximate %
of the number

Name of director Capacity underlying shares held Total of issued shares
HEBTRG
Bspsg 47 FiEReHEARGHE Ay YEAPNEIHL
Shares Options
& 4 BRE
(Note)
(Htt)
Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
Stephen Gregory McCoy %t 4 EnEBA
Note: Hiat -

Those options were granted on 22 March 2018 under the Scheme.
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SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, so far as was known to the Directors of
the Company, the following persons (other than the directors or
chief executive or deputy chief executive of the Company) had, or
were deemed or taken to have, an interest or short position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336

of the SFO:

Number of shares/underlying

FERRAROREBRROG 2 EER AR

BARREEMA R_FT—-ALFE+_A
=t—HB U TAL(XRRBZEZTHESTT
A B 3 EITT AR ERR M) IRAS R R R B M
MRRBARX (0 o A SRR R EFR A LN A
AR ARIEE 75 R B R 5 B 33615 P il 17 #Y
FrfagmsRE

shares held
FisRe RERGHE
Approximate %
Derivative of the number of
Name of substantial shareholder Capacity Shares interests Total issued shares
EERTRAEE
TERREH &4 R fTE#ER By BREDH
CITIC Securities Company Limited Interests in controlled 1,200,310,001 - 1,200,310,001 59.03%
(“CITIC Securities”) (Note 1) corporation
REIHERHERARA(HRELR])  AXEHZEE ER
(Hiz#1)
KVB Kunlun Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 300,000,000 - 300,000,000 14.75%
("KVB Holdings") (Note 2)
KVB Kunlun Holdings Limited EGEBA
(TKVB Holdings ) (###2)
Mr. Li Zhi Da (Note 2) Interests in controlled 300,000,000 - 300,000,000 14.75%
corporation
REKE(H2) REEHEE 2 R
Calypso International Investment Beneficial owner 106,525,000 - 106,525,000 5.24%
Co., Limited (Note 3)
Calypso International Investment ERBEBA
Co., Limited (#7523)
Hainan Province Cihang Interests in controlled 106,525,000 - 106,525,000 5.24%
Foundation (Note 3) corporation
BRHAEMARESE (Wi3) REZEEE 2
Cihang Sino-Western Cultural and Interests in controlled 106,525,000 - 106,525,000 5.24%

Educational Exchange Foundation
Limited (Note 3)

ERRAANHERRELERRAR
(#1#£3)

corporation
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Notes:

1. As CITIC Securities is entitled to control over one-third of the voting
power at general meetings of CITIC Securities Overseas Investment
Company Limited, CITIC Securities is deemed under the SFO to be
interested in the entire 1,200,310,001 shares held by CITIC Securities
Overseas Investment Company Limited.

2. As Mr. Li Zhi Da is entitled to control over one-third of the voting power
at general meetings of KVB Holdings, he is deemed under the SFO to
be interested in the entire 300,000,000 shares held by KVB Holdings.

3.  Calypso International Investment Co., Limited was a wholly owned
subsidiary of HNA Group (International) Company Limited, which was
in turn owned as to 91.09% by HNA Group Co., Ltd. HNA Group Co.,
Ltd. was held as to 70% by Hainan Traffic Administration Holding Co.,
Ltd.. Hainan Traffic Administration Holding Co., Ltd. was in turn held as
to 50% by Sheng Tang Development (Yangpu) Co., Ltd. Sheng Tang
Development (Yangpu) Co., Ltd. was held as to 35% by Tang Dynasty
Development Co. Ltd. which was in turn 98% held by Pan-American
Aviation Holding Company, which is wholly owned by Cihang Sino-
Western Cultural and Educational Exchange Foundation Limited.
Cihang Sino-Western Cultural and Educational Exchange Foundation
Limited and Hainan Province Cihang Foundation are deemed under
the SFO to be interested in entire 106,525,000 shares held by Calypso
International Investment Co., Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Directors
are not aware of any person (other than the directors or chief
executive or deputy chief executive of the Company whose interests
are set out in the section headed “Interests and Short Positions of
Directors and Chief Executive in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” above) who has an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares (including interest in options, if any) of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which any member of the Group was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended 31
December 2019.

Hat
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NAIZBRRRE LIEHIBR =22 —NikE
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1,200,310,001 B& A& 17 & B 1 35 ©

2. HRZEEE LA B HIKVB Holdings IR A
SLEBB=S2 —WIEZR REFH K
EEH - R A FKVB Holdings 2 835 B Y
300,000,0008% B& {5+ # B 2 35 ©

3. Calypso International Investment Co., Limited
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Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, no contract of significance (including provision of
services) between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2019 are disclosed in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements. Certain of these
transactions also constitute continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules, as identified below.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Cash Dealing Services

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 28
December 2018, the Company and KVB Kunlun Global Capital
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of KVB Kunlun Holdings Limited
(“KVB Holdings”, a substantial shareholder of the Company)
entered into a renewed cash dealing agreement (the “Renewed
Cash Dealing Agreement”) on 28 December 2018 for a term from
1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021 subject to early termination
by either party by giving the other party at least one month’s written
notice of termination, under which the Company, together with its
subsidiaries, would provide cash dealing services including the
provision of exchange of currencies at a rate determined at the
time of the transaction to KVB Holdings and its associate other
than the Group. The annual caps for transactions contemplated
under the Renewed Cash Dealing Agreement for each of the three
years ended/ending 31 December 2021 in respect of revenue (in
terms of net of realised gains, realised losses, unrealised gains and
unrealised losses) are HK$10 million.
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Sharing of Overseas Office premises

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 28
December 2018, the Company and KVB Holdings entered into
a renewed office licence agreement on 28 December 2018 (the
“2018 Renewed Office Licence Agreement”) in relation to sharing
of office space in Australia and New Zealand, for a term from 1
January 2019 to 31 December 2021, subject to early termination
by either party by giving the other party at least one month'’s written
notice of termination. For the services provided by the Group for
each of the three years ended/ending 31 December 2019, 31
December 2020 and 31 December 2021, the annual caps of the
transactions contemplated under the 2018 Renewed Office Licence
Agreement are HK$2.2 million, HK$2.3 million and HK$2.4 million.
For the services provided by KVB Holdings and its associates
other than the Group for each of the three years ended/ending 31
December 2019, 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021, the
annual caps are HK$3.3 million, HK$3.4 million and HK$3.6 million
respectively.

As announced by the Company on 2 March 2020, in order to
lower the Group’s lease expenses and to improve its financial
performance by controlling its expenses, the Company has agreed
with KVB Holdings to terminate the 2018 Renewed Office Licence
Agreement which took effect on 6 March 2020. The termination of
the 2018 Renewed Office Licence Agreement will not have any
material adverse effect on the operation and financial position of the
Group.
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In order to continue our operations overseas, as announced
by the Company on 9 March 2020, CLSA Premium Pty Limited
“CLSA Premium Pty”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a service level agreement (the “Australian
Service Level Agreement”) with CLSA Australia Services Pty
Ltd (“CLSA Australia Pty”), a company incorporated in Australia
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of CITIC Securities (a controlling
shareholder of the Company) for a term of three years from 14
February 2020 to 13 February 2023. Under the Australian Service
Level Agreement, CLSA Australia Pty shall provide or procure the
provision of (i) sharing of office space and common use of certain
facilities at Level 35, Grosvenor Place, 225 George Street, Sydney
NSW 2000; and (ii) administrative services including utilities,
kitchen consumables and receptionist services to CLSA Premium
Pty. The annual cap of the transactions contemplated under the
Australian Service Level Agreement for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2020, 31 December 2021, 31 December
2022 and the period ending 13 February 2023 is AU$105,573.77
(approximately HK$633,443), AU$120,000 (approximately
HK$720,000), AU$120,000 (approximately HK$720,000) and
AUS$14,465.75 (approximately HK$86,795) respectively.

Sharing of Office Premises in Hong Kong

As announced by the Company on 23 March 2020, on 23 March
2020, CLSA Premium International (HK) Limited (“CLSA Premium
(HK)"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
being the tenant under the tenancy agreement in relation to our
Hong Kong office dated 28 October 2018 (the “Hong Kong Office
Tenancy Agreement”), entered into a service level agreement
(the “Hong Kong Service Level Agreement”) with CITIC Securities
Brokerage (HK) Limited (“CITIC Securities Brokerage (HK)”) and
CITIC Securities Futures (HK) Limited (“CITIC Securities Futures
(HK)"), both being wholly-owned subsidiaries of CITIC Securities
for a term from 26 March 2020 to 30 September 2021. Under the
Hong Kong Service Level Agreement, CLSA Premium (HK) shall
provide or procure the provision of (i) sharing of office space and
common use of certain facilities at Nos.7501 & 7507B-7508, Level
75, International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon,
Hong Kong (the “Hong Kong Office”); and (ii) administrative
services including utilities, kitchen consumables and receptionist
services. The annual cap of the transactions contemplated
under the Hong Kong Service Level Agreement for each of the
two years ending 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021 is
HK$2,558,000 and HK$2,700,000 respectively.
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As the provision of the services under the Hong Kong Service
Level Agreement is subject to the permission of the landlord (the
“Landlord”), an independent third party, on 20 March 2020, the
Company, CLSA Premium (HK), Yorkastle Capital Limited, an
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (“Yorkastle”),
CITIC Securities Brokerage (HK), CITIC Securities Futures (HK)
and the Landlord entered into a supplemental deed of guarantee
and indemnity (the “Supplemental Deed”). Under the Supplemental
Deed, the Company, CLSA Premium (HK), Yorkastle, CITIC
Securities Brokerage (HK) and CITIC Securities Futures (HK) (i)
jointly and severally agree, confirm and undertake with the Landlord
that they shall jointly and severally observe and perform all the
terms and conditions of the Hong Kong Office Tenancy Agreement,
the guarantee and indemnity entered into by the Landlord, CLSA
Premium (HK), Yorkastle and the Company on 2 October 2018 (the
“2018 Guarantee and Indemnity”) and the Supplemental Deed;
and (ii) unconditionally and irrevocably warrant and guarantee the
payment of all rent and other payments payable under the Hong
Kong Office Tenancy Agreement; and (iii) jointly and severally
undertake to fully indemnify the Landlord against any loss, damages,
demands, suits, actions, proceedings, costs and expenses arising
out of or directly or indirectly connected with the breach of the
Hong Kong Office Tenancy Agreement or the 2018 Guarantee and
Indemnity or the Supplemental Deed or the use or occupation of the
Hong Kong Office or the breach of laws or regulations or commission
of any offence of investigation by the relevant authorities.

Information Technology Services

Previous Renewed Information Technology Services
Agreement

As disclosed in the announcement dated 28 December 2018, the
Company and Banclogix System Co., Limited (“Banclogix”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of KVB Holdings, entered into a renewed
information technology services agreement (the “Previous Renewed
Information Technology Services Agreement”) for a term from 1
January 2019 to 31 December 2021 subject to early termination
by either party by giving the other party at least three (3) months’
written notice of termination. Pursuant to the Previous Renewed
Information Technology Services Agreement, Banclogix would
from time to time provide software development and maintenance
services, information technology infrastructure project management
services and information technology infrastructure maintenance
services to the Group. The aggregate annual caps for the amounts
payable by the Group to Banclogix under the Previous Renewed
Information Technology Services Agreement for each of the three
years ended/ending 31 December 2019, 31 December 2020 and
31 December 2021 are HK$25 million respectively.
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However, as disclosed in the announcement dated 6 August
2019, for the purpose of reviewing the performance of Mr. Liu
Stefan (“Mr. Liu”) during his time as chief executive officer and
executive Director of the Company, the Company had made
several requests for data or access to data, on an urgent basis,
data relating to the Group, but Banclogix had not provided all of
the data requested. As a result, the Group obtained an injunction
order (the “Injunction Order”) which prohibited Banclogix from,
amongst other things, (i) deleting or disposing any data owned
by the Group (the “Group’s Data”) and (ii) damaging, deleting,
modifying, destroying or disposing of any back-up tapes or other
back-up storage media which contained the Group’s Data. As
disclosed in the announcement dated 11 September 2019, a
hearing (the “Hearing”) took place on 9 August 2019 whereby
Banclogix offered an undertaking to the Hong Kong High Court
not to delete or dispose of the Group’s Data and certain back-up
tapes. The Company and Banclogix reached an agreement on the
precise terms of the undertaking (the “Undertaking”) and obtained
the approval of the Hong Kong High Court by way of an order
on 11 September 2019. According to the Undertaking, amongst
other things, Banclogix shall not, directly or indirectly, delete or
dispose of any of the Group’s Data, or supplied by or originated
from the Group and/or its customers in connection with any services
provided by Banclogix to the Group under the Previous Renewed
Information Technology Services Agreement, and contained or
hosted on computer servers, back-up tapes or any other media
in Banclogix’s possession, custody or power, whether inside or
outside Hong Kong and Banclogix shall preserve any and all of the
annual back-ups for the last seven years, rotational back-up version
containing the Group’s Data as at 26 July 2019 and non-rotational
back-ups (if any) containing the Group’s Data. As disclosed in the
announcement dated 24 January 2020, the Company filed a reply
evidence in support of its application to continue the Injunction
Order obtained by the Company against Banclogix.

As announced by the Company on 23 March 2020, on 19 March
2020, the Company issued a letter of termination to Banclogix to
terminate the Previous Renewed Information Technology Services
Agreement. The termination of the Previous Renewed Information
Technology Services Agreement will not have any material adverse
effect on the business operations and financial position of the
Group.
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New Information Technology Service Agreement

In view of such ongoing litigation with Banclogix which has
been affecting the Company’s normal business operations, it is
necessary for the Company to engage a new service provider
to provide information technology services to the Group in its
ordinary course of business. As announced by the Company on
9 March 2020, on 9 March 2020, the Company entered into an
information technology services agreement (the “New Information
Technology Services Agreement”) with CLSA Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CITIC Securities, for a term of three years from
17 March 2020 to 16 March 2023 whereby CLSA Limited agreed
to provide (i) technology infrastructure design, implementation,
monitoring, maintenance and remote support services; (ii) software
development, implementation, monitoring, maintenance and remote
support services; (iii) front office sales trading, dealing, execution
system; (iv) website services; (v) market data databases and
distribution platforms for all systems; (vi) system access account
administration services and reporting, security monitoring, and
security consulting services; and (vii) information technology
service management services to the Group.

The Company shall pay (i) a fixed annual fees at US$115,000;
(ii) a variable monthly fee based on actual usage of the relevant
services, charged at US$3,635 per user per annum; and (iii) in
respect of project management service, a fee charged by cost
actually incurred as listed in the Statement of Work as agreed by
the relevant Group company and CLSA Limited prior to the start of
the project. Unless otherwise specified in the Statement of Work,
an amount will be charged at HK$5,500 per man day. The annual
cap of the transactions contemplated under the New Information
Technology Services Agreement for each of the three years ending
31 December 2020, 31 December 2021, 31 December 2022 and
the period ending 16 March 2023 is HK$2,422,000, HK$3,504,000,
HK$4,078,000 and HK$862,000 respectively.
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All independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the above continuing connected transactions have
been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Directors also confirm that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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In accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the auditor
must provide a letter to the Board confirming whether anything
has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
continuing connected transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the Board;

(2) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group if the transactions involve the
provision of goods or services by the Group;

(8) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

(4) have exceeded the cap.

The auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in this section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” above. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

Save and except for the legal action against Banclogix as disclosed
in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”, during
the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material litigation
or arbitration.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS DURING
THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group did not have any material acquisitions, disposals or
asset reorganizations during the Reporting Period.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in (i) the Company’s announcement dated
24 January 2020 regarding the Company filed a reply evidence
in support of its application to continue the Injunction Order
obtained by the Company against Banclogix; (ii) the Company’s
announcement dated 2 March 2020 regarding the Company has
agreed with KVB Kunlun Holdings to terminate the 2018 Renewed
Office Licence Agreement; (iii) the Company’s announcement
dated 9 March 2020 regarding (a) CLSA Premium Pty has entered
into the Australian Service Level Agreement with CLSA Australia
Pty; and (b) the Company has entered into the New Information
Technology Services Agreement with CLSA Limited; (iv) the
Company’s announcement dated 23 March 2020 regarding
CLSA Premium (HK) has entered into the Hong Kong Service
Level Agreement with CITIC Securities Brokerage (HK) and
CITIC Securities Futures (HK); and the Company has entered into
the Supplemental Deed of guarantee and indemnity with CLSA
Premium (HK), Yorkastle, CITIC Securities Brokerage (HK), CITIC
Securities Futures (HK) and City Lion Investment Limited (as
the Landlord); and (v) the Company’s announcement dated 23
March 2020 regarding the Company issued a letter of termination
to Banclogix to terminate the Previous Renewed Information
Technology Services Agreement on 19 March 2020, the Directors
are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has
taken place subsequent to 31 December 2019 and up to the date of
this report.

Effect assessment of the COVID-19 outbreak

Given the outbreak of new COVID-19, economic activities have
been slowing down globally. The financial market was extremely
volatile in the first quarter of 2020. However, we believe panic will
be settled in the second half of 2020. The epidemic will impact
business operations of certain industries as well as the overall
economy. The Group will closely monitor the situation and assess its
impacts on our financial position and operating results.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to approximately HK$59,000 (2018: approximately
HK$2,364,000).

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The
Company did not change the auditor during the past 3 financial
years.

On behalf of the Board

Yuan Feng
Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 April 2020
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED
(Formerly known as KVB Kunlun Financial Group Limited)

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Disclaimer of Opinion

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
CLSA Premium Limited (Formerly known as KVB Kunlun Financial
Group Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”
set out on pages 79 to 191, which comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our
report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

The Group’s information technology (“IT”) related systems,
databases and servers (together the “Legacy Systems”) are
located in Hong Kong, New Zealand, Australia and Singapore. Its
transaction data generated from its leveraged foreign exchange
and other trading businesses were captured and maintained within
the Legacy Systems, which automatically processed transactions
and the calculation of the leveraged foreign exchange and other
trading income/losses, fee and commission income as well as the
related referral expenses. As such, the occurrence, accuracy and
completeness of these transaction data were highly dependent
on the integrity of the Legacy Systems, which were maintained
by Banclogix System Co., Limited (“Banclogix”), the Group’s
information technology services provider pursuant to the relevant
information technology services agreements. Banclogix is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of KVB Kunlun Holdings Limited, which is a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

During the year of 2019, the Group made several attempts to
access certain data stored in and documentations relating to the
Legacy Systems but Banclogix has not provided sufficient access
since August 2019. The Group migrated to a set of new IT-related
systems, databases and servers in December 2019 and started to
process and store the data for the relevant business transactions
executed since December 2019 using the new systems, and issued
a letter of termination on 19 March 2020 to terminate the service
agreement with Banclogix.

Because of the above access restrictions, in respect of the Legacy
Systems and the Group’s leveraged foreign exchange and other
trading transactions processed and stored using the Legacy
Systems, we were unable to access:

o data and documentations that represented important
evidence relevant to our testing of the information
technology general controls (“ITGC”) of the Group’s trading
system covering access to system and data, program
changes, program development, and IT operations;
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. data and documentations that represented important
evidence relevant to our testing of the information
technology application controls (“ITAC”) of the Group’s
trading system covering key system-generated reports and
automated calculations within the trading system; and

. databases and servers containing: (a) customer on-
boarding documentations detailing the commission
rates agreed with customers; (b) correspondences with
customers on their disengagement during the year ended
31 December 2019; and (c) details of agreements entered
into between the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, CLSA
Premium New Zealand Limited and its customer referral
agents, for our validation of the accuracy and completeness
of transaction data contained in the Legacy Systems. Neither
were the physical copies of such data able to be located by
management.

In light of the denial of our access to the evidences relating to the
ITGC and ITAC of the Group’s Legacy Systems together with the
data contained in the databases and servers described above, our
audit placed significant reliance on obtaining confirmations directly
from third parties as an alternative audit procedure that aimed to
provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the relevant
assertions associated with the Group’s leveraged foreign exchange
and other trading transactions. External confirmations were sent to
customers, on a sample basis, in order to confirm clients’ balances
as at 31 December 2019 and the customer trading transactions and
the related trading income/losses and commission amounts for the
year then ended. External confirmations were also sent to referral
agents, on a sample basis, in order to confirm their balances as at
31 December 2019 and referral expenses for the year then ended.
However, we were unable to obtain a sufficient level of confirmation
replies we considered necessary, and there were no other
alternative procedures that we could perform to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence.
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As a result, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence that we considered necessary to substantiate the
occurrence and completeness of the customer trading transactions
and the accuracy of the contract prices, the interest rates and
the commission rates used to calculate the leveraged foreign
exchange and other trading income of HK$11,667,000 and the
fee and commission income of HK$3,299,000 for the year ended
31 December 2019, and the clients’ balances of HK$56,146,000,
derivative financial instruments asset of HK$11,416,000 and
the derivative financial instruments liability of HK$833,000 as
at 31 December 2019. We were also unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence that we considered necessary to
substantiate the occurrence, completeness and accuracy of the
referral expenses and other charges of HK$17,075,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee for
the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report.
We report solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. However, because of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is FU, Ho Kee.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 April 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ok 2 T WL i AR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 E#Z—F—hF+-_A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZT—N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt FET FAT
Leveraged foreign exchange and =R AW N S N N
other trading income 5 11,667 372,940
Cash dealing (expense)/income Bex5 (M%) WA 5 (1,360) 3,309
Fee and commission income A MBEIRA 5 3,299 56,446
Other income H o A 6 2,465 38,416
Total income WA 58 16,071 471,111
Referral expenses and other charges 8 77 f s & H fth # (17,075) (175,772)
Staff costs BTN 7 (27,434) (101,669)
Depreciation — property, plant and FE—m= - MEREHEX
equipment and amortisation of B EERE
intangible assets 12& 13 (15,442) (14,681)
Depreciation — right-of-use assets E—FTREEE 14 (11,701) -
Lease payments under land and T RIEFHHAE K
buildings (3,756) (14,228)
Administrative and other operating THREAMLERET
expenses 8 (107,735) (84,576)
Total expenses fZ 12 %a (183,143) (390,926)
Operating (loss)/profit e (BrR) s F (167,072) 80,185
Finance cost & KA (13,385) (28,428)
(Loss)/Profit before tax BrFiAT (B518) 5 A (180,457) 51,757
Income tax credit/(expenses) FrsfiEe, (M) 9 469 (17,508)
(Loss)/Profit for the year FE(BR), & F (179,988) 34,249
Other comprehensive (expense)/ Hiaz2m (X)) WH
income
Iltem that may be reclassified to AlBEEF D2 B o HH
profit or loss
Currency translation difference BEHhE K =58 (1,303) (15,105)
Other comprehensive expense for FEHEMEPERAS
the year, net of tax (BRI IE) (1,303) (15,105)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for FEE2E (BB WEerE
the year (181,291) 19,144
(Loss)/Earnings per share for FEXQATRBREFEA
(loss)/profit attributable to the e (B518) Az
equity holders of the Company for SR (&R &R
the year
— Basic (HK cents per share) — E AR (B 11 (8.85) 1.68
— Diluted (HK cents per share) —E5E (T AE L) 11 (8.85) 1.44

The notes on pages 85 to 191 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

o A S 5 SR D A

As at 31 December 2019 R=—ZE—hF+=-_HA=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hF  —F)N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
&1z FET FBTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment YIZE - B R 12 5,900 9,454
Intangible assets BELEE 13 2 43,835
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 14 21,894 -
Deferred tax assets IR AEFR I8 & = 20 1,712 1,719
Total non-current assets EREBEELE 29,508 55,008
Current assets REEE
Other receivables, prepayments H b pE Y FRIE
and deposits ENFIERES 15 8,711 9,692
Tax prepayment TR IE 4,680 4,625
Derivative financial instruments TTEEmMT A 16 11,416 67,400
Balances due from agents JE WA IR A A 17 26,202 21,751
Cash and bank balances and B MIBTTHEB UK
client trust bank balances B RITE% 18 423,727 980,766
Total current assets RBEELE 474,736 1,084,234
Total assets EEHE 504,244 1,139,242
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Equity =
Share capital N 24 20,333 20,333
Reserves s 25 336,909 347,541
2 Retained earnings {RER & F 33,739 203,832
Total equity FERABEE 390,981 571,706

The notes on pages 85 to 191 form part of these consolidated 585F 191 B MM ST R Z S 54 B HE
financial statements. — &5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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As at 31 December 2019 R=—ZE—hF+=-_HA=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hF  —F)N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
K et FET FET
Current liabilities REEE

Finance lease obligations & TH E A E 19 11,718 42
Tax payable JFE S B IE 2,069 2,633
Other payables and accrued liabilities HinpeNRIB R EETBE 21 27,063 31,643
Derivative financial instruments PTHEEmMT A 16 833 5,374
Clients’ balances B &% 22 56,146 331,731
Total current liabilities MEBEAE 97,829 371,423

Non-current liabilities FHREBEE
Finance lease obligations & B R 19 10,531 146
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIEE E 20 4,903 4,902
Convertible bonds A AR 1E 5 23 - 191,065
Total non-current liabilities kREBEEHEE 15,434 196,113
Total liabilities =RF k-l 113,263 567,536
Total equity and liabilities HEZNEE 504,244 1,139,242

The financial statements on pages 79 to 191 were approved by the
Board of Directors on 24 April 2020 and were signed on its behalf

Yuan Feng

RIg

The notes on pages 85 to 191 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

5 A W25 5 B 7

For the year ended 31 December 2019 E#Z—F—hF+-_A=+—HIFE

Share  Currency

Share Share Capital option translation  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings equity
BRE EBEX

Bx  BteE EXRE s RE RERN RE4E
Notes ~ HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

Wi TER TEn  TEx TER TEn  TEx TER

(Note 25)
(Hit2s)
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\E—R—H 20,333 180,493 171,892 18,713 (5,908) 160,664 546,187
Comprehensive income 2EYE
Profit for the year FERA - - - - - 34,249 34,249
Other comprehensive expense FEEMZERR
for the year - - - - (15,105) - (15,105)
20,333 180,493 171,892 18,713 (21,013) 194,913 565,331
Share option scheme BiREsE 27 - - - (2,544) - 8,919 6,375

Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+=R

and 1 January 2019 =t-8k
ZE-hE-f
-z 20333 180493 171,892 16,169  (21,013) 203832 571706
Comprehensive expense 2EMEX
Loss for the year FEBE - - - - - (179,988)  (179,988)
Other comprehensive expense EEEMZARY
for the year - - - - (1,303 - (1,303)
Share option scheme BEREsE 27 - - - (9,329) - 9,895 566
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZE-hE+ZA
=t+-Az&s 20,333 180,493 171,892 6,840  (22316) 33,739 390,981

The notes on pages 85 to 191 form part of these consolidated £85F 191 B MM ST R Z Z 54 B HE
financial statements. — &5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mAaBlaigk

For the year ended 31 December 2019 E#Z—F—hF+-_A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—ZE—-hE —ZE-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ok FHET FHT
Cash flows from operating activities K& EZBFEBHRERE
(Loss)/Profit before tax BrELRT (B518) @ F (180,457) 51,757
Adjustments for: FEE
Depreciation — property, plant and E—W - BEMEE
equipment and amortisation of REREERE
intangible assets 12,13 15,442 14,681
Depreciation — Right-of-use assets mE—CRAREE 14 11,701 -
Interest income F) B A 6 (5,108) (4,945)
Interest expense FEFX 13,385 28,428
Gain on disposal of fixed assets HEBTEEEMKZE 6 (11) -
Impairment of fixed asset & E & E 2R IE 12 400 -
Impairment of intangible asset B EEZRE 8& 13 37,506 2,937
Share option expenses BB AR R 2 7&27 566 6,375
Fair value gain on the embedded A AL E HHR A
derivative portion of convertible APTELTAREH Z
bonds N EWE 6&23 - (26,042)
Loss on redemption of the R mRESEE
convertible bonds 6&23 981 -
Amortisation of deferred losses AI AR (E H B R E D
on conversion component of RIE R
convertible bonds 6&23 828 1,982
Cash flows from operating activities EEESERAIKLE
before working capital changes BB ERE (104,767) 75,173
Decrease/(increase) in pledged time = E HiFE R
deposits wA (g ) 6,239 (4,344)
Decrease in client trust bank balances B FE{E:tiR1T488E 211,286 330,514
(Increase)/decrease in balances due  JEUIE 4564
from agents () A (4,451) 66,226
Decrease in derivative financial PTAESRT BE
instruments 51,443 46,895
Decrease in other receivables, H At & W FRIE
prepayments and deposits TR RIA kiR e
R 564 2,610
Decrease in clients’ balances BRI (275,585) (434,451)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables  E 4th & {18 & fE 5t
and accrued liabilities aEEm k) 1,255 (27,464)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations &4 (FT /) Fi5ER & (114,016) 55,159
Income tax credit/(paid) FriSEiE R (BERASE) 391 (6,860)
Net cash (used in)/generated from eES (FTA) s
operating activities IR 58 (113,625) 48,299

The notes on pages 85 to 191 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 E#Z—F—hF+-_A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—ZE—-hE —ZE-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt FHET FHT
Cash flows from investing activities RETBRBRESRE
Interest received (A& 5,525 4,427
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE  BEX
equipment and intangible assets HEREEEE 12& 13 (6,226) (27,888)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets HE BT & ESRIE 131 -
Net cash used in investing activities KEEZEMARSFRE (570) (23,461)
Cash flows from financing activities MEITHRBRERE
Repayment of finance lease EiEpE TR E A
obligations 26 (12,251) (54)
Interest paid [EENELRSS 26 (11,375) (7,468)
(Redemption)/Issuance of (FEM) 217
convertible bonds Al ARR E 23& 26 (200,000) 200,000
Net cash generated (used in)/from mEEE (FTA), 5
financing activities Re /FE (223,626) 192,478
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and HEeERESEEY
cash equivalents Om4) /g inE%E (337,821) 217,316
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRESEBEEEY
beginning of year 635,048 431,736
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, PE R EB) R BF5R
net (1,693) (14,004)
Cash and cash equivalents FREERBEESZEEY
at end of year 295,534 635,048

The notes on pages 85 to 191 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

CORPORATE INFORMATION

1.1 General information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 9 November 2010 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The Company’s immediate parent is CITIC
Securities Overseas Investment Company Limited (the
“CITIC Securities Overseas”), a company incorporated
in Hong Kong and its ultimate holding company is CITIC
Securities Company Limited (the “CITIC Securities”), a
company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China.
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The Company is an investment holding
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of leveraged foreign exchange and other
trading, cash dealing business, and other services.

As at 31 December 2019, 59.03% of the total issued
shares of the Company are held by CITIC Securities
Overseas, 14.75% of issued shares are held by KVB
Kunlun Holdings Limited and the remaining 26.22% of
issued shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated.

1

NEEH

1.1

—RER

AR ZE—EF+—ANARE
HERSRAAFERE (KiRe k&
R —NAN—FEE=50E0) RHEZ
HEAMKLABERRBRAR K
NAIZEERS AR RPEIAHFEINE
BBERRAR([FREFAEFEIN]) - —K
REBFMKIL 2 AT - HE& TR
NAIABPEIESFROBRAR ([H15
D) - —RAFE A RFLMB M
B3z AR) o AR BIR LM I E R i
it A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman lIslands KX &l &—
FIEEER AR - B AREER
ERMHERIIINER S RHEMIZS
REeERGHEBREMART -

R—ZFE—HAE+-_A=+—8" K
NAE) BTG 4R B 259.03%H
EiEHBINEE - 14.75%B B 178%
5 EBKVB Kunlun Holdings Limited#F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

1.2 Significant event

(i)

(ii)

On 25 January 2018, pursuant to subscriptions
agreements (“Agreements”) entered into by the
Company, the Company issued convertible bonds
with aggregate principal amount of HK$200,000,000
on 12 February 2018 (“Issue Date”). The convertible
bonds entitled the holders to convert them into
ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion
price of HK$0.613 (“Conversion Price”) per share
of the Company at any time from the day following
one year from the Issue Date up to the fifth business
day immediately before the second anniversary of
the Issue Date (“Maturity Date”) and bear interest at
7.5% per annum. On 7 May 2019, the bonds holders
exercised the option of early redemption pursuant
to the Agreements to request the Company to
redeem the full amount of the convertible bonds with
redemption date on 15 May 2019. See Note 23.

As a holder of the Australian Financial Services
License, the Group received a letter (the “Letter”)
from Australian Securities and Investments
Commission (“ASIC”) dated 18 April 2019 to its
licensees which reminded licensees that they were
obliged to comply with applicable laws of foreign
jurisdictions, and recommended that licensees
should seek legal advice to ensure that the products
and services they offer to their clients comply with
applicable foreign laws.

1

DARER (&)
1.2 EXEH

(i)

(i)

R-ZE—N\F—A-_+HA " R
BARRATEI N 2 RERZE ([ ZF
Wal)  ARFERZZZE—N\F
ZA+TZ=H(%/TEE]) BITA
< #8 %8 /5200,000,0007% JT 2 7]
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ABEFIR] A 87T B BB AT — F 12
BHBEEEREITHERE MW
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1 HA P B8 A H A AR (B B AR 0.613
B ((HBRED BiRAXRAQ A
ZEBAR  FRERTE% - R
T—hFRALR  BBFEEFEA
RIEZEHRITEIRFECRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

1.2 Significant event (continued)

(ii)

(continued)

Certain subsidiaries of the Group hold Australian
and New Zealand financial services licenses, and
as at the date of this report, the online forex margin
trading platform of the Group’s Australian and New
Zealand subsidiaries is targeted towards, among
others, ethnic Chinese, thus there exists a number of
clients with Chinese names (“Existing Ethnic Chinese
Clients”). In view of the Letter, the board of directors
(the “Board”) of the Company has sought legal
advice from its lawyer as to the laws of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”").

In line with the advice from the Company’s legal
advisers on the PRC laws, a detailed survey of the
Group’s Existing Ethnic Chinese Clients will be
conducted with a view to identifying anyone who
is, or who may possible be, classified as a PRC
domestic client. The Board believes the identification
and disengagement of PRC Domestic Clients has
been completed in 2019.

1

DNRER (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and
applicable requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial
assets and financial liabilities (including derivative
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss, which are
carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements
are disclosed in Note 4.

EESHBEME

ERREEANGRRTRANEER?
BEBFIINT o 5 BE B - ZEHER
—EERRFAE25EE -

21 EEEE

RAFREKBLRR (S AEE )
AR A MR R IRIBEMEERER
a2 ([FAYMHREZEN])
BB R RMED (F622F) ZiEM R
TEMREL o #7 B M TS MR THIRIE L AR
BB WREMBEAAEF ARS
NWERMEERSRAB(BETET
B) FrEsT - KRR BEHIER -

RET BBV HREENRENY
BHMERARAE THERSHE - &
BEERAAREN S BREARE
i H HIET o 0P N = 2 HI T S R AY
#]E  HREMMEAYHBEHREMS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a)

(b)

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following standards
and amendments for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2019:

. HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group had to change its accounting policies as
a result of adopting HKFRS 16. The Group elected to
adopt the new rules retrospectively but recognised
the cumulative effect of initially applying the new
standard on 1 January 2019. This is disclosed in
note 2.2.1.

e  Other amendments did not have any material
impact on the amounts recognised in prior
periods and are not expected to significantly
affect the current or future periods.

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted

Certain new accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that are not
mandatory for 31 December 2019 reporting periods
and have not been early adopted by the Group.
These standards are not expected to have a material
impact on the entity in the current or future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

2

EEESTHREME(Z)
21 wEEEEE)
(a) FEBEERABIFTETRAEIESTER

(v)
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R E 1655
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ZESHBEME(Z)
POLICIES (continued)

22 2FTHEEE

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

0019
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This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16
Leases on the Group's financial statements.

As indicated in note 2.1 above, the Group has adopted
HKFRS 16 retrospectively from 1 January 2019, but
has not restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting
period, as permitted under the specific transitional
provisions in the standard. The reclassifications and
the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules
are therefore recognised in the opening Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position on 1 January 2019. The
new accounting policies are disclosed in note 2.2.1.

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease
liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles
of HKAS 17 Leases. These liabilities were measured
at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate
as of 1 January 2019. The weighted average Group’s
incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities
on 1 January 2019 was 2.5%.

For leases previously classified as finance leases, the
Group recognised the carrying amount of the lease asset
and lease liability immediately before transition as the
carrying amount of the right of use asset and the lease
liability at the date of initial application. The measurement
principles of HKFRS 16 are only applied after that date.
No measurement adjustments is resulted upon the
adoption of HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ZESHBEME(Z)
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 22 ETHEREE (&)
(i)  Practical expedients applied () FTERA.Z Bl iTHEE L

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group RYIRERE B SHREERSE

has used the following practical expedients 165R 0 - ANEE DA AT %R

permitted by the standard: FT R fFERIATHREE J7 0K ¢

e applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of o HHBAEMUBEBMEE
leases with reasonably similar characteristics; HEEAE—RRIRE

e relying on previous assessments on whether o (KRBAERBANEERSEE
leases are onerous as an alternative to B E S - (EREITIRERR
performing an impairment review — there were HEBERFE-R-ZZE—NF
no onerous contracts as at 1 January 2019; —A—HIEEBEEEL

e accounting for operating leases with a e RIZE—AF—H—-HFE
remaining lease term of less than 12 months as HEHD12ME A &2
at 1 January 2019 as short-term leases. EgrtRERRCHAMEE

The Group has also elected not to reassess AEETTEERTEFTERE

whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the RIEABHEHNER AHEKE

date of initial application. Instead, for contracts SHE - Bk BRBEBEZ

entered into before the transition date the Group BIEI M A KM S » ANEBKE

relied on its assessment made applying HKAS HEEABRBEEERE175R L2

17 and Interpretation 4 Determining whether an EBFARETLHEEEREHE

Arrangement contains a Lease. YEH BT A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEZ2HHEHE &)

POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(ii)  Measurement of lease liabilities

22 SFBEEH (#F)
(i) HMEREME

1 January
2019
—T-NF
—A—H
HK$'000
FA&T
Operating lease commitments disclosed R-ZE-N\FE+_A=+T—HEE
as at 31 December 2018 2R ETHE AR 37,355
Discounted using the Group’s incremental  FRAANEEREHARMABZIZE
borrowing rate at the date of initial adoption 1%% FZEALIR 35,688
Add: finance lease obligations recognised as il : R -_ZE—N\F+-_A=+—H
at 31 December 2018 R BEHEAE 188
(Less): short-term leases not recognised OR) : RERBBBECCHEE
as a liability (1,134)
(Less): low-value lease not recognised CRf) : RERRBGBECEKEEHESE
as a liability (1,098)
Lease liabilities recognised as at R-ZB-NF-—HA—HBHBRIAZHEE
1 January 2019 aE 33,644
Of which are: B eiE
Current lease liabilities e fﬁﬁ 11,334
Non-current lease liabilities ErREEEAE 22,310
33,644




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement of right-of-use assets

The associated right-of-use assets for property
leases were measured on a retrospective basis as if
the new rules had always been applied. Other right-
of-use assets were measured at the amount equal
to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that
lease recognised in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position as at 31 December 2018.

Adjustments recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position on 1 January 2019

The change in accounting policy affected the
following items in the Consolidated Statement of

Financial Position on 1 January 2019:

. right-of-use assets — increase by HK$33,456,000

. lease liabilities — increase by HK$33,456,000.

There is no impact on Retained Earnings on 1
January 2019.

2

EESTHHEBE(E)

2.2 2FTHEEE (F)

(ii7)

(iv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ZESHBEME(Z)
POLICIES (continued)

22 ETtHEEE (&)
2.2.1Lease 221#E

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
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As explained in note 2.2 above, the Group has
changed its accounting policy for leases where the
Group is the lessee. The new policy is described
below and the impact of the change in note 2.2.

Until 31 December 2018, leases of property, plant
and equipment where the Group, as lessee, had
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
were classified as finance leases obligations (note
19). Finance leases were capitalised at the lease’s
inception at the fair value of the leased property
or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease
payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net
of finance charges, were included in other short-
term and long-term payables. Each lease payment
was allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost was charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period. The property, plant
and equipment acquired under finance leases was
depreciated over the asset’s useful life or over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if
there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will
obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership were not transferred to the
Group as lessee were classified as operating leases
(note 32). Payments made under operating leases
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) were
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the
date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ZESHBEME(Z)

POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

2.2 2FTHEEE (F)

2.2.1Lease (continued) 2217 E (&)

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to the lease and non-lease
components based on their relative stand-alone
prices. However, for leases of real estate for which
the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate
lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date.

AN HERIERED
5 - NEBIRBHEE RIFFAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ZESHBEME(Z)
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 2FTHEEE (F)
221 E (&)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

2.2.1Lease (continued)
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The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, which is generally the case
for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee as
a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party financing
was received;

e uses a build-up approach that starts with a
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for
leases held by CLSA Premium Limited, which
does not have recent third party financing; and

e makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg
term, country, currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate,
which are not included in the lease liability until they
take effect. When adjustments to lease payments
based on an index or rate take effect, the lease
liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-
of-use asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ZESHBEME(Z)

POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

2.2 2FTHEEE (F)

2.2.1Lease (continued) 2217 E (&)

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs; and

O restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-
value assets comprise IT equipment and small items
of office furniture.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ZESHBEME(Z)

POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Subsidiaries 2.3 HEAQTR

2.3.1Consolidation 231%58KE
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Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method of
accounting to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
this is less than the fair value of the net assets of
the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the
statement of comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (continued)
2.3.1Consolidation (continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between Group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.3.2Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is the
person or Group that allocates resources to and assesses
the performance of the operating segments of an entity.
The Group has determined the executive directors and
senior management as its chief operating decision maker.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date of that
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position;
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

EESTHHEBE(E)

2.5 SMEERB(E)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group companies (continued)

(i) income and expenses for each consolidated
statements of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment if
any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or
loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Leasehold improvements 10 years or over the lease

term, whichever is shorter

Computer equipment 31to 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and 3to 5 years
equipment

Motor vehicles 31to 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position date. Assets that are
subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to
its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amounts. These are
included in ‘other income’ in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

Intangible assets

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are amortised over the useful economic lifes (3 to
5 years) and assessed for impairment whenever there is
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at each Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
date.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually. Such intangible assets are
not amortised. The useful lives of intangible assets
with indefinite lives are reviewed annually to determine
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable.
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.

If not, the change in the useful life
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have indefinite useful lifes are not subject
to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are Grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
Groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date.

Financial assets
2.9.1Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through profit or loss or through other
comprehensive income); and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ZESHBEME(Z)
POLICIES (continued)

29 SWMEE (&)
292FARBUHER

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

2.9.2Recognition and derecognition
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Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date — the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the assets.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

2.9.3Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in
profit or loss. Gains and losses arising from changes
in the fair value of the “financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss” category are included directly
in consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and are reported as “leveraged foreign exchange
and other trading income” in the period in which they
arise.

Certain financial assets are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less
impairment if any. The Group’s receivables and
“cash and cash equivalents” fall under this category.
Amounts receivables are measured subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method. Interest on loans is included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and is reported as net interest income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

EESTHHEBE(E)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

29 SWMEE (&)

2.9.4Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its financial
assets carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must
be enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
Company or the counterparty.

2.11 Derivative financial instruments

The Group classifies derivatives as financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss at
inception. The Group does not classify any derivatives as
hedges in a hedging relationship.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
re-measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair values are recognised in the
“leveraged foreign exchange and other trading income”
in the period in which they arise.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ZESHBEME(Z)
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents 212RERBESEEY
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Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks, bank deposits with
original maturities of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and
cash equivalents available for the disposition of the
Group and exclude client trust bank balances, and bank
deposits held to secure the banking facilities granted to
the Group.

2.13 Rental, utility and other deposits

Rental, utility and other deposits held on a long term basis
are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less impairment if any.

2.14 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities representing other payables are
recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs
incurred. Financial liabilities are subsequently stated at
amortised cost; any difference between proceeds net of
transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised
in the profit or loss over the period of the other financial
liabilities using the effective interest method. Financial
liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished
— that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or
expires.

2.15 Compound financial instruments

Compound financial instruments issued by the Company
comprise convertible bonds that can be converted to
share capital at the option of the holder, and the number
of shares to be issued does not vary with changes in their
fair value.

The derivative component of the convertible bonds is
recognised initially at fair value. The liability component is
recognised initially at the difference between the fair value
of the convertible bonds as a whole and the fair value of
the derivative component.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

EESTHHEBE(E)

2.15 Compound financial instruments (continued) 215 4R T A (&)

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component
of compound financial instruments is measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
derivative is subsequently measured at fair value through
profit or loss and any gains or losses derived from its
changes are recognised in the consolidated profit or loss.

2.16 Provision

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
When the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

2.17 Employee benefits

(a) Retirement benefits scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Employee benefits (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Retirement benefits scheme (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary,
which operates in New Zealand, are eligible to
participate in KiwiSaver plan on a voluntary basis.
This subsidiary is required to contribute certain
percentage of its payroll costs to the fund only if
employees are making contribution to KiwiSaver
plan. The contributions are charged to the profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the fund.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary, which
operates in Australia, are required to participate
in employee superannuation fund. This subsidiary
is required to contribute certain percentage of its
payroll costs to the fund. The contributions are
charged to the profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the fund.

The assets of the Scheme and other plans as
described above are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the Scheme
and other plans.

Employee level entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they are accrued to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave as a result of services rendered by employees
up to the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position date.

Bonus

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, in which the bonus scheme is at the
discretion of the Group’s directors based on the
Group performance that takes into consideration
the profit attributable to the Group after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EZE:HHEMEE)
POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Share-based payment transactions 218U RB AR SB

(a) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (a) BaiZEROGTNXE

The Group operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payment transactions, whereby
employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined with reference to the fair value
estimated by external valuer under a valuation model
commonly used in the market.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account
is taken of any performance conditions, other than
conditions linked to the price of the shares of the
Company (“market conditions”), if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the year in which the service conditions are
fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant
employees become fully entitled to the award (the
“vesting date”). The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at each Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position date until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting year
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to the profit or loss for a year
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that year.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of
any directly transaction costs are credited to share
capital.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Share-based payment transactions (continued)

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification,
which increases the total fair value of the share-
based payment arrangement, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and
is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

Share-based payment transaction among Group
entities

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting periods an
increase to investment in subsidiaries undertakings,
with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent
entity accounts.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ESE2iHFEHEL)
POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Share capital 219 K

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Dividend on ordinary shares is recognised as a liability
in the consolidated financial statements in the period
in which it is approved by the shareholders or directors
where appropriate.

2.20 Income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit of loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position date in the countries where the Group’s
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates position taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ZESHBEME(Z)
POLICIES (continued)

220FF 8% (&)
(b) EEFF{EH

2.20 Income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax
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Deferred income tax is recognised in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
difference can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Goods and Services Tax (“GST”)

The financial statements have been prepared so that
expenses/costs are stated inclusive of GST, where
appropriate. The Group is not a registered person in term
of the Goods and Services Tax Act 1985 in New Zealand.

2.22 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

(i) Leveraged foreign exchange and other trading
income, when the services have been rendered,;

(i) fees and commission income, when the services
have been rendered;

(i) management fees income, when the services have
been rendered; and

(iv) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.

2.23 Cash dealing income

Unleveraged cash dealing services are provided to
corporate clients, in particular, those clients engaged in
money changing business for the purpose of hedging
their cash positions and meeting settlement obligations.
The Group is rewarded by the spread between the price
quoted to our clients and the price offered by our market
makers. Cash dealing income is recognised when cash
dealing transactions have been completed by market
makers with reference to prevailing exchange rate.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk is inherent in the financial service business and sound
risk management is a cornerstone of prudent and successful
financial practice. The Group acknowledges that a balance
must be achieved between risks, control and business growth.
The principal financial risks inherent in the Group’s business
are credit risk, market risk (including interest rate risk and
foreign currency risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management objective is to enhance shareholder value while
retaining exposure within acceptable thresholds in response to
changes in markets. The Group has a robust risk management
system in place to identify, analyse, assess and manage risks.

The Group’s risk management is carried out by the Group
Risk Department under policies approved by the Group audit,
risk and compliance committee. The Group Risk Department
provides written principles for overall risk management, as well
as written policies covering specific areas, such as mitigating
credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, capital management risk
and risk limits setting and monitoring.

The policies for managing each of these risks are summarised
below:

3.1 Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to the Group. The Group is exposed to credit risk from
bank balances, balances due from agents, derivative
financial instruments and other receivables and deposits.
After evaluating the clients’ risk profiles, the Group sets
stop-out levels to the clients. Once their equity drops
to the stop-out level the Group’s trading system will
automatically liquidate the client’s positions. Without
taking into account any collateral held or other credit
enhancements, the maximum exposure to credit risk
is the carrying amounts of these assets. The Group
monitors the credit risk exposure of the balances on a
regular basis, taking into account the financial position
and past experience. The Group did not experience any
losses from non-performance by the counterparties. The
balances due from agents have no defaults in the past.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s bank deposits are held with banks and
balances due from agents are held with major financial
institutions and Tianjin Precious Metals Exchange
Limited (“TPME”). Management reviews the banks and
financial institutions’ creditworthiness on a regular basis.
The banks and financial institutions are of high credit
quality and substantially with a rating of grade A or
with long established relationships. The Group is also
subject to credit risk relating to balance due from TMPE,
a recognised investment exchange under the Tianjin
Municipal People’'s Government and a related party
of the Group. The credit risk relating to the balance is
treated as any other receivables in the normal course of
business. The Group assessed its credit risk exposure as
insignificant as at 31 December 2019.

(a) Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three types of financial assets
that are subject to HKFRS 9 expected credit loss
assessment:

o Cash and bank balances and client trust bank
balances;

e Balances due from agents; and

e  Other receivables and deposits.

The Group measures loss allowances for these
financial assets at an amount equal to 12-month
expected credit losses, which is an estimate of
losses that the Group expects will result from a credit
event, such as a payment default.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEEREE(ZE)
31 EE[AK (&)
(a) =EEERMEZ)

3.1 Credit risk (continued)

(a) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
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To measure the expected credit losses, the Group
determines the expected loss rates based on the
credit default rates of the debtors of these financial
assets with reference to the corresponding credit
ratings from internationally renowned credit rating
agencies. These rates are further adjusted to reflect
the possible changes in the current and forwarding
looking macroeconomic factors which may result
in different default behavior and credit risks of the
debtors. At each reporting date, the credit default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

As at 31 December 2019, the 12-month ECL
calculated by the Group is not material and there has
been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

The movement in the provision for expected credit
loss account in respect of cash and bank balances
and client trust bank balances, balances due from
agents and other receivables and deposits during
the year is as follows:
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMERBEE(Z)
3.1 Credit risk (continued) 31 FERK(EZ)
(a) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (a) 2EEZEEHE &)
Cash and
bank balances
and client Balances Other
trust bank due from receivables
balances agents  and deposits Total
BERBT
Consolidated Statement of ERUREF EyRE HtEWRE
Financial Position (extract) BARBRIE (HR) ERBTES &8 kEé @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TET TAT TR

Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZ-\F—R—-B##H 426 574 40 1,040
Impairment losses recognised ERNERAFERE

during the year - - - _
Balance at 1 January 2019 RZIZ-NE-A-R&H 426 574 40 1,040
Impairment losses recognised ERNERAFERE

during the year - - - _
Balance at 31 December 2019 RIE-NFt-A=t—RE&R 426 574 40 1,040
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Credit risk (continued)

3

BB ERER (&)
31 FERRGE)

(b) Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral (b) BEHRFBEEMSERZHFTH
held or other credit enhancements BEEEREE
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in ¥ 7 REERER B ISR R
the event the counterparties fail to perform their BHETHEHET  AASEEAE
obligations as at the Consolidated Statement RHEEEeREERBNRSE
of Financial Position date, in relation to each BEREALRE T BEAARREKART
class of financial assets, is the amounts of those TZEBEENTEREEEBERE
assets before provision for expected credit loss BIRESHE - XS ANEER
as indicated in the Consolidated Statement of —E-NFERZE—N\F+A
Financial Position. These amounts represent the —+—BHFERMNEERBNR
worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the =B - BRFH RAEMAFET
Group at 31 December 2019 and 2018, without mEK T M= ERRAIE N -
taking into account any collateral held or other credit
enhancements attached.
The amounts of receivables and other assets arising PR E G BIZREEMER
from the course of business of the Group are as DENEMEESENT
follows:
2019 2018
—ZE-NF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Other receivables and deposits Hfih e I R iR & 5,253 6,901
Derivative financial instruments TTEemI A 11,416 67,400
Balances due from agents JE W AR IR 4 4 26,776 22,325
Cash and bank balances and e RIBITER AR
client trust bank balances BE{ELIRITES 424,153 981,192
Total gross amounts WEEET 467,598 1,077,818
(c) None of the financial assets is either past due or (c) BETEEEBHASME -

impaired.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMKEKRERE)
3.1 Credit risk (continued) 31 FERK(EZ)

(d) The following table breaks down the Group’s major (d) TRUSHEMASAEENEESE
credit exposure at their amounts, as categorised ERk - WigEaE—_ZE—haER
by geographical region as of 31 December 2019 —E-N\F+-_A=+—HHiH
and 2018. The Group has allocated exposures IBEIEOHE - REBREEYF
to regions based on the country of domicile of its FTHATERZR o R 2SS
counterparties. Credit risk exposure by geographical & o RIS EEREEEE
sectors is classified according to the location of NEEER S BIREF SRR EM T
counterparties after taking into account the transfer LA %8 o
of risk.

As at 31 December 2019 R-ZFE-NE+=A=+—H
Asia Pacific
excluding  Europe and
Hong Kong  Hong Kong other regions Total
DAHE BN R
& (TREDH) Hitt & @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER THER TER
Other receivables and deposits KA RE S 4,308 945 - 5,253
Derivative financial instruments fTESRBTA 2 11,414 - 11,416
Balances due from agents IR IR £ 54 - 26,776 - 26,776
Cash and bank balances and ReRBITEBUR
client trust bank balances RPERRITHER 157,169 201,447 65,537 424,153
Total B 161,479 240,582 65,537 467,598
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#o o B 25 2R B
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HXEARER (&)
3.1 Credit risk (continued) 31 FERK(EZ)
(d) (continued) () (&)
As at 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F+=ZA=+—H
Asia Pacific

excluding Europe and

Hong Kong Hong Kong  other regions Total
TAME B &

B8 (TREEHE) HinipR @Et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER THET TEL THET

Other receivables and deposits Hih W FIERES 4,660 2,241 - 6,901

Derivative financial instruments fTESRIA 16 67,384 - 67,400

Balances due from agents RN B H 2k - 22,325 - 22,325
Cash and bank balances and RBe RBITHEBIAR

client trust bank balances EPERRITER 418,442 468,984 93,766 981,192

Total 4at 423,118 560,934 93,766 1,077,818
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMERBEE(Z)
3.2 Market risk 32 mEAEE
3.2.1Interest rate risk 321 FFE B
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as the AR AEEEFERBESIRE
Group invests all surplus funds in accounts with WEERTEHFHMNERPIZE
reputable counterparties and is susceptible to MERFERBHOTE - WAE
movements in call interest rates. Interest rate risk = A R @ - AR AR B
arises from unexpected changes in interest rates FIRMBINEE) - s EHE AR
that may result in an adverse impact on the Group’s S BRI IR MR B RIAEETF
current and near future performance. The Group has & o AN BN ARF B EIF X
not used any interest rate swaps nor forward interest 12 BRSfGR HAR SR & 40 ¥ H R K
rate contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate [EL B o
risk.
As at 31 December 2019 R-B-AE+=-A=+—8
Floating Fixed Non- Provision
interest interest interest  for expected
rate rate bearing credit loss Total
BHEE
A kS B E = %8 BRER @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TiEn TER TiER

Assets EE
Other receivables and deposits  E At BB ik & - - 5,253 (40) 5,213
Derivative financial instruments #7144 &I - - 11,416 - 11,416
Balances due from agents L GeEET 5,793 - 20,983 (574) 26,202
Cashand bank balances and B & RERITEHIUK

client trust bank balances RPERRTAR 224,764 195,354 4,035 (426) 423,727
Liabilities &
Finance lease obligations MEMERE - 22,249 - - 22,249
Other payables HipEA50a - - 26,381 - 26,381
Derivative financial instruments  $T4 & @ T & - - 833 - 833
Clients' balances RP#&s - - 56,146 - 56,146
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMBERMER(Z)
3.2 Market risk (continued) 3.2 miFAR (&)
3.2.1Interest rate risk (continued) 3217 FEE (&)
As at 31 December 2018 N-_E—N\&FE+=-_HA=+—H
Floating Fixed Non-  Provision for
interest interest interest expected
rate rate bearing credit loss Total
EHEE
FEN R Bk %5 EERE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TBL THEL THRL TBTL

Assets &E
Other receivables and Hih e sIE iz e

deposits - - 6,901 (40) 6,861
Derivative financial TEeMIA

instruments - - 67,400 - 67,400
Balances due from agents  FEURH I8 4 44 2,300 - 20,025 (574) 21,751
Cash and bank balances & RIRITAEHIA K

and client trust bank BPEFRTES

balances 810,573 169,045 1,574 (426) 980,766
Liabilities &8ff
Finance lease obligations ~ Y& & &JE - 188 - = 188
Other payables HAi 108 = 5,835 14,350 = 20,185
Derivative financial fTHEERMIA

instruments - - 5,374 - 5,374
Clients' balances R - = 331,731 = 331,731
Convertible bonds AR ES - 191,065 - - 191,065
Based on the simulations performed and with other RIEEGRIEMEM A S REER

% variables held constant, should the interest rate HAEE  (SANRES T

increase/decrease by 1%, the loss after taxation 1% Bl 2 —ZT— hF+ A
for the year ended 31 December 2019 would =t+—HBUIEFENKRTREZEIER
increase/decrease by approximately HK$2,306,000 0, A 492,306,000 7T (=
(2018: Profit after taxation HK$8,129,000) and the = — \F : BBi&EFI8,129,000
equity would increase/decrease by approximately BIL) REREAGIE I ORADL
HK$2,306,000 (2018: HK$8,129,000). 2,306,000 7T (=& — J\ 4 :

8,129,000/ 7T,) °
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HXEARER (&)
3.2 Market risk (continued) 3.2 Wi EM (&)
3.2.2Foreign currency risk 322 M E A B

Exchange rate fluctuation is the most significant risk
in leveraged foreign exchange trading. The Group
takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in
the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on
its financial position and cash flows. The Group
is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect
to New Zealand dollars and Australian dollars.
The Group will suffer a loss if it fails to cover a
client deal at a better exchange rate. The Group
monitors foreign exchange exposure by reviewing
the open position of the Group and client trading
performance. The risk is measured by the use
of sensitivity analysis and cash flow forecasting.
Specific risk limits are set to measure and monitor
foreign exchange risk. Any excessive foreign
exchange risks are passed on to other financial
institutions through execution of trades with those
institutions. The management sets limits on the
level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for
both overnight and intra-day positions, which are
monitored on an intra-day basis.

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign
currency translation risk. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency policy to hedge its
currency exposure arising from the net assets of the
Group’s foreign operations.

The Group trades in foreign currencies, commodities
and other products through its margin trading
business. In order to protect against their exposures
to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and
commodity prices, the Group has entered into a
number of foreign exchange forward transactions
and contracts for difference with the Group’s
bankers in the normal course of business.

M R F EHER N IMER &
BANEE - REBEI SR
NIRE & H S B R B E)HY
FEMAERR - AEBAZIA
AEPE R T BRI B E Y B A SME
JELRR o fid AN 55 B R BE$22 BB {E 0 &
EITEPRS @ AIBRZEX -
REBFEBREEANEBHRTR
BHINEPR R EEINER
B o R\ @B A AR BRI DT
MRS RERAET EEITE
B - BERRRSIISAERE
25N L 1 AR (AR R SME
R\ RIJ3 48 B B Ath < RO AR HE T T
RWHEZEWE - BEEYH
[N EIE R 2 B M AR P A&
ERRRKFRERRE  RNEH
R AT A BRER o

AEEFHHEETBINEBRE
HEEFEREING L mER
AL B AT I B ESNE R
AR RSB BIN KIS EEF
BEEEMNINERR

[

AEEEBHRBSRXFERE
TINE MR EMERRS -
RREREBETRERLEME
BRB 2 BB E  NEERIE
BEGAREP RBEERIRITRIL
ZIRINEERR G N EZEBEH °
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMKEKRERE)
3.2 Market risk (continued) 3.2 miFAR (&)
3.2.2Foreign currency risk (continued) 3225MER B ()
The tables below summarise the Group’s exposure TERBARERNR T —NFX
to foreign currency exchange rate risk as at 31 —F-N\F+-_A=+—HHER
December 2019 and 2018. Included in the tables are BIINE E B o TRAANBETE
the assets and liabilities at carrying amounts in HK$ HRREMEYRITIZRRE®E S ELN
equivalent, categorised by the original currency. EEMBE-
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZB-NAF+=-A=+—8H
Provision
for
expected
credit
HK$ NZD AUD Usb JPY RMB  Others loss Total
REEE

Bn AEER A Q) HE AR it EE&R Eh
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000
Téx THr TEx Tz TR TEx TEr TEx  Tén

Assets EE
Other receivables and deposits ~ E 4 EWEUE kiz e 3,906 35 - 574 - 738 - (40) 523
Derivative financial instruments 74 2RI A - TA1 4058 (182) 7 - - - 11416
Balances due from agents EURELER 21 M3 1445 19908 2678 581 530 (674 26,202
Cashand bank balancesand B & REF{TERI K

client trust bank balances REEHSOER 2343 13,182 14596 359647 1,869 10,60 1456 (426) 423,727
Liabilities a2
Finance lease obligations HARERE 18,586 - 3668 - - - - - 249
Other payables HAERFUE 10649 1,980 B 12,046 - 4% - - 26,381
Derivative financial instruments {74 2RI A - 832 1 - - - - - 833
Clients’ balances Bp i - 15252 14398 25584 912 - - - 56,146
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BBEMERE)

3.2 Market risk (continued)

3.2.2Foreign currency risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2018

3.2 miBEE (&)
3225MER B (4E)

R-_F—N\F+=-_A=+—8H

Provision
for
expected
credit
HK$ NZD AUD Usb JPY RMB  Others loss Total
RHRE
Bn AERT  Rn E% RE  AR%  Et BEEE &3
HK$000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TEn TExr TEx TEr TEr TEx TExr  TErn  TEx
Assets EE
Other receivables and deposits EfENHERES 3971 436 - 939 - 15% - (40) 6861
Derivative financial instruments  $T4£ &8 T & - 7374 8841 51185 - - - - 67400
Balances due fromagents ~ JEWRR A 212 646 201 18959 1208 591 510 (574) 21751
Cash and bank balances and & REFTEHI R
client trust bank balances RPEFHTES 30781 24398 34680 87585 4288 9720 1,500 (426) 980,766
Liabilities &R
Finance lease obligations HERSAE = = 188 = = = = = 188
Other payables EHEZE 10,748 728 31 7864 1 513 = - 20,185
Derivative financial instruments  $74 48T & - 1100 121 4147 = = - 5374
Clients’ balances EP&sh - 8312 27549 218927 1943 - - - 331731
Convertible bonds MRRES 191,065 - - - - - - - 191,065
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BBEMERE)
3.2 Market risk (continued) 3.2 miFAR (&)
3.2.2Foreign currency risk (continued) 3225MER B ()
The following table indicates the impact of TRIFEEENSIETERAYE —
management’s reasonable expectation on the Z-NERZZE-NFE+A
movement in foreign exchange rate on the Group’s =+ —BAREERRTE R T R
profit after taxation and on equity as at 31 December T By SN PE RO B OS2 &

2019 and 2018:

Movement Movement
in foreign in foreign
currency 2019 currency 2018
Foreign currency risk SNE RS HNERE =FB-hEF SNEKE) T N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FET
AUD BIT +/-4% +/-51 +-7% +/-1,087
JPY H +/-3% +/-111 +/-4% +/-142
NZD AEHETT +/-5% +/-198 +-7% +/-540
RMB AR¥ +/-3% +/-343 +/-5% +/-568
3.3 Liquidity risk 3.3 REMERE

The Group’s operations are subject to various statutory AEBNEFRZBBEKERENSE
liquidity requirements as prescribed by the relevant EERBE S BEKARE - AEBEDE
authorities. The Group has put in place a monitoring NEVE R MRER TR EE
system to ensure that it maintains adequate liquid capital T AERNEBNESEKERTEES &
to fund its business commitments and to comply with the ESPIAFRE SR o ANEE[HFE B TE HAES 1

regulatory requirements. The liquidity risk of the Group is BRINTEERREIE S EREIEHE R
managed by regularly monitoring current and expected R - BRASREEFEHNIRS
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient FEEREASEES AmEEREER
reserves of cash and current working capital to meet its EHRHECERK - NREBEG B

liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. The MBS MEHSHEFEREERARE -

0019

Group holds sufficient cash and deposits on demand to
repay its liabilities.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HKRMERE(E)
3.3 Liquidity risk (continued) 3.3 REMER (&)
3.3.1Undiscounted cash flows by contractual B31EEHNEHHAE D KA E
maturities B nE
The table below presents the cash flows payable TREVIEEER =T —NFR
by the Group under financial liabilities by remaining —E-N\Ft+_A=1+—HB%
contractual maturities as at 31 December 2019 and TEHIHEReMmEaEETH
2018. The amounts disclosed in the table are the ENRERE - 2 RFIPENE
contractual undiscounted cash flows. HAABHRBIRBERE -
As at 31 December 2019 R-FB—-NFE+=-A=+—H
Total  Carrying
Upto 13 3-12 1-5 Over contractual amount
1 month months months years 5years cashflows liabilities
-Z z% AHRER 8k

-BAR  =@A t-@R -E3f  BEf a8  KEE
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
térn  TEx  fEx  TEx  TEx  TER  TEn

Liabilities gf

Finance lease obligations BEMERE 1,011 2,02 9,105 10,673 - 2811 20,249

Other payables A ERTE 17,133 6,330 2918 - - 26,381 21,0683

Clients' balances RP&H 56,146 - - - - 56,146 56,146
74,290 8,352 12,023 10,673 - 105,338 105,458

Derivative financial instruments fEeBIE 833 - - - - 833 833

75,123 8,352 12,028 10,678

106,171 106,291

- JUARAE R
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMERBEE(Z)
3.3 Liquidity risk (continued) 3.3 REMER (&)
3.3.1Undiscounted cash flows by contractual B31EEHNEHHAE D KA E
maturities (continued) BERE ()
As at 31 December 2018 N-_ZE—N\FE+_HA=+—H
Total  Camying
Upto 13 312 15 Over  contractual amount
1 month months months years 5years  cash flows liabilties
-z z® afReR 8E

-BAm @R tZ@EA -Eif  BEF B8 kBB
HKS0OO  HK$000 ~ HKSOOO  HKS000  HKSOOO  HK$000  HKSO00O
tEr  TAr  TEr  TAr  TEr  TEr  TEn

Liabilities gf

Finance lease obligations BEREAE 4 9 38 15 - 206 188

Other payables EfEMZE 14,182 5,842 161 - - 20,185 31,643

Clients' balances XPER 331,731 - - - - 33173 331,731

Debt portion of the convertiole bonds AT E% 2 EX DA - 7561 7439 207561 - 22561 191065
35917 13,412 7638 207,716 - 5TAR83 54627

Derivative financial instruments ITE2RIE 5,374 = S = = 5,374 5,374
351,291 13412 7638 207716 - 580057 560,001
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HXEARER (&)
34 tREERABHNAAME

SA41BARBETENLHT A

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

3.4.1Financial instruments measured at fair value

The following table represents the carrying value of
financial instruments measured at fair value at the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date
across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy
defined in HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments:
Disclosures, with the fair value of each financial
instrument categorised in its entirety based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to that
fair value measurement. The levels are defined as
follows:

Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets.

Level 2: fair values measured using quoted price in
active markets for similar financial instruments, or
using valuation techniques in which all significant
inputs are directly or indirectly based on observable
market data.

Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using
valuation techniques in which any significant input is

not based on observable market data.

As at 31 December 2019

TREJNEFEMBRRE B
BREBMBHREENETR (2
MTE: BEIFRENRAE
FRHEN=EFRFARAE
FFENERTANKRRNE &
TR TANAARBEREBEESFRE
BEMEZAAEFERREEN
HRIEITERE - BRFAERN
T

FIR(&ZSER) - NBEER
MiGHHRE CREHAB)FFER
1B

F2  AREFESLRERED
SEUESR T ANRE  KKA
HERMEE  E2HEENZ
BEZRSRERIRNAEBET
BEUE

FIR(HREFER - 2AEMRES
BERINTE - FAEEN2H
B RIRR Al B R 5 8UR -

R-E—hF+=A=+—8H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

F18R FE2M H3R Bt

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THER FExT THET T o
Assets BE I,
Derivative financial instruments ~ $7T4& @ T A - 11,416 - 11,416 ]
E
Liabilities = =
Derivative financial instruments ~ $74£& @ T & - 833 - 833 2
=
=
=
—
®)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMBERMER(Z)

34 TREERBENQIAREE)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

0019
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3.4.1Financial instruments measured at fair value

(continued)

As at 31 December 2018

B41ERAREHENEHBTE (E)

R_F-NF+=-_A=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
1R £2M £33 st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEL FTAEL FAEL
Assets BE
Derivative financial instruments ~ $T4 4@ T A - 67,400 - 67,400
Liabilities 8
Derivative financial instruments ~ $T£ & @ T & - 5,374 - 5,374
Embedded derivative portion of ~ AJ % &% 2 B A,
the convertible bonds TTHETIAHR - - 13,500 13,500

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts
is determined using forward exchange rates at the
end of the reporting period, with the resulting value
discounted back to present value.

WIHRNERMSEEZSRT
B -HERrEXRBGERNE
E ° e FEERMIE D £ M Al
SRR EBRMBEIE - WEA 8L
TMRFERRFEME © WA
EFfFE—RTAMFHNEIEER
YA RERER - AIZATA
EWINAF24

EHIMNES B AN ERBRED
REVRHAERETE - FTEENE
ERARRTEERE -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMKEKRERE)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 34 sRMBEERBBENAIAE(E)
3.4.1Financial instruments measured at fair value B41BEARENENEBIA (&)
(continued)
The following table summarises the quantitative THRBIHR—_Z=E—NE+_—H
inputs and assumptions used for valuing convertible =t —HARBEERPEIRD
bonds which is categorised in Level 3 of the fair MR ESGEMEANE LR
value hierarchy as of 31 December 2018: ANEMEEE -
Fair value at
31 December  Valuation Significant  Relationship of significant
Description 2018  technique inputs inputs to fair value
it RZB-NE
+=R=+-H
WARE HERT EXBAE EABAEHEARBEZBEHEEZ
HK$'000
TER
Embedded derivative portion of 13,500  Binomial model  Volatility A change in volatility by 5% would
convertible bonds increase/(decrease) the fair value
by approximately HK$288,000/
(HK$86,000)
RREFRARNTELASH ZIRAER K8 RIEEE5% @ RAEREM (RD)
#1288,0007 7T/ (86,0007 TT)

Share price A change in share price by 5% would
increase/(decrease) the fair value
by approximately HK$82,000/
(HK$63,000)

RE REZE5% AR E/EM/ (HD)
#182,0007 7T,/ (63,000 7T)

Discountrate A change in discount rate by 5% would
(decrease)/increase the fair value
by approximately (HK$199,000)/
HK$208,000

FUER AR R 2 85% - AR EK(RD),/ B
049 (199,000) 7 7, 208,0003 7T

- JUARAE R
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMBERMER(Z)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 34 sRMBEERBBENAIAE(E)
3.4.1Financial instruments measured at fair value B41BAREHNENEHBITA(E)
(continued)
The following table presents the movement in Level 3 TRENEEZ-_FT—NLF+=A
instruments for the year ended 31 December 2019: =+ —HIEFEARAFEIRITA
Embedded
derivative portion
of the convertible
bonds
AR ESFBHEAR
fTE T EZM5
HK$’000
FET
Opening balance F ) EEER 13,500
Loss on redemption of fEO AT MR E S 2 B8
the convertible bonds (14,328)
Amortisation of deferred losses on a8 3 1 () 3R R BT R 8
conversion component 828
Ending balance FRERR -

Change in fair value for level 3 instruments R=—ZF—hF+=-_A=+—H
held at 31 December 2019 FiEaEF3RTAZ ARE

D019

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B 133

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HKRMERE(E)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 34 sRMBEERBBENAIAE(E)
3.4.1Financial instruments measured at fair value B41BAREHNENEHBITA(E)
(continued)
The following table presents the movement in Level 3 TRENBZ-_ZE—)\F+=A
instruments for the year ended 31 December 2018: =+ —HIEFEARAFEIRITA

Embedded derivative
portion of the
convertible bonds

AR ESBRAR
PTET A H
HK$’000
FA&T
Opening balance FHEEER -
Upon issuance of convertible bonds BTAMRES 42,040
Deferred losses upon issuance TR ZIRIEEE (4,480)
Change in fair value included in the FFAZEREERZAREEZY
statement of comprehensive income (26,042)
Amortisation of deferred losses on 8 460 50 197 3 R JES 1R i 6
conversion component 1,982
Ending balance FREER 13,500
Change in fair value for level 3 RZE-—N\FE+HA=+—H
instruments held at 31 December 2018 FMFEBEEIRITEZARE
L) (26,042)
There have been no significant transfers between REBEZ2—_FT—NEE_ZF—N
level 1, level 2 and level 3 for the year ended 31 F+ZA=+—HIEFE ' FA1
December 2019 and 2018. - B R EIN B E N

Ao

AR ©
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the fair value
of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities not
measured at fair value are not materially different
from their carrying amounts due to their short
maturities.

Balances due from agents and other receivables
include the contractual amounts for settlement of
trades and other obligations due to the Group.

Clients’ balances represent the margin deposits
received from clients and the unrealised profit or
loss from their trading activities under normal course
of business. Their carrying values are a reasonable
approximation of fair value.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMERBEE(Z)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 34 sRIBEREBENAIAREBE(E)
3.4.2Financial assets and liabilities not measured at SA42UX H B AR BIIENETBEE
fair value REE

R-B-NER-E—N\F+=
A=+—8  mRAEEL IR
AR ENSBMEERA BN
BB R BE - MR A R EEER
EELEERER -

MR A5 85 S B R W R B
RENAEBRARENRZNE
HREREMEE -

*ﬁiiﬁl%?“bﬁ’\\IE%%f%%@%%qﬂW
HX(%C)E'E’M%EI TERMRELE
E%bﬁ’]ﬂimiﬁ/mflﬁzf‘ﬁﬁ °
Eﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁa °
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HXEARER (&)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 34 sRMBEERBBENAIAE(E)
3.4.30ffsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 3438 HcHEERCHER
(a) Financial assets (a) =@EE
The following financial assets are subject ITemEEXEE - IR
to offsetting, enforceable master netting HIEITAR —RREAETHE R
arrangements and similar agreements. BB ERR o
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZB—-NF+=ZA=+-—
=]
Related amounts not set off
in the Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position
TRREEHHERRE
BHNERRE
Gross
amounts of Net amounts
recognised  of financial
financial assets
liabilities set ~ presented
Gross off in the in the
amounts of Consolidated Consolidated
recognised  Statement  Statement Cash
financial  of Financial  of Financial Financial collateral Net
assets Position Position  instruments received amount
REEEHE GanE
DAL N HRRA
ERAcE CHRILH ERL 2l
EELE BENE SREEFE SRIE HEEAR BE
HK$’000 HK$’°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T TR T
Derivative financial fTESRIA
instruments 13,089 (1,673) 11,416 - - 11,416
Total 4zt 13,089 (1,673) 11,416 - - 11,416
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMERBEE(Z)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 34 sRMBEERBBENAIAE(E)
3.4.30ffsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 343 LHEERSHBEME (&)
(continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued) (a) =@EE (&)
As at 31 December 2018 R_TB-—N\FE+-_A=+—
H

Related amounts not set off
in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position

BTARGEHBERRE
BEMEBTE
Gross
amounts of  Net amounts
recognised  of financial
financial assets
liabilities set presented
Gross offin the inthe
amounts of ~ Consolidated ~ Consolidated
recognised Statement Statement Cash
financial  of Financial  of Financial Financial collateral Net
assets Position Position  instruments received amount
REall  EEEH
WRARRE WRARA
BHAcR CEAeR M2 Bl
BEEE  BREEE REEFE  eRIE HefHm e

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TRAT TRAT TRET

Derivative financial fTEEMTE
instruments 108,121 (40,721) 67,400 - - 67,400
Total @t 108,121 (40,721) 67,400 - - 67,400
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HKRMERE(E)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 34 sRMBEERBBENAIAE(E)
3.4.30ffsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 343 LHEERSHBEME (&)

(continued)

(b) Financial liabilities (b) ZHEE
The following financial liabilities are subject UTEmBEESE - 7lk
to offsetting, enforceable master netting BIEITEHR —FREEE TR
arrangements and similar agreements. BB EEAR -
As at 31 December 2019 R-B-HAE+ZA=1+-—

H

Related amounts not set off
in the Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position

RRGRRBRRR
BHENERZRE
Gross
amounts of Net amounts
recognised  of financial
financial liabilities
assetsset  presented
Gross off in the in the
amounts of Consolidated Consolidated
recognised  Statement  Statement Cash
financial ~ of Financial  of Financial Financial collateral Net
liabilities Position Position  instruments pledged amount
RGRRE  GEHE
HARREHE  RRRA
BRALR CHIALR KRN BER
REAE  EEAE SRARETE  SEIA HeHAR B

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn

!

Derivative financial fTESRMIA T
instruments (2,506) 1,673 (833) - - (833) i
) -

Total it (2,506) 1,673 (833) - - (833) =
The following financial liabilities are subject UWTemaEEE - 7la =
to offsetting, enforceable master netting BRI TA — FREAE LT HE & E
arrangements and similar agreements. U ZRARR © g
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMERBEE(Z)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 34 sRMBEERBBENAIAE(E)
3.4.30ffsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 343 LHEERSHBEME (&)
(continued)
(b) Financial liabilities (continued) (b) THEE (&)
As at 31 December 2018 R_TB-—N\FE+-_A=+—
H

Related amounts not set off
in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position

TARGEHBERRE
BEMEBTE
Gross
amounts of ~ Net amounts
recognised  of financial
financial liabilities
assets set presented
Gross offin the inthe
amounts of ~ Consolidated  Consolidated
recognised Statement Statement Cash
financial  of Financial  of Financial Financial collateral Net
liabilities Position Position instruments pledged amount
REalE  &EEHK
WARRE S WRARA
BHAcR CEASR M2 [RERH
AEEE  EEARE cRARFE  eRIE HefHm FE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR

Derivative financial fTEemIA
instruments (46,095) 40,721 (5,374) - - (5,374)
Total b (46,095) 40,721 (5,374) - - (5,374)

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEEREE(ZE)
34 2REEREENAIAE(E)
3438 EHMEERSHE R (F)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

3.4.30ffsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
(continued)

(b) Financial liabilities (continued) (b) THEE (&)

For the financial assets and liabilities subject
to enforceable master netting arrangements or
similar arrangements above, each agreement
between the Group and the counterparty allows
for net settlement of the relevant financial assets
and liabilities when both elect to settle on a
net basis. In the absence of such an election,
financial assets and liabilities will be settled
on a gross basis, however, each party to the
master netting agreement or similar agreement
will have the option to settle all such amounts
on a net basis in the event of default of the
other party. Per the terms of each agreement,
an event of default includes failure by a party
to make payment when due; failure by a party
to perform any obligation required by the
agreement (other than payment) if such failure
is not remedied within 30 days after notice of
such failure is given to the party; or bankruptcy.

bR SR BT — 0%
AAEE R SR L PR AR R
WEMEENAEBEMS - A
SEEIZHFRITNSTE
WA R B FREEE
MEE RIPFRGENRE
MBEERAE - ERBIF
HRZEZABAT RE
EMBERSREREER
B E-BH—FRmnENK
UG ERES —HEL
ER— B R FILFEE
EEEEMARETHE - R
BEEBZEAIGR - BOF
B 1R — T3 RAESTT B #IFK
] AR — T REEETT R

Fr i E 9 B AE (N 5RER SN -

BT EWEZ 4B A
ERI0KRHIR ARBEVEH
Ktant o HAKE -

- JUARAE R

e
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.5

3.6

Financial instruments by category

All financial assets and financial liabilities (including cash
and bank balances, client trust bank balances, balance
due from agents, other receivables and deposits, clients’
balances, other payables and finance lease obligations)
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method except for the derivative financial instruments
which are carried at fair value.

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which
is a broader concept than the “equity” on the face of
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, are:

e To comply with the liquid capital requirements
under the Securities and Futures Commission in
Hong Kong, Australian Securities and Investments
Commission in Australia and the Securities
Commission in New Zealand for its subsidiaries
which are licensed corporations;

e To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders;

e To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

e To maintain a strong capital base to support the
development of its business.

3 MEEREE(ZE)

3.5

3.6

BRERNEBINEMTA

AP BIRARANETTREER
TRAEBE(ERAESRRITESR T
FErEIRTTHE SR - RIRARIRGERR - B
L FEWRIR SR I2® « B - HAit

JE AN SRIR Fe @t B B AR ) IR SH A
RABBRFZEAR - HARAEBEA
BREPTAE T R T EERIN -

BEXER
REBERN (B RBEEE P BIRRAER
WiExR] ELAEM BENER.
B -

s MEFMAEMNBARME
NEBBEFLPESTHERR
S5&  RMRMNESEIRER
PR EERMANESZEEN
FESHRE

I

H’\_H

Vi

5

e REAELEBRIFELLRE WU
ME BN R B R 2SR E R
B 2R & F &=

s XRAKREMIBENMER

s MFNREBEIMEANER
FHER -

AR
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HKRMERE(E)
3.6 Capital management (continued) 3.6 EXREE (&)
The Group’s gearing ratio at the Consolidated Statement AEBRGFEMBIRKAKBENEE
of Financial Position date is shown below: =T -
2019 2018
—E-hF —F)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total debt (ER T ] 22,249 191,253
Total equity HEmieE 390,981 571,706
Gearing ratio BELL = 5.7% 33.5%
Total debt includes finance lease obligations. ERAEREMERERE -
All licensed corporations within the Group complied with REE T NFER_FT—N\FILF
their required liquid capital during the years ended 2019 = ﬂi%@ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁéﬁ/ﬁ’a}@ﬁﬁ
and 2018. MENESHE °
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 EZe€:t{LstR¥HE

JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

et R A R FF B RS - WOUBELR K
HitBA=AEM  SFREREE NEE
HARKE=MMASEEY -
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1

4.2

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
fair value of share options and derivative portion of the
convertible bonds.

The Group determines the fair value of share options
at the date at which they are granted and the fair value
of derivative portion of the convertible bonds at each
reporting date with reference to the fair value estimated
under a valuation model which are commonly used in
the market. The assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options are subject to managements’
best estimation. Changes in assumptions about these
assumptions could affect reported fair value of share
options and derivative portion of the convertible bonds.
Management use their judgments to make assumptions
that are mainly reference to the historical data of
comparable listed companies.

More details of the assumptions made are included in
Note 23 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies

Management of the Group has not made any significant
critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies.

4 EESEEFTRME E)

41

4.2

BRI AT RER

AR B & PR KAF (AR M RAR -
EEZ G ETBRARDEERE
FRGRI|AT o (Bt RIBRFER T —
MRFEHEERABZREEFSL
BEARFBZEARR SBRENAR
BERABREBEZFZITET AL -

REB2EREMSBEEMR ZMGE
RAFFZ AR BEEEBBRERE R
H#z AR ERAIBERESITET R
BN EmERMZIAAE - TERE
BHEZ AAREMAZBRAREIERE
EhREMGGT - REFBRRELEZR
REPAETEMZ M BRIER R
BERAMERES 2 ITET RSN - &
BEERENE  WETBE2EAEL
REM AR ZELBIBIEHRER -

BREMELREBE ZE ZHIBEHNGEE
B 7553 2% Y £ 23 & 27 o

ERAEE S ERIFFEHZEE
H) R

AR B E IR B W R B AN SR [ P FE AR Y
SRR ER IR EE HH -
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SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the executive directors
and senior management of the Group. The Group’s operating
businesses are structured and managed separately according
to the natures of their operations and the services they provide.
Each of the Group’s business segments represents a strategic
business unit that offers services which are subject to risks
and returns that are different from those of the other business
segments. The Board of Directors considers the business from
a geographical and product perspective.

Summary details of the business segments are as follows:

(a) the margin dealing segments engage in the provision
of leveraged foreign exchange, commodity and index
trading services in Australia, Hong Kong and New
Zealand;

(b) the unleveraged cash dealing segment engages in the
provision of non-leveraged foreign exchange trading
services in New Zealand. Unleveraged cash dealing
services were provided to corporate clients, in particular,
those clients engaged in money changing business for
the purpose of hedging their cash positions and meeting
settlement obligations. The Group is rewarded by the
spread between the price quoted to our clients and the
price offered by our market makers; and

(c) The Mainland China business segment engaged in
provision of trading and settlement of precious metals in
Mainland China which ceased in 2018.

Inter-segment transactions, if any, are conducted with
reference to the prices charged to third parties and there was
no change in the basis during the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018.

5

z

B &

RE DR mE T N EHA AL EHRTT
EEhEAEREERENORNMRE —
B oo REEMEEXB R EEN
G R iRt RS o AR R EE - A
SR N & X5 8 R RS H
REE KB - ERBATEAZ AR K
EHRARINEMEE D - EFSH
[ N 2E on B JE B BT e

BRAZEG D BB mT

(a) REERZDEMENEM &
78 KA PE R ER AR AR SUONE ~ B
m MR 5 R

(b) FERABERIHBRER
MERmIRHEIEERERXINER F
R7S - AEERARFFIRMIE
BERARESRFGRE - LEHEZ
EREHPRER BT RETE
EEAMBHEEEHREBNE
F o REERETEFHREH
AEETHIEREEHMNBERHR
WEE &

(c) PEAHELEDIBHERFERNRA
WRHESBERZNEE  BER
ZE - N\FLRIE-

ENEENR S (WE) T2 RAE
=T RERB BRI AETT - BRAEER
E—T-NER_FT-\F+A
=+—RALFEIEES -
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5 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 5 DEHEE)
The segment information provided to the management for the B2 —hEFr_FE—N\F+=A
reportable segments for the years ended 31 December 2019 =+—HIEFE  BARESBRESIEE
and 2018 is as follows: A EER T
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_Z—hF+=-—B=+—BHLFE
New Hong New
Zealand Kong Australia Zealand  Mainland
margin margin margin cash China
dealing dealing dealing dealing business  Unallocated  Elimination Total

Eifil | EE LY AEE  TEAY
REERE REERH RELRE  RERH S S *2E H# it
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
TERL TEn TEn TEL TEn TERn TERL TEn

Segment revenue and other income: A EPRE REMUA :
Foreign exchange and other trading REINEE P 5N E

income eamed from external RE#RHMA
customers 13,659 1 (1,999) (1,360) - - 6 10,307
Inter-segment sales HHREE - 3478 - - - - (3479) -
Segment revenue Rl e 13,659 3479 (1,999) (1,360) - - (3472 10,307
Fee and commission income BARESMA 3238 - 61 - - - - 3,299
Other income EtlA 2,159 - (203) - 387 122 - 2,465
Total revenue and other income. W RAHBALE 19,056 3419 2141) (1,360) 387 122 (3472 16,071
Segment profitoss) ABiEF/ (BB) (24,638) (2,029) (292) (1,416) (1,380) 122 - (32,264)
Other unallocated staff costs EfRpREIRA (9,553) (9,553)
Other unallocated administrative and  Eft kA BTH R
operafing expenses BERY (138,640) (138,640)
_ Loss before tax RHAIEE (180457)
S Income tax credit FiEhiEs 469
> Loss for the year FEEE (179989)
Z
Zj
a Other segment information: At HHER
% Depreciation and amortisation MERESH - 1,343 27 - 333 25,440 27,143
= Lease payments fEf - 304 - - 953 2,409 3,756
5 Finance cost BERK - - - - - 13,385 13,385
S
;
)
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5 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 5 SEHE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2018 22— )\F+ZA=+—HIEFE
New Hong New
Zealand Kong Australia Zealand Mainland
margin margin margin cash China
dealing dealing dealing dealing business  Unallocated ~ Elimination Total

G AR EH mER AR
RELRH REERS RERRA  RER S} vl 9% it
HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKSOOO  HKS00D  HKSOOO  HKS000  HK$0O0
ThL TR T T T TAL T TR

Segment revenue and other income: - 2 SREREMIA :
Foreign exchange and other trading REJMPR PAIINE

income eared from external REHZHRA

customers 365,363 4 7573 3,309 - - - 376,249
Inter-segment sales PEFHEE - 119973 10,484 - - - (130457) -
Segment revenue P8hE 365,363 119977 18,057 3,309 - - (130,457) 376,249
Fee and commission income BARFESMA 54,067 - 78 - - 2,301 - 56,446
Other income HtA 1587 - 17 37 1657 35,118 - 38416
Total revenug and other income Wi RN A B 41017 119,977 18,152 3346 1,657 7419 (130457) 4Tt
Segment profit{loss) AR/ (BB) 63,160 106,070 13,034 2962 (6,062) 37419 216,583
Other unallocated staff costs EAAEEIMA (35,403) (35,403)
Other unallocated administrative and £t & ATATH R

operating expenses BERY (129423) (129423)
Profit before tax BB AR 51,757
Income tax expense R (17,508)
Profit for the year FRET 34,249
Other segment information: HhHHER
Depreciation of property, plantand 91 * B Rk

equipment and amortisation of TERENAE

intangible assets g - 110 % - 1815 12730 14,681
Lease payments HEMH = 1492 - - 1816 10920 14228
Finance cost BERA - - - - - 28,428 28428

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED —%&— JUEAER
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SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 5

The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group’s major

income from external customers is derived from its operations

in New Zealand.

2 EEE (2)

RARERES - REBRBINEEEFH
TERARBEHENRAFORALEETRS -

2019 2018

—E-hF —E—-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

New Zealand il | 12,299 368,672
Others Hb (1,992) 7,577
10,307 376,249

The locations of its non-current assets (excluding deferred tax

assets) are as follows:

HIERBEE (TERRBRECRBEEE) D
ffoan T -

2019 2018

—E-hF —F)\F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Hong Kong EHE 22,337 19,446
New Zealand il 271 29,794
Australia M 5,116 3,240
Mainland China A B A B 72 809
27,796 53,289

None of the external customers contributes more than a

majority of the Group’s trading income individually in the

respective years.

Information on segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed

as this information is not presented to the Board of Directors as

they do not assess performance of reportable segments using

information on assets and liabilities.

MEIBEFEBREFEAEERR S
AHVBARBE S ©

HREFEVEREMAABFEERBENE
BRSS9 BRI - BRI #E
ENMBENEMLEZRTESS - B
WEREBBER -
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OTHER INCOME 6 HawA
2019 2018
—ZE—-hF —E—N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest income LB WA 5,108 4,945
Exchange (loss)/gains, net fE 5 (F51B) W - F5E (1,947) 9,410
Gain on disposal of fixed assets HEBTEEE 2 WE 11 -
Fair value gain on the embedded AR ESBRAR
derivative portion of the convertible PTHET RS2
bonds (Note 23) NREWE (EE23) - 26,042
Amortisation of deferred losses on A AR B H B E D
conversion component of the IRIEEE S (A 7223)
convertible bonds (Note 23) (828) (1,982)
Loss on redemption of the convertible & Bl A] A% (& 5 2 E518 (A1 2223)
bonds (Note 23) (981) -
Rental Reimbursement (Note 31) THemE WaE31) 1,044 -
Others H Aty 58 1
2,465 38,416
STAFF COSTS 7 EBEIRZA
2019 2018
—E-NF —ZE-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Staff costs (including directors’ ETRA(BIEEEHS
remuneration (Note 29)): (K17£29)) :
Salaries, bonus and allowances T& -« JE4T N2 AL 26,137 94,143
Pension scheme contributions BRIRBET B 731 1,151
Staff option expenses (Note 27) B THWRER (Ft27) 566 6,375
27,434 101,669
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ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER OPERATING 8 {THRHEMEKEEX
EXPENSES
2019 2018
—E—hE —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Management fees paid to the then YR TEREEZERAF

immediate holding company ERE 619 696
Other office occupation expenses HEmsFEEARX 3,128 3,193
Auditor’s remuneration Z BN &

— Audit services —BIZIRTE 4,021 3,223

— Non-audit services —EEZRTS 307 302
Information services expenses ERSEHX 2,577 4,136
Professional and consultancy fee BEENFERAE 25,007 5,558
Repair and maintenance HIEREE(BERGHEE)

(including system maintenance) 20,044 17,250
Marketing, advertising and MEHEE  BEEREERX

promotion expenses 7,597 27,166
Handling fee expenses FEEMX 211 8,349
Travelling expenses EZIRE 2,464 4,255
Entertainment expenses R ENE 370 1,055
Insurance R Bz 831 768
Bank charges HRITER 875 510
Staff training 8 T3 37 425
Client’'s debit balances written off B AL 4 SRS 78 347
Impairment of fixed asset (Note 12) BEE&EEBE(Wit12) 400 -
Impairment of intangible asset (Note 13) BREEE Z WA (Hit13)

(Note A) (H17EA) 37,506 2,937
Donations BR 59 2,364
Others HAth 1,604 2,042

107,735 84,576
Note A HiaEA

As at 31 December 2019, the Group made an impairment provision on
intangible assets amounting to HK$37,506,000 (2018: 2,937,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was a significant
reduction in leveraged foreign exchange and other trading income due
to the decreased trading volume. As a result, certain intangible assets
benefit to the aforesaid trading business would no longer be used.
Accordingly, there was an impairment indicator for these intangible
assets owned by the Group.

The Group has reassessed the recoverable amounts of the intangible
assets with reference to the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. Since certain computer software were specifically
tailored to the Group, the management considered the fair value less
costs of disposal to be very minimal. Based on the assessment, the
Group concluded that the recoverable amount of certain software was
lower than its carrying amount. Therefore, provision for impairment
of intangible assets of HK$37,506,000 have been made to these
computer software held by each of the cash generating units in New
Zealand, Australia and Hong Kong.

R=Z—AF+=A=+—0 AEEERE
T & EVEHRE B #37,506,0008 7T (=2 — N\
% : 2,937,000 7T) °

BE_ZT-NAF+-_A=+—RILFEHM
HRZZERL  BEREXIIMNEREMZ S
WARERAD » Fit - AR L2 5% 2
ETEVEERTSRER - Bt - NEBAH
BAEZZEEEELBRRE -

NEBE2ERRERBERAREREERE
MR EEEN GETEECJREISHE -
MRETERREEHEIRAESEE S ES
EIEERAAAER G ERARE S - R
FEfE - AEERS - B TEM 2 R E S EIE
MREMREE - Btk - ERLARERE BN RES
BEREEEBMMITA ZZEEMBRIEL &
T & B R B % 1#37,506,000/& 7T °
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INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 9 FMBHUEER) HX
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% BB NIEH THIRF NEVEET ERTUR T A
(2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit during the 16.5% (ZF— /\F : 16.5%) BT K5T1E
years. Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on BiE o BINEFMTRIEE IRE NEFHER
the estimated assessable profit during the years at the rates T MARNEBEETERKRBITAR
of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group Kt E o RIBE M IEHE - NEBERAD
operates. The income tax expenses of the Group are charged PREE SR R BB PSR B X o B
at a tax rate of 28% (2018: 28%) in New Zealand, 30% (2018: 1#228% (ZZF — \F : 28%) * 30% (=ZF
30%) in Australia and 25% (2018: 25%) in Mainland China in —)\%F : 30%) }25% (=F— )\ FF : 25%)
accordance with the local tax authorities. M RAH o
2019 2018
—E=—hE —ZT—\4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Current tax: BVEARR IR -
Charge for the year FRX MY 64 16,064
Over-provision in prior year EFBREREAE (533) (402)
Others HAib - 486
Deferred tax: EETIE ¢
Charge for the year (Note 20) FRIR (B 7E20) - 1,360
Income tax (credit)/expense Frisfi R&e) HX (469) 17,508
2019 2018
—ZE—-hF —E—N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRPTISBLAT (B51R) i 7 (180,457) 51,757
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate 1&Z& &AM KT E AT IE (29,701) 8,540
Effect of different taxation rates H A B ZR A [R] B 2R B 52 &
in other countries (11,596) 4,319
Income not subject to tax AR AR A (478) (4,780)
Expenses not deductible for tax AT HIFR S 6,812 8,116
Temporary differences not recognised & f& 52 85 B |4 = 58 35,027 1,229
Over-provision in prior year A FEBRER S (533) (402)
Others Hfib - 486
Income tax (credit)/expense Fris®i (3 e) FxX (469) 17,508
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10 DIVIDENDS

The Board does not declare the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

11 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

during the respective periods.

10 RE

EEGTERBRE_F—AF+ =
=+ ALEEENEARE (ZF N\
) -

11 8R(BR).&ZF
(a) BREZLX (BE) &R

BRER (BHR) /BAIEA R RRE
FAE ARG ZABRIAR & HEE %7
BRI EETH -

2019 2018
—E-hF —F)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Loss)/Profit attributable to equity RARIRERFTE AEWG
holders of the Company (E518) 4 A (179,988) 34,249

No. of shares

R tn BB

No. of shares
iavig - g=!

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue (Note 24)

23T E B A N T 15 B

(Kat24) 2,033,290,000 2,033,290,000

Basic (loss)/earnings per share
(HK cents)

BREX (BB &F

GBAL) (8.85) 1.68

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based
on the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of
the Company. The weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in the calculation is the number of ordinary
shares in issue during the years, and the weighted

(b) ER#BFZ(ER) BN

BREER N IREF AN B IAE
REARGRMNTE - BETEZE
BRI FABSFADERTERR
A - RERRREERET S LA
BRIEFHWR BITE NIRRT A L EE

average number of ordinary shares assumed to have RN EBIE T BN A B AR AR

been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise

BERTHEBRMNEFIEH -

or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares

under the share option scheme and convertible bonds

into ordinary shares.
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11 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 11 SR (FR) BR(E)
(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (continued) (b) SREBE (BB BRE)
2019 2018
—ZE-NnF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
(Loss)/Profit attributable to equity RATIIRERTE AEN
holders of the Company (E518) i A (179,988) 34,249
Finance cost on convertible bonds, AIMRES CREKA
net of tax (Note 23) R IE (B72223) - 23,713
Fair value gain on the embedded AIMRESRAR
derivative portion of the convertible PTET AER,
bonds (Note 6) N EWRE (Hit6) - (26,042)
Amortisation of deferred losses on AT AR E S E A (D 2
conversion component of the IR BB (I 5t6)
convertible bonds (Note 6) - 1,982

Adjusted (loss)/profit attributable to BERABAARR AR
equity holders of the Company HHE AEMN (BB, SamF (179,988) 33,902

No. of shares No. of shares

igvig 4= &0 & B
Weighted average number of BT E R AR A I P19 8
ordinary shares in issue 2,033,290,000 2,033,290,000
Adjustments for convertible bonds AR E S B (M7 :723)
(Note 23) - 326,264,273
Weighted average number of shares &t & & i% #58 & 5 &9
for the purpose for calculating % 1 e < ¥ 24
diluted earnings per share 2,033,290,000 2,359,554,273
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share ThkEE (BEB) &F (OB) il
(HK cents) (8.85) 1.44 T
iy
Note: Kzt -
Share options are not included in the computation of diluted HEREBREARBEYE  SGIEEEC
(loss)/earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2019 E-NER-Z-N\F+-_A=+—HI
and 2018 as those were anti-dilutive. FEZERES (BB) /BF R &+

BEEA -
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w3 B B R M
12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 Y% - BERZE
Furniture,
fixturesand ~ Computer Leasehold Motor
equipment  equipment improvements vehicles Total
BE- %8
ET B HE%E "E ast
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAL TR TEL TEL TEL

As at 1 January 2018 A\ =Z-\§-H—-H
Cost XA 8,602 17,191 11,305 4,067 41,165
Accumulated depreciation RE (7,403) (11,517) (10,517) (2,009) (31,446)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,199 5,674 788 2,058 9,719

For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-Z—/\F+-A=+—BILEE

Opening net carrying amount FERTE 1,199 5,674 788 2,058 9719
Exchange adjustments ER AR (42) (85) 7 (21) (141)
Additions nE 220 1,366 2,828 - 4414
Depreciation & (549) (2,404) (1,043) (542) (4,538)
Closing net carrying amount EREHEE 828 4,551 2,580 1495 9,454
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N§+ZA=1—-H
Cost KA 8,348 17,881 13,637 3,934 43,800
Accumulated depreciation RiHE (7,520) (13,330) (11,057) (2,439) (34,346)
Net carrying amount REFE 828 4,551 2,580 1495 9,454

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-E-NF+-A=+—-BILFE

Opening net carrying amount ENREFE 828 4,551 2,580 1,495 9,454
Exchange adjustments B 7 38 6) (1) (27) @ (46)
Additions FE - 919 62 - 981
Disposals & - - - (120) (120)
_ Depreciation il (342) (1,964) (1,226) (437) (3,969)
5 Impairment WE (120) (280) - - (400)
; Closing net carrying amount ERREFE 360 3,215 1,389 936 5,900
;t
- As at 31 Decernber 2019 W-B-AF+-A=1-F
= Cost KA 8,322 18,756 13,635 3,507 44,220
& Accumulated depreciation ZiHrERAE
= and impairment (7,962) (15,541) (12,246) @57)  (38,320)
3
§ Net carrying amount REFE 360 3,215 1,389 936 5,900
Q
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13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

13 |BILEE

Computer Trading
software right Total
EREHG RAKE mat
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TET FET THET
As at 1 January 2018 RZZE—-—NF—H—H
Cost XA 52,702 1,802 54,504
Accumulated amortisation BRI (18,206) (1,802) (20,008)
Net carrying amount FEFE 34,496 - 34,496
For the year ended 31 December 2018  HZE—ZT—N\F+_A=Z+—HLFE
Opening net carrying amount FREFE 34,496 - 34,496
Exchange adjustments ME N (1,055) - (1,055)
Additions NE 23,474 - 23,474
Amortisation iR (10,143) - (10,143)
Impairment (Note 8) WIE (HiE8) (2,937) - (2,937)
Closing net carrying amount FREREFE 43,835 - 43,835
As at 31 December 2018 RZZE-NF+ZA=1+—H
Cost XA 73,797 1,708 75,505
Accumulated amortisation ZEtEERRE
and impairment (29,962) (1,708) (31,670)
Net carrying amount REEE 43,835 - 43,835
For the year ended 31 December 2019  #HEZZE—NF+-A=+—HILFE
Opening net carrying amount FOREEE 43,835 = 43,835
Exchange adjustments 0 B (99) = (99)
Additions NE 5,245 - 5,245
Amortisation i3] (11,473) - (11,473)
Impairment (Note 8) WIE (H78) (37,506) = (37,506)
Closing net carrying amount FREEEE 2 = 2
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NFE+ZA=+—H
Cost B AR 79,007 1,678 80,685
Accumulated amortisation ZEHEERRE
and impairment (79,005) (1,678) (80,683)
Net carrying amount REFE 2 - 2
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14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14. EREEE
(i) Amount recognised in the Consolidated Statement of (i) REESHBMRRRERZSH
Financial Position
31 December 1 January
2019 2019~
—E2-NhEF —ET—NF
t+=A=t+—H —A—8"
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Buildings BgF 21,894 33,456
21,894 33,456
Finance Lease obligations L E H E AR
Current k2] 11,718 11,334
Non-current SEME 10,531 22,310
22,249 33,644
* In the previous year, the Company only recognised lease * REF - ARFERBBEE AL
assets and lease liabilities in relation to leases that were BT [HE s AIMEMHE]
classified as ‘finance leases’ under HKAS 17 Leases. The ZHEERBE o HEEERHERE -
assets were presented in property, plant and equipment BETVIWWEYME  BENSEE  MA
and the liabilities as part of the Company’s borrowings. For BABERANTIEEZEMD - R-ZZE—AH
adjustments recognised on adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 F—A—BRWNEEVEIRELR
January 2019, please refer to note 2.2. F16 R TR - FE2MME2.2 -
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2019 N — NFERFEELE NN 2 £ A RE
financial year were HK$186,000. & FE /186,000 7T °

D019
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14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 14. ERREEE (&)
(i) Amount recognised in the Consolidated Statement of (i) REEEHBERERZSH
Comprehensive Income
2019 2018
—E—-hE AN
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BT &E FET FHET
Depreciation charge of FERREEZINEER
right-of-use assets
Buildings BF 11,701 -
Interest expense FERZ (GTARERKZ)
(included in finance cost) 707 -
Expense relating to short-term SEEREN-REL 1k
leases 953 -
Expense relating to leases of low- 7 X IEZE R A5 H 8
value assets that are not shown FHEZRKEELEEHRES
above as short-term leases MR (G ATTHRX)
(included in administrative
expenses) 131 -
The total cash outflow for leases in 2019 was N-ZE-NFEHERSTHEATELD
approximately HK$12,052,000. 512,052,000 7T °

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED —%&— JUEAER
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14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 14. FREEE (&)

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are (iii)
accounted for

The Group leases various offices and warehouse. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 3
years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are
held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

FEEHEEFIRZEFTH ZAR
FR

AEEHEZEMRAELRE - HL
—REERH2E3EF -

HEGRFIIZEREERE - LB
BREAR 2 G RG T - FE W HEIL
|G INMEM R - ERBEARFEZ
HEBE BT mERRRIN - HEE
ENRIBEER 2K -

15 OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 15 HtEWRE - BAFERERS

DEPOSITS

2019 2018

—E—-NF —T—N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Rental and utility deposits e R RAAREES 3,925 4,569
Prepayments T FRIA 3,498 2,831
Other receivables B {th & U 5R18 1,328 2,332
Provision for expected credit loss TEEEEEERE (40) (40)
Total 5t 8,711 9,692

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other receivables and 7% B H M fEYGRIE R i@ MREEEE A

deposits approximate to their fair values. BEREE -
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16 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 16 fTE /T A
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current assets MEEE
Derivative contracts PTEBHK 11,416 67,400
Current liabilities nREAEE
Derivative contracts PTEBHX (833) (5,374)
Total #aEt 10,583 62,026
The Group trades in foreign currencies, commodities and AEBFBERBZERIEBRETINEG -
other products through its margin trading business. In order EREEMERRS -  BREAEETST
to protect against their exposures to fluctuations in foreign FERMEREREESZAMTE  KEE
exchange rates and commodity prices, the Group has entered MIEEEE AR EETRIEITEI N ZTE
into a number of foreign exchange forward transactions and INERBAZ G N EEBEL -
contracts for difference with the Group’s bankers in the normal
course of business.
The notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward NR—_E—NhFE_FE—NF+_AHA
foreign exchange contracts at 31 December 2019 and 2018 =+—H ®mARFEEHINESGHNE
are HK$1,743,747,000 and HK$9,875,738,000 respectively. EKRKELSED B A1,743,747,00058 7T &

9,875,738,000/& 7T °

- JUARAE R

e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ak 0 B 25 A B

BALANCES DUE FROM AGENTS 17 EWARELEER
2019 2018
—ZE—-hF —E—N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Balances due from: FE WA R
- agents — 2 26,217 21,756
— Tianjin Precious Metal Exchange —REESBRIA
(Note 31a(vi)) (K1at31a(vi)) 559 569
Provision for expected credit loss TEEEEEERE (574) (574)
Total HET 26,202 21,751

The carrying amounts of the Group’s balances due from
agents approximate to their fair values. The Group is free
to withdraw the funds from accounts maintained with these
agents at any time.

AEEEBAEEHNEAEREEARE
A - NEE R BER 5 RiIREREZ FHIE
IR MRFARNES -

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND CLIENT TRUST 18 HRENHBITHEBRUNEF=EiR1T4
BANK BALANCES 523
2019 2018
—E-hF  —F)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T

Cash and bank balances Re MIRITES 178,542 550,591
Fixed deposits with banks HRITE HIfE K 201,112 174,816
Client trust bank balances BE{EERITES 44,499 255,785
Provision for expected credit loss TEHR = E BB RS (426) (426)

423,727 980,766

The Group maintains trust and segregated accounts with
authorised financial institutions to hold clients’ deposits
arising from normal business transactions. The Group is not
allowed to use the clients’ monies to settle its own obligations
in the ordinary course of business, and therefore they are not
included as cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
cash flows.

AREENERES BB B EENRET
BRP - MREFPRE —REBRFNF
Ko REETAIHARFHNESBERS
SR BEEEBBETER - EZER
BWET AR S REXRFIERS RES
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18 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND CLIENT TRUST 18 B RBITHEBRUREFEFEERITE

BANK BALANCES (continued) B ()

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, fixed deposits of R-ZE-NERZE—NF+_A=1+—
HK$84,120,000 and HK$90,359,000 respectively are pledged H  84,120,0007% 7t % 90,359,000/% 7T &Y
to banks for banking facilities. No overdraft facility was utilised FEHTFRDBIRBITEEERTRIT - RN
by the Group as at 31 December 2019 and 2018. None of the —_EhAFERE-NF+_A=1+—
bank deposits are placed with market makers as collateral as A AEESESHAEMAEZE R_F
at 31 December 2019 and 2018. —hFE-FE-)\Ft+t-A=+—H8 #

BRTERRTSHERFEERER® -

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, EAIReRERM:E  HREeRRSEE
cash and cash equivalents comprises of the following: MBENATRIE

2019 2018

—E-hF  —ZF)N\F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET TET

Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHEER 178,542 550,591

Fixed deposits with bank with original BT =1 A R 2| H &
maturity within three months RITEHF R 116,992 84,457
295,534 635,048

- JUARAE R

e
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19 FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS 19 EEHERE

Additional finance lease obligations were recognised on 1
January 2019 in the process of adopting the new leasing
standard. See note 2.2 for further information about the change

= = A

=T A

T BR A # A

|2 @i ERZE
—NF—A—BHREIBREHERSE -
ERHECSHBREH I E—FERR

in accounting policy for leases. Mizxo.2 o
2019 2018
—E—hEF —F-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FHT
Gross finance lease obligations REHERIEETE
— minimum lease payments — EEENK
Not later than 1 year —F R 12,138 51
Later than 1 year and no later —FEEAFA
than 5 years 10,673 155
22,811 206
Future finance charges on RERERENRERMERZ
finance lease obligations (562) (18)
Present value of finance lease REHEIRE 22,249 188
The present value of finance lease obligations is as follows: BEHERERBEWET -
2019 2018
—ZE—hE —E—-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Not later than 1 year —F R 11,718 42
Later than 1 year and no later —FBEAENRN
than five years 10,531 146
22,249 188
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20 DEFERRED TAXATION 20 EERIE
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset on an individual & B AT TR A5 BN BB 18 & 2= 1 A HR
entity basis when there is a legal right to set off current tax HIB ARG - MELERIES X [E— g
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred B BRI EREARMIELETRIBEEEHES
taxation relates to the same authority. The following amounts, B RIERBE EZERANN TR
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances (WiEst RIRtEAEER) ST -

within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FHT
Deferred tax assets to be recovered REFIAE E
after more than twelve months (FB@12(8 A& Y (al) 1,712 1,719
Deferred tax liabilities to be settled ELEBIEAE
after more than twelve months (EBid1218 A % X 1~F) (4,903) (4,902)
(3,191) (3,183)
The major components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) AR FTANYENEERBEE
recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (BE)NEELoRFREENT -
and the movements during the year are as follows:
Other
Employee temporary
benefits Depreciation  differences Total
Hin E it
EEEA nE =8 o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2018 R-_E-\E—H—H 1,143 (2,450) (532) (1,839)
Exchange adjustments B 5 SR (55) 39 32 16 =
(Charge)/credit for the year FRER) /FTA (339) (1,456) 435 (1,360) ;
b
At 31 December 2018 R-Z-N\F+-A=+—-A 749 (3,867) (65) (3,183) 1
E
At 1 January 2019 RZZ—NF—H—H 749 (3,867) (65) (3,183) E
Exchange adjustments B 7, % - (10) 2 @) 5
8
a4
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NE+=ZRA=+—H 749 (3,877) (63) (3,191) %
@)
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OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 21 HWENRERESEE
2019 2018
—E-hE —=E=E—N\HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Accrued rental benefit FEEHA & Fzs - 171
Accrued audit fees [EH%*Z%‘??@ 4,388 2,255
Other accruals HEMESTER 9,349 3,047
Commission payable FEHA < 342 6,020
Employee entitiements EE#R 682 11,458
Other payables H fib fE T 5118 12,302 2,857
Interest payable FEAH I - 5,835
27,063 31,643

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other payables and
accrued liabilities approximate to their fair values.

CLIENTS’ BALANCES

The balances represent margin deposits received from clients
and the realised profit or loss from their trading activities under
normal course of business. The carrying amounts approximate
to their fair values.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Pursuant to subscriptions agreements entered into by
the Company on 25 January 2018, the Company issued
convertible bonds with aggregate principal amount of
HK$200,000,000 on 12 February 2018 (the “Issue Date”). The
convertible bonds entitled the holders to convert them into
326,264,273 ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion
price of HK$0.613 (the “Conversion Price”) per share of the
Company at any time from the day following one year from the
Issue Date up to the fifth business day immediately before the
second anniversary of the Issue Date (the “Maturity Date”) and
bear interest at 7.5% per annum. Unless previously redeemed,
converted or cancelled, the Company has to redeem the
convertible bonds on Maturity Date at 100% of the outstanding
principal amount, together with accrued interest, if any.

22

23

AR B E AL BN R M BT B ERREE
BEAREES -

PPN

i
Ay

Enl:lﬁ/%
ZEBHRIERLEEFBRTWIEFN
BEERRRSRTEEEDND LR
BMAKEE c REERE QA EESE -

N nm«
>H3

CIE: Y38t

RIEARA —N\FE—A=+HBA]
hva Zm,ﬁﬁ% RNAIERZZE—N\F=
A+Z=ZB ((#1THBDBETASHETEAR
200,000,000/ 7T 2 Rl # AR B 25 » Rl AR
B T3 E AN AR EST B HEET—
FRBHEZEEETH R mMES
AEREZFA ([FIEH ) - EFEpER R
B E 06138 T ([RRE ) Hirs
KR A 2326,264,2730% I @ A% - F Fl X
7%7 5% o BRIFIRATAEE] - sHisk s - A
ANEIZERBIHI B R R EE AR &5 .2100%
EREEFE (105 ) EE AT RRES -
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23 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The Conversion Price is subject to anti-dilutive adjustments
due to change of management and anti-dilution events such
as consolidation, sub-division or reclassification, bonus issue,
capital distribution, rights issue of shares or options over
shares, rights issue of other securities, issue at less than the
then current market price, other issue at less than the then
current market price, modification of right of conversion, other
offer to shareholders and other events. If the Conversion Price
pursuant to any adjustment is below the par value of each
share, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted to an amount
equal to the par value of the share instead.

Save as disclosed above, the terms and definitions of the
convertible bonds are set out in the respective subscription
agreements and disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 25 January 2018 and 12 February 2018.

In the presence of the adjustments to the Conversion Price
mentioned above, the convertible bonds may not exchange
a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instrument
for a fixed amount of cash. Therefore, the components of
the convertible bonds are accounted for separately as host
liability component and conversion option derivative. The fair
values of the host liability component and conversion option
derivative were determined at the respective date of issue.
The host liability component represented the present value of
the contractual stream of future cash flows discounted using
the prevailing market interest rate of similar non-convertible
instruments and carried at amortised cost. The effective
interest rate of the liability component is 19.25%. Subsequent
to the initial recognition, the liability component is carried
at amortised cost while the conversion option derivative
embedded in the convertible bonds are measured at fair value,
where changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

On 7 May 2019, the bonds holder exercised the option of
early redemption pursuant to the Agreements to request the
Company to redeem the full amount of the convertible bonds
with redemption date on 15 May 2019.

23 AR ESR (2

BMEEEFNEEELRESHRIEL RS
AR MxSREEAREHEEAH
AR EF O - BITALR - EADIK -
A ERE - At s 2 R - RER
ERIFITMERT  RERERRITHE
ZEMBEETT  ERTHRE - AR A
b B A R E M o W R E A TG Bk
BEER SR < EE - RA(E G FHE
EEEFRERNEEZSRE -

R b 3R FEE SN - AT HRARE SV IR N E
BHNEENRBHEARN > XNRARFH
BHE_E-NF-_A-THREHRZZ-N
FAT AR EPEE -

£ Eatia REREENERT - A RERES
HRBERBEE S ENR R MAEEHA
MAANR B HESETE - At - ATRRE
FHVRARER D 0 B E B ERR D MR i
PTETEAR - TREE S MRREITE
TANAAEBEKRSEENETEREE - =
BERDEARKIRERE LIEED A EALL
AR TARITHIS5MRAEHENIRE -
WIZEHK AT - BIEEE D WERA=R
7319.25% - MYJIRHER 1L - BEH DL
HIHRCAIRR - TR A AT AR E S B iR AR
ROTETERAREFNE  AAARBEES

RIB R o

R-ZZF-—NFRALR  BFFEARE
ZEHBITEIRFERE - ERANAEE
OECESHS T NAFAA+TRAANA
MR ES AT -
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23 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 23 AR ES (E)
The components for the issue of the convertible bonds and TN PR E S A AR ER D R RN Y B
their movements for the year are set out below: B T -

Financial

Financial liabilities at

liabilities at fair value

amortised through

cost profit or loss

- debt - derivative
portion portion Total

RARE

rEE TARSEH
BAG R THEE

ol A=K — 574
—E¥H 0 T A% Pkl
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FH T FHET FE T
At 1 January 2019 R=-Z—hE—HA—H 177,565 13,500 191,065
Issuance of convertible bonds BITAIMRES - - -
Loss/(Gain) on redemption fEEEE, (es) 15,309 (14,328) 981
Interest expense FMERX 12,633 - 12,633
Interest payment FERT K (5,507) - (5,507)
Principal repayment BEXRS (200,000) - (200,000)
Amortisation of deferred losses on #3284 4 1T &5 38 1 8
conversion component (Note 6)  (#1716) - 828 828

At 31 December 2019 R-ZZB-—NAE+=A=+—H - - -
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23 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 23 TRRES (F)
Financial
Financial liabilities at
liabilities at fair value
amortised through
cost  profit or loss
—debt  —derivative
portion portion Total
BARE

mEE  STAREN
AT E TRAE

MNe@asE —$T5
— BB TEZH FEk )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2018 R=2-NF—-—HF—H - - -
Issuance of convertible bonds EITRAMRIRE S 181,815 42,040 223,855
Deferred losses upon issuance BTRIEEESE (19,375) (4,480) (23,855)
Fair value gain recognized (Note 6) B HER A i B = (A7:26) - (26,042) (26,042)
Interest expense MEMRE 28,399 - 28,399
Interest payment IESKREAN (13,274) = (13,274)

Amortisation of deferred losses on &5 1 3B {7 I T &5 18 14 55

conversion component (Note 6)  (#7:£6) = 1,982 1,982
At 31 December 2018 R-ZZE-—N\FE+=ZHA=+—H 177,565 13,500 191,065

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED —%&— JUEAER
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24 SHARE CAPITAL 24 BRI

Number of Issued
shares share
in issue capital
ERTHROAHE CERITERE
HK$'000
FET

As at 1 January 2018 and RZE-—NF—H—BHK
31 December 2018 —E-NFE+-_A=+—H 2,033,290,000 20,333
As at 1 January 2019 R-—ZE—-NhF—HB—H 2,033,290,000 20,333
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE—h&F+=-A=+—H 2,033,290,000 20,333

25 RESERVES 25 EXRREE

Reserves includes capital reserves which represents the AP IEENEERE - FECLSA Premium
difference between the book value of the net assets of CLSA New Zealand Limited (BT #KVB Kunlun
Premium New Zealand Limited (Formerly known as KVB New Zealand Limited ) * CLSA Premium
Kunlun New Zealand Limited), CLSA Premium Pty Limited Pty Limited (] #8KVB Kunlun Pty
(Formerly known as KVB Kunlun Pty Limited) and CLSA Limited ) X CLSA Premium International
Premium International (HK) Limited (Formerly known as KVB (HK) Limited (AT B 2 m B (B88) AR
Kunlun International (HK) Limited) over the par value of the AR EEFERKRMEESLXL Capital
shares issued by LXL Capital Il Limited, LXL Capital Il Limited Il Limited - LXL Capital Ill Limited }&2LXL
and LXL Capital IV Limited in exchange for these subsidiaries Capital IV LimitedtE R —F — _F K
as part of the reorganisation completed in 2012, M EAE 2D A UARMZEN B A 7 &

THRNEENERE -
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26 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 26 Bt EEEFfiELEBEIHE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities, REFmEETHAGENES (BEES R
including both cash and non-cash changes are as follows: JEIR S EE)) FHY WO :
Finance
leases Finance
due within leases due  Convertible  Interest
1 year after 1 year bonds payable Other Total

R-FREH R-FRIH
ZHMERE ZREEE TRREZ EANR Hit st

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TR THT THEr T#Ex TEx THEx
At 1 January 2019 R-E-N&E-5—H 42 146 191,065 5,835 - 197,088
Lease Liabilities for EREBMEHREER
adoption of HKFRS 16 F16h 2 HERE 11,292 22,164 - - - 33456
Changes from financing REEEREHEDH .
cash flow:
Repayment of finance BEREMSERE
lease obligations (572) (11,679) - - - (12,251)
Redemption of convertible BB Al &Mk &%
bonds - - (200,000) - - (200,000)
Interest paid BRFIE - - (5,507)  (5,868) - (11,379
Interest payable 1T FIE - - - - - -
Addition iz % 92 - - - 186
Exchange adjustments EXAE (1) (48) - - - (49)
Other changes: Hit 2% :
Reclassification upon HERERENSE
disposal of hire purchase 144 (144) - - - -
Interest expenses HMER% 719 - 12,633 33 - 13,385
Fair value gain on the ARESRARTH f—
embedded portion of the Z AR ENE z
convertible bonds - - - - - - ELV
Loss on redemption of the ~ J& Bl AT #A (& % L
convertible bonds ZE#E - - 981 - - 981 é
Amortisation of the deferred ATk fE55E B3 ;
losses on conversion ZETEEERH 2
component of the %
convertible bonds - - 828 - - 828 E
At 31 December 2019 RZZB-1F
+=A=+-8 11,718 10,531 - - - 22249
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26 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued)

26 RMETEMELEEZHER(E)

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Finance
leases Finance
due within leases due  Convertible  Interest
1 year after 1 year bonds  payable Other Total
R—ERIE  R—FRIH
JHEME  CRENE TBRESF EAME Hit @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
THET TET TExr FExX  FTEx  TE=x
At 1 January 2018 R-Z-NF-A—-H 47 205 - - - 252
Changes from financing ~ BEFHEER
cash flow: 25 :
Repayment of finance BEMBERERE
lease obligations (12) (42) - - - (54)
Issuance of convertible ErmkES
bonds - - 200,000 - - 200,000
Interest paid ERFE - - (7,439) - (29)  (7.468)
Interest payable JERTFILE - - (5,835) 5,835 - -
Exchange adjustments ERAZE (4) (17) - = = (21)
Other changes: Hit2g :
Interest expenses FIBFX 11 = 28,399 = 29 28439
Fair value gain on the ARREFRAR
embedded portionof the ~ #3 2 A A B
convertible bonds - - (26,042) - - (26,042)
Amortisation of the deferred [ R B4 E I {7
losses on conversion ZIEEE R
component of the
convertible bonds - - 1,982 - - 1,982
At 31 December 2018 RZB-NF
+=A=+-H 42 146 191,065 5,835 - 197,088
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27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME 27 BEBRESTE

On 19 August 2015, the Board of Directors of the Company
granted 40,000,000 share options to 95 individuals
(“Grantees”) for their subscription of new ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company.

These share options are exercisable at HK$0.95 per share,
with varying vesting period and validity from the date of grant.
35 out of 95 of the Grantees were granted share options
which are exercisable for a period of three years commencing
on the date of grant to 18 August 2018. 12 out of 95 of the
Grantees were granted share options which are exercisable
for a period of three years commencing on the date falling on
the first anniversary of the date of grant to 18 August 2018,
with a vesting period of one year from the date of grant.
The remaining 48 Grantees were granted options which are
exercisable for a period of two years commencing on the
date falling on the second anniversary of the date of grant to
18 August 2018, with a vesting period of two years from the
date of grant. Among the 40,000,000 share options granted,
12,200,000 share options were granted to the directors and
chief executives of the Company.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

RZZE—RAFNATNE XAREFE
m95% A= ([ ##H A ) £ H40,000,00013
R - HESERBAQARBRATSRE
BEO0.01 B T FT L @A% -

ZEEREIREIRRMD0.95B T ER
FLAITE - BIRE AR NEEBESERE
WHEAE Rl o O5 R IER AR HISSBER ANE
BTN EE AR E_E—N\F/\A
+NBAEIE=F 2 BMRTTE Z BRE -
BEHERAFTRI2BERAER TR
BREAH—BFEHRBRHE_S—\FN
A+ N\BAILE=F2HEATTEZER
- REEABRERLBEBR—F - 88T
A8HER NER TR RE L A ARBAFE
BRsZ2=—F— N \FNA+\BAELRF
< BRI 2 ERE - BEAARR TN
HEIRRET R F - B 1 #940,000,00017 i&
Rt  RARESREZTHRABER
12,200,0001% H# A% # -

AREEYWEERNIETE AR SERIH
MEERERRE -

- JUARAE R

e
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27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 27 BBIRFESTEI (&)

MARITEH BRI E Z2FHMT -

Movements in the number of share options outstanding are as

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019

follows:
Outstanding Outstanding
asat Granted Forfeited Exercised asat
31 December during during during 31 December  Exercise
Grantee Date of grant 2018 the year the year the year 2019 price  Exercise period
R-B-NE RoE-NF
tZA=+-8 RER tZR=1-A
.3 IN RiiAH WATE  RERER fRK  RERGE WATE  TEE RER
HKS
BT
Liu Stefan 19 August 2015 - - - - - 0.95 19 August 2015 to
18 August 2018
e “E-1EN\ATHE “E-1EN\ATAE
EIE-N\E
NATIR
Huang Songyuan 19 August 2015 - - - - - 0.95 19 August 201510
18 August 2018
RIER “E-1EN\ATHE “E-1EN\ATHE
EIE-N\F
NATIR
Wong Yiu Kit Emest 19 August 2015 250,000 - (250,000) - - 0.95 19 August 2017 o
18 August 2019
BRE “E-1ENATAE “EENATAE
EIENE
NATIA
Stephen Gregory McCoy 19 August 2015 - - - - - 0.95 19 August 2015 to
18 August 2018
Stephen Gregory McCoy “Z-RENAthE ZE-RENATAA
EIE-N\F
NATIR
Zhao Guixin 19 August 2015 - - - - - 0.95 19 August 201510
18 August 2018
il “2-1E/\ATAA “2-1E/\ATAA
EIE-N\F
NATIR
Corenlis Jacobus Keyser 19 August 2015 - - - - - 0.95 19 August 201510
18 August 2018
Corenlis Jacobus Keyser ZE-RENATAA ZE-RENATAA
EIE)\E
NA+TIR
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27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Grantee

BRA

Outstanding

asat

31 December

Date of grant 2018
RZB-N\§

TZA=t-H

RiLEH WA

Granted
during
the year

RERRH

27 BRESTE (E)

Forfeited
during
the year

RER
BRY

Exercised
during
the year

RERTRE

Outstanding
asat

31 December
2019
RZB-hE
tZR=1-H
HRTE

Exercise
price

kg
HKS
A

Exercise period

fiEnE

Lin Wenhui

iy

Employees of Group companies

SELNARSE

Employees of Group companies

SELARSR

Employees of Group companies

SELNARR

Consultants

R

Consultants

B

19 August 2015 -

“E-RE\ATAR

19 August 2015 -

“E-RE\ATNE

19 August 2015 1,000,000

“E-RF\ATNR

19 August 2015 3,450,000

“E-REN\ATNR

19 August 2015 350,000

“5-RF\ATNA

19 August 2015 400,000

“E-RFN\ATNR

(1,000,000)

(3.450,000)

(350,000)

(400,000)

0.95

0.95

0.95

0.95

0.95

0.95

19 August 2015 1o
18 August 2018
ZE-1FN\ATAE
EIE-)\E
NRTIA

19 August 2015 to
18 August 2018
ZE-1FN\ATHE
E2E-)\E
NRTIR

19 August 2016 to
18 August 2019
“E-RENATAR
EIE-NE
MNATIR

19 August 2018 to
18 August 2019
“E-N\ENATAE
FIE-NE
NRTIR

19 August 2016 to
18 August 2019
“E-RENATAR
FIE-NE
MNATIR

19 August 2017 to
18 August 2019
“E-tENATAA
FIE-NE
NATIR

5,450,000

(5,450,000)
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27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used to estimate
the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions
used in computing the fair value of the share options are based
on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies
with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.
Details of the share options granted on 19 August 2015 were
as follows:

Weighted average share option HK$0.3133
price at the grant date:

Risk free interest rate: 0.821%
Expected volatility: 59.08%
Expected dividend yield: 1.63%

Expected exercise multiple: Directors: 2.8x exercise price

Others: 2.2x exercise price

The measurement date of the share options was 19 August
2015, being the date of grant of the share options. The
expected dividend yield is determined with reference to
historical dividend payment history of comparable listed
companies up to the measurement date. The expected
volatility of share price is determined with reference to
annualised historical weekly volatility of comparable listed
companies’ share prices as of the valuation date, as extracted
from Bloomberg.

No share option expenses (2018: Nil) were recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the
current period.

27 BRESTE (E)

ZIE R HARE e B AR RN LA T R A
WARE - sTEBREARBEMANEE
RBREDEREENREMET - BIREE
B L EBBROZETRmMEL - R
ZE-RAFNATNBEEERENFF
BT

B B B N 0.3133/ 7

T EREEE
BRI 0.821%
EERIE 59.08%
BHRREE 1.63%
TEHTTEEE B /(B8

Hith : 176 E2.21%

ERENTTEAMA-T—AFNAAT
B B EEREN B - FEHIREERT)
SEA B T AR EEFEHHNBG
ER BRI MEEE o IRE H T BB 18
2ERBAZENA B LR ET AR
BHENE AN FRECOBESBRIEM
EE -

AR ARG 2 1 W s 3R I S A R P A
X (ZZ—N\F: H&) -
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27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

On 29 December 2016, the Board of Directors of the
Company granted 40,000,000 share options to 95 individuals
(“Grantees”) for their subscription of new ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company.

These share options are exercisable at HK$0.592 per share,
with varying vesting period and validity from the date of grant.
37 out of 95 of the Grantees were granted share options which
are exercisable for a period of three years commencing on
the date of grant to 28 December 2019. 9 out of 95 of the
Grantees were granted share options which are exercisable
for a period of three years commencing on the date falling
on the first anniversary of the date of grant to 28 December
2020, with a vesting period of one year from the date of grant.
The remaining 49 Grantees were granted options which are
exercisable for a period of two years commencing on the date
falling on the second anniversary of the date of grant to 28
December 2020, with a vesting period of two years from the
date of grant. Among the 40,000,000 share options granted,
11,750,000 share options were granted to the directors and
chief executives of the Company.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

27 BRESTE (E)

RZEBE—-—NRE+_A=-_+HALA XA
RIEEgMBE AL ([ERAD KT
40,000,00017 fE Az #E - S RBEARAQF]
f% 2N FB B AR E{EO.0 1/ T A 3T 3B AR -

ZEBREAIRSRRM0.592 LA B
WFUATE - BT AT EEE R
BRUEAB R - 5B ER AR BIS7THERA
EETAIRELBBETE S —NF
T+ A+ N\BAL=ZFEZHERITEZ
FEARHE - 5B ER AP 9L ER AR
TR RIRE B —BFEBREFE_Z
—EF+ A=+ NHAEIL=ZFZHH
AT 2 B - BREERBX L A HE
FF—F c BT AR ERAER TR L
BHMBEFE AR EZE_ZE_F+=
AZ+NBAILMFE ZEHERNITEZE
[ - FEEABRRE BHEAME -2
# 5 #940,000,00017 iE iR+ - N A FE
EREETHRABERK11,750,00017 8 i
HE o

AREEYWEERHIETE AR SERH
MEERERRE -
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27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Movements in the number of share options outstanding are as

27 BRESTE ()
MARITEH BRI E Z2FHMT -

follows:
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted  Forfeited  Exercised asat
31 December during during during 31 December Exercise
Grantee Date of grant 2018  theyear  theyear  theyear 2019 price  Exercise period
RIB-N§ RZB-1E
tZA=t-H RER RER RER TZB=1-H
ERA REAH R R ik e HAME KR RS
HK$
BT
Liu Stefan 29 December 2016 8,000,000 - (8000,000) - - 0592 29 December 2016 to
28 December 2019
£l IRk “E-AETZBE-fARE
tZAZthH ZE-NFtZAZTI\A
Huang Songyuan 29 December 2016 3,050,000 - (3,050,000) - - 0592 29 December 2016 to
28 December 2019
EIER IRk “EE+ZAZTNRE
tZAZthH ZE-AFtZEZT/\R
Wong Yiu Kit Emest 29 December 2016 250,000 - - - 250,000 0592 29 December 2018 to
28 December 2020
B IRk “E-\Ft-E-fhRZE
tZAZthH ZE2CRETCAZTIR
Stephen Gregory McCoy 29 December 2016 1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - - 0592 29 December 2016 to
28 December 2019
Stephen Gregory McCoy “EE Z5-AETZRZTNRE
TZAZThE ZE-NETZAZTI\R
Zhao Guixin 29 December 2016 300,000 - (300,000) - - 0592 29 December 2016 to
28 December 2019
i I S ZE-EtZAZTNRE
TZAZthH ZE-AETZRZTIA
Corenlis Jacobus Keyser 29 December 2016 300,000 - (300,000) - - 0592 29 December 2016 to
28 December 2019
Corenlis Jacobus Keyser ZEE ZE-ETZRZTNRE
TZAZt+hH ZE-AFtZAZTI\A
Lin Wenhui 29 December 2016 300,000 - (300,000) - - 0592 29 December 2016 to
28 December 2019
g It S ZE-NETZAZTARE
TZAZthH ZE-AFtZAZTN\A
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27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 27 BRESTE(2)
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted  Forfeited  Exercised asat
31 December during during during  31December  Exercise
Grantee Date of grant 2018 the year theyear  the year 2019 price  Exercise period
RZB-NE RZB-0E
t-B=1-R RER RER RER tZR=1-8
ERA RiLEH HATE i HEk i HAE KR TEEE
HKS
AT
Employees of Group companies 29 December 2016 15,200,000 - (15,200,000) - - 0592 29 December 2016 to
28 December 2019
EELAES ZEE “E- EtZRZTNRE
tZAZthH ZE-NFTZRAZTIE
Employees of Group companies 29 December 2016 900,000 - (250,000) - 650,000 0.592 29 December 2017 to
28 December 2020
SERTER ZEE “F-tE+-RZfNRE
TZAZThE “ECRETCRCTIE
Employees of Group companies 29 December 2016 5,150,000 - (1,850,000) - 3,300,000 0.592 29 December 2018 to
28 December 2020
RERAES ZEE “E-\E+-A-TNRE
TZAZThE ZECRETRCTIA
Consultants 29 December 2016 400,000 - (50,000) - 350,000 0592 29 December 2017 to
28 December 2020
B 20k “E—{E+-B-TARE
tZAZthH “ECRETRCTIA
Consultants 29 December 2016 100,000 - - - 100,000 0592 29 December 2018 to
28 December 2020
B IERF ZE-N\EtZA=TNBE
tZAZthA ZECRET-ACTIA

34,950,000 - (30,300,000) = 4,650,000

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED —%&— JUEAER
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27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used to estimate
the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions
used in computing the fair value of the share options are based
on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies
with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.
Details of the share options granted on 29 December 2016
were as follows:

Weighted average share option

price at the grant date: HK$0.2385
Risk free interest rate: 1.443%
Expected volatility: 70.97%
Expected dividend yield: 0%

Expected exercise multiple: Directors: 2.8x exercise price

Others: 2.2x exercise price

The measurement date of the share options was 29 December
2016, being the date of grant of the share options. The
expected dividend yield is determined with reference to
historical dividend payment history of comparable listed
companies up to the measurement date. The expected
volatility of share price is determined with reference to
annualised historical weekly volatility of comparable listed
companies’ share prices as of the valuation date, as extracted
from Bloomberg.

No share option expenses (2018: HK$424,000) were
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income during the current year.

27 BRESTE (E)

— 1Az B T B AR T BR A DA (i 51 BB A e
MWAARE - FHEBREA S EMARER
MERBEIDEREZENREM - BIEE
EB&E%%IEW“” H%ﬁl?ﬂﬁ’ﬁmft S
HEFIBT ¢

B B B N

T RAREER 0.2385% 7T

Rk F % 1.443%

EERIE 70.97%
BHRREE 0%
TEHTTEEE BF 7P E2.8(5

Hiy - {7EE2.21%

BREMNTTEA8A=-ZZE—"F+=A
ZH8 - B EERER B E - TEEIRR
BRDNSEAEUR T AREEFE2AR
HIR)IBERR BT FRECERMEE T - ARE M TE
HEE2ERaegENrEERETA
AIMBREEEFHBAENFE/BTEA
B IR E o

REFZWEPGE 2 E RS RERTME
REHERE Sz (== — )\ : 424,000/ 7T) °
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27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

On 22 March 2018, the Board of Directors of the Company
granted 40,000,000 share options to 82 individuals
(“Grantees”) for their subscription of new ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company.

These share options are exercisable at HK$0.495 per share,
with varying vesting period and validity from the date of grant.
37 out of 82 of the Grantees were granted share options
which are exercisable for a period of three years commencing
on the date of grant to 21 March 2021. 11 out of 82 of the
Grantees were granted share options which are exercisable
for a period of three years commencing on the date falling
on the first anniversary of the date of grant to 21 March 2022,
with a vesting period of one year from the date of grant.
The remaining 34 Grantees were granted options which are
exercisable for a period of two years commencing on the
date falling on the second anniversary of the date of grant to
21 March 2022, with a vesting period of two years from the
date of grant. Among the 40,000,000 share options granted,
12,200,000 share options were granted to the directors and
chief executives of the Company.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

27 BRESTE (E)

RZZE—N\F=ZA=Z+=H xR FEE
eme24 At ([ A ) 140,000,000
B - R EREARQRIRAP TR
HEEC.OE LM L @A -

ZEBREAIRTRRM0.4958 LA (B
WFUAITE - BRE BB EBEE R
BHEAE R - 82ZER AR RISTHBER A
ERTIRRHABEtE T - —F=
AZ+—HBAIE=F 2 BHRNITEER
WE o 2B ER AT BZERARE T
REEE—AFERBHE_F =

ZA-t+—BAL=FHERTEZE
[ - BREBE AR BRI —F - &
T34Z R NER T A AR B HIRE F
ERRE_E_—_F=ZA=-+—HAI
M 2 AR RTTE 2 BRI - SR B R
& B HRRET RS o B 9% #940,000,000
MERES RAFRIZESFTREZTHRA
B 1% 12,200,00017 & IEAE -

AREEYWEERHIETE AR SERH
MEERERRE -
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27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 27 EBRESTE ()
Movements in the number of share options outstanding are as MARTTEBIRES B E8hanT -
follows:
Outstanding Outstanding
asat  Granted  Forfeited  Exercised as at
31 December during during during 31 December Exercise
Grantee Date of grant 2018  theyear  theyear  theyear 2019 price  Exercise period
RZB-N§ R=B-1%
) ) tZBZ1-B  RER  REA  WER tIRSt-R
ERA RiLAH HATE i HRk % HATE ﬁﬁg i
i
Liu Stefan 22 March 2018 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 0495 22 March 2018 to
21 March 2021
e “2-N\% Z3-\§=f-+2A%
ZA=tZA ZEC-FZACT-A
Huang Songyuan 22 March 2018 3,800,000 - - - 3,800,000 0495 22 March 2018 10
. 21 March 2021
RER “F-NE ZB-\EZA-tZHZ
ZAZtZH Z5T-E-fZ1-A
Wong Yiu Kit Ermest 22 March 2018 1,550,000 - - - 1,550,000 049 22 March 2018 to
. 21 March 2021
aER 20 TR \FZACToEE
=A=tzH ZEZ-FZR-1-H
Stephen Gregory McCoy 22 March 2018 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 0495 22 March 2018 10
21 March 2021
Stephen Gregory McCoy I Sl Z5-\E=A-fZRE
Zh=t+zH ik Jnl S
Zhao Guixin 22 March 2018 400,000 - - - 400,000 049 22 March 2018to
) 21 March 2021
BEZ Z3-)\E P \F-A-t-RE
=R-tZH ZEC-FZAZt-A
Corenlis Jacobus Keyser 22 March 2018 400,000 - - - 400,000 0495 22 March 2018 to
21 March 2021
Corenlis Jacobus Keyser ZE-0\% “5-\fzA-f-RHZE
=A=+ZH ZEC-FZAZ1-A
Lin Wenhui 22 March 2018 400,000 - - - 400,000 049 22 March 2018 to
. 21 March 2021
HE “E-0\F “2-\$=R-12R%
ZA=+ZH ZEC-FZAC1-A
Employees of Group companies 22 March 2018 12,800,000 - (1,300,000) - 11,500,000 0495 22 March 2018 10
_ 21 March 2021
SELTES —F0F Z2-\§ZA-t_RZ
) ZAztoE e
S Employees of Group companies 22 March 2018 1,900,000 - (250,000) - 1,650,000 0495 22March 201910
& _ 21 March 2022
= £B7758 “3-)\f E-NE=f=1-RE
5 =R=tZH :i::i R=t-A
2 Employees of Group companies 22 March 2018 4,900,000 - (26650,000) - 2,250,000 0,49 22 March 2020 to
Z 21 March 2022
a SEARER I Sl :E_gﬁ_ﬁ_tﬁi
= =A-1ZH “Z-"f-B-1-H
% Consultants 22 March 2018 550,000 - - - 550,000 0.495 22 March 201910
s 21 March 2022
= B I Sit3 ZE-NE-A-T-RE
= =A=tH “Z-"F-B-1-H
; 37,700,000 - (4200,000) - 33,500,000
O
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27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used to estimate
the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions used
in computing the fair value of the share options are based on
the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions. Details of
the share options granted on 22 March 2019 were as follows:

Weighted average share option

price at the grant date: HK$0.1735
Risk free interest rate: 1.668%
Expected volatility: 56.39%
Expected dividend yield: 0%

Expected exercise multiple: Directors: 2.8x exercise price

Others: 2.2x exercise price

The measurement date of the share options was 22 March
2018, being the date of grant of the share options. The
expected dividend yield is determined with reference to
historical dividend payment history of comparable listed
companies up to the measurement date. The expected
volatility of share price is determined with reference to
annualised historical weekly volatility of comparable listed
companies’ share prices as of the valuation date, as extracted
from Bloomberg.

A total of HK$566,000 (2018: HK$5,951,000) share option
expenses were recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the current period.

27 BRESTE (E)

— IR HIRE T E R SR A LA (A R B IO
MARE - FFEBREAEMMANER
MEBERIIEREFNREM - BIREE
ERER LT BRENEHTRMEL - 1
TE-NF=ZA ST - AREBRED

BT

R B B N

FHERERR 0.1735% 7T

[ B ) & - 1.668%

TEHRIE - 56.39%

EHREE 0%
EHITERE BF T (E2.815

HAh - 7{E{B2.2fF

BEBRENGTEEI®HA-Z—N\F=A

—+=A - AR ERES B - TRRIA
BERDZERANELR LT AREEZFER
BB ER SRS METE - BRERTE
HEE2EHEazEmA iR EmA
AR EHENE AN FREICEESE
IR ETE ©

AEB R A 2 RS R ER B E
B s & H A566,00008 T (Z & — /L4 -
5,951,000/ 7T ) °
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28 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 28 AATRIZHMBRARKRRBEEEE
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
Statement of Financial Position of the Company RAT ZBBARR T
As at 31 December
R+=—RA=+—8
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZE—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
ASSET BE
Non-current asset EREBEE
Investment in subsidiaries (Note 30) RMBRF Z&E& (#/7230) 176,061 160,461
Total non-current asset FRBEELE 176,061 160,461
Current assets REEE
Cash and bank balances IR& MIRTT4 64 134,824 359,908
Amounts due from subsidiaries RN E NG 67,327 67,426
Prepayments and other receivables TE AT 3R I8 B A b FE R IE 821 721
Totalcurrentassets _________________ RBEER&E . 202,972 - 428,055
Total assets EEHE 379,033 588,516
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EzkEaEd
Share capital il 20,333 20,333
Reserves (Note (a)) s (At @) 183,530 202,693
Retained earnings REB & F 154,226 165,842
Total equity REZSHAER 358,089 388,868
Non-current liability ERBEE
Convertible bonds AR E 5 - 191,065
Total non-current liability FRBEEEE - 191,065
_ Current liabilities b =K
S Amounts due to subsidiaries AR NGIE 113 69
g Other payables and accrued liabilities £ b &~ 7008 K fE =1 B & 20,831 8,514
& Total current liabilites_____________#‘BEEGEME®| 20944 8583
Z
Z
- Total liabilities BEAE 20,944 199,648
=
= Total equity and liabilities HEZRARE 379,033 588,516
= The Statement of Financial Position of the Company was RARIEMRAREERTEN T _TF
& approved by the Board of Directors on 24 April 2020 and was WMA-+WBEALETHUN TEERAEER
= signed on its behalf. =,
)
Yuen Feng Wu Fei

RIE R
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28 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 28 ARRZHBERAKRRBEES (Z)
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
Statement of Financial Position of the Company AT ZHBERREK (&)
(continued)
Note (a) — Reserves movement of the Company izF(a)— AR B 2 HEEH
Retained
Reserves earnings
f®E REBEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

As at 1 January 2018 R=-—ZE—N\E—H—H 199,329 182,635
Loss for the year FEEHE - (19,804)
Share option scheme BEIRHE=T 2 3,364 3,011
As at 31 December 2018 NR-—=ZE—NEFE+_-_HA=+—H 202,693 165,842
As at 1 January 2019 N=-TE—hhE—HA—H 202,693 165,842
Loss for the year FEEE - (31,019)
Share option scheme BEPIR HE=T 2 (19,163) 19,403
As at 31 December 2019 NR-—ZE—HhEFE+=-_A=+—8H 183,530 154,226

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED —%&— JUEAER
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29 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S 29 EENSREEENHE

EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEMS
Emoluments paid/payable to the directors of the REEBHEZ-_ZE—NWFEER_ZT—N\F
Company by the Group during the years ended 31 +TZA=T—HIEFERARAES
December 2019 and 2018. SRS o
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE—_Z-NF+-A=+—HLHF
=
Employer's Estimated
Salary  contribution Discretionary value of other
Director and  topension honuses henefits
Name of director ESf? fee  commission scheme (Note (b)) (Note (a)) Total
R BRI
HeR  EiEfe Mgk B
EShe e HE [ (Wit (i) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThER THER THER THEn TR THR
Executive Directors #i7Es.
M. Yuan Feng (Appointed on 27 June 2019) ~ RIE%4 (M=F-h &
RAZTTEEZRE) 123 576 - - - 699
Mr. Wu Fei (Appointed on 05 November 2019)  RR%4 (M -F-1%
+-BRREZM) 1} - - - - 3
Mr. Liu Stefan (Resigned on 29 July 2019) AL (R-E-n&
tAZTNRRE) 139 1,864 11 4,900 - 6,914
Mr. Huang Songyuan FERLE(RZE-NE
(Resigned on 29 July 2019) tAZThBEE) 268 459 - 2872 - 3,599
M. Wong Yiu Kit Erest BRRRE (R -B-NE
(Resigned on 16 August 2019) NATRBEE) 151 760 12 680 - 1,603
Non-executive Directors: F4nEs:
Mr. Li Jiong R4 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy Stephen Gregory McCoyt £ 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Xu Jiangjang TRRE 120 - - - - 120

Independent Non-executive Directors: BUFHTES.
Mr. Wu Jian Feng (Appointed on 27 June 2019) E&I25%4 (R=2—1&E

NAZTLREZRE) 123 - - - - 123
Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield Christopher Wesley

(Appointed on 27 Jung 2019) Satterfield t &
a (R=F-NERRA
. “TREZRH) 123 - - - - 123
o Ms. Hu Zhaoxia (Appointed on 27 June 2019) B L (R-E-NF
Z AAZTLRERE) 123 - - - - 123
< Mr. Jin Shao liang (Appointed on 27 June 2019) £&R%EA (R=Z—1 5
Z ARZTHEEZRH) 123 - - - - 123
- Ms. Zhao Guixin (Resigned on 27 June 2019)  #HEZ R+ (R-F-15
= AAZHEEEE) 118 - - - ; 18
S Mr. Comnelis Jacobus Keyser Cormelis Jacobus Keyser’t £
= (Resigned on 27 June 2019) (RZE-hE
5 AAZTHREE) 118 - - - ] 118
S Mr. Lin Wenhui (Resigned on 27 June 2019) ~ MXUBEAE (=15
Z AAZTEERE) 118 - - - - 118
§,
O

1,924 3,659 23 8,452 14,058
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29 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S 29 EEREREEEBNMS (&)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—FT—N\F+-_A=+—HIHF

4

Employer's Estimated
Salary  confrbution  Discretionary  value of other
Director and to pension bonuses benefits
Name of director EBfg fee  commission scheme (Note (b)) (Note (a)) Total
il
BeRh EIghe e ft3HER
XS e BET5 (i) (ie)) 3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000
Tt T T T T Fitn
Executive Directors: HiEE:
Mr. Liu Stefan eyt 484 2970 18 2918 1854 28244
Mr. Huang Songyuan EERTERZE-NE
(Appointed on 21 May 2018) BAZ+-BEZH) 391 814 - 8492 637 10,334
Mr. Wong Yiu Kit Ernest ERERE(RZE-N\F
(Appainted on 21 May 2018) RR-T-BEZf) 147 975 18 11,126 260 12,526
Non-executive Directors: FHIES:
Mr. Li Zni Da (Retired on 21 May 2018) FEEERZE-N\E
RAZT-REf) 4 - - - - 4
Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy Stephen Gregory McCoy’t £ 120 - 31 324 185 660
M. Li Jiong (Appointed on 21 May 2018) FREERZZ-NE
RA-T-BEZH) 74 - - - - 74
Mr. Xu Jiangjang (Appointed on 21 May 2018)  FFR# %4 (R-2—N\&
RAZT-HEZA) 74 - - - - 74
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUENTES:
Ms. Zhao Guixin HEELT 240 - - - 74 314
Mr. Cornelis Jacobus Keyser Comelis Jacabus Keyserst £ 240 - - - 74 314
M. Lin Wenhui R EE 240 - - - 74 314
2,057 4759 67 42860 3,158 52901

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED —%&— JUEAER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

184 b oo T 4 5 R 3

29 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S 29 EEREREEEBNMS (&)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEM< (&)

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, HE_Z—NER-_FT—N\F+=-A

no directors of the Group waived any emoluments and =+—HULEFE BMEAEEEEN

no emolument was paid to any of the directors as an EEAME  BEAREBEWESZNNE

inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as FEMRES EAIMAKREBI A

compensation for loss of office. R BN s E AR E -

Note (a): Other benefits are share options. Kiit(a) - EAhiaF) AR HE -

Note (b): Certain executive directors of the Company are BiaEb) - RARETFTHRITEE=ZARE
entitled to discretionary bonus payments which are TEALRIE  BRAKIETI2EF
determined with reference to the Group’s operating NAREBRCERESE EEW
results, individual performance of the directors and BMARBEBBHIZFTER
relevant market statistics during the year. METE °

2019 2018
—EB-NEF —ZE-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Emoluments paid or receivable in REARHRETEZS (TR
respect of a person’s services as a EATNENBAT) &
director, whether of the company BR 75 1 B 15 sk FE UK O B
or its subsidiary undertaking 1,924 2,057
Emoluments paid or receivable in MEFRHEELQFINE
respect of director’s other services bt /B A R = E A HE b AR

in connection with the management i B2 45 2k U A9 Bl <&
of the affairs of the company or its
subsidiary undertaking 12,134 50,844

14,058 52,901

0019

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT
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29 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S 29 EEREREEEBNMS (&)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EEBESFAL

The five highest paid employees during the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 included three and two
directors respectively, details of whose remuneration are
set out in Note 29 (a) above. Details of the remuneration
of the remaining non-directors, highest paid employees
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are
as follows:

HE—_TZ—NFER-_FT—N\F+_A
=+—BULtFE IEmaFHEESD
FIBRE=ZAEMEES ESHE
R EXHIEE29 (a) c EfpIEE =&
SEHERERBE_ZE—NLFER_-ZF
—N\F+_A=+—HILFENHS
BT

2019 2018

—E-hF  —F)N\F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET TFHT

Salary and commission HekEse 1,097 1,896
Employer’s contribution to B ERAKRSFEIHK

pension scheme 15 35

Discretionary bonuses BIISIE 4L 1,443 3,954

2,655 5,885

No emoluments have been paid to these individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

The emoluments of the highest-paid individuals of the
Group other than the directors fall within the following
bands:

EE-NEFR_T-N\F+A
=t+—HIFE #$ERZFEALX
B2 VE 7 DA S 5= [ D0 A By B 28
Bhek (E S RER A (E -

REBEZRSFHAL (BREEIN) B9F M
BRLAT#EE

2019 2018
—EB-hEFE ZZN\F
Emolument bands = B & i
— HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 — 078702 1,000,000 7T - =
— HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 — 1,000,001/ 7t 2
1,500,000/ 7T 2 =

— HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

— 1,500,001 & L%

2,000,0007% 7T

— HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

— 2,500,001 T E

3,000,0007% 7

— HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

— 3,000,001 T E

3,500,000/% 7T

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED —%&— JUEAER
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30 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 30 AMBEARIZIRE
As at 31 December 2019, the Company had direct and indirect RN-_FE—hhE+_HA=+—8 ' &x27RN
interests in the following subsidiaries: THMBATIESBEE REERER
Particulars
of issued Equity
Place of incorporation Principal activities share capital/ interest
Company name and kind of legal entity and place of operation paid-in capital held
BRfIRE/
DAER SRR EREEERER TEEBRBEHY BRRAHE HEORE
LXL Capital | Limited " British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Islands US$700 100%
Limited liability company (direct)
LXL Capital | Limited #%7 KERAHS BREALT RERR RBRLES 70057t 100%
(B#)
CLSA Premium New Zealand Limited New Zealand, Provision of leveraged foreign exchange NZ$34,466,551 100%
(Formerly known as KVB Kunlun New Limited liability company and other trading services, New (indirect)
Zealand Limited) Zealand
CLSA Premium New Zealand Limited ~ A%H - ERET AR REERNERAMR 5RE - 34,466,551 AT 100%
(RITKVB Kunlun New Zealand Limited) #ER (A%)
KVB Kunlun Securities (NZ) Limited New Zealand, Provision of securities brokerage, New NZ$1,000,000 100%
Limited liability company Zealand (indirect)
KVB Kunlun Securities (NZ) Limited ArE - BREARR RUFHLL  AFH 1,000,000 f T 100%
it3)
CLSA Premium Pty Limited (Formerly Australia, Provision of leveraged foreign exchange AUS$5,664,108 100%
Known as KVB Kunlun Pty Limited) Limited liability company and other trading services, Australia (indirect)
CLSA Premium Pty Limited Bl AREMRA REERANEREMRARE - ZH 5,664,108 7T 100%
(A1FEKVB Kunlun Pty Limited) (M%)
CLSA Premium International (HK) Hong Kong, Provision of management services, HK$100,000,000 100%
Limited (Formerly known as KVB Limited liability company leveraged foreign exchange and other (indirect)
Kunlun International (HK) Limited) trading services, Hong Kong
CLSA Premium International (HK) Limited &7 * BRET A RIULEERE  BRAMER 100,000,000 7 100%
(MBERER (BB BRAR) Bt R 50 - &E (i)
s LXL Capital Il Limited " British Virgin Islands, Limited liability  Investment holding, British Virgin Islands US$400 100%
i company (indirect)
~ LXL Capital II Limited 7 RERIHS BREALF REER RBRLES 400 Tt 100%
()
5
o LXL Capital Ill Limited "1 British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Islands US$400 100%
% Limited liability company (indirect)
= LXL Capital IIl Limited #27 RBRAHE BREEAA REER ABRLES 400 Tt 100%
2 (%)
&
£ LXL Capital IV Limited M British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Islands US$100 100%
5 Limited liability company (indirect)
- LXL Capital IV Limited %% KERAHS BREALF REER RBRLES 100% 7T 100%

(&)
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INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

30 RMEBARZRE (&)

Particulars
of issued Equity
Place of incorporation Principal activities share capital/ interest
Company name and kind of legal entity and place of operation paid-in capital held
ERTRE/
DAER MRS EREEERER TEXBREE Y BRRARE HENRE
LXL Capital VIII Limited "te’ British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Islands US$100 100%
Limited liability company (indirect)
LXL Capital VIl Limited #27 KERAHE BREALF REER ZBRRES 100%7T 100%
(Fi%)
LXL Capital V Limited "’ British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Islands US$100 100%
Limited liability company (indirect)
LXL Capital V Limited 77 KERAHE BREALF REER ZABRRES 100%7T 100%
(Fi%)
LXL Capital IX Limite "’ British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Islands US$100 100%
Limited liability company (indirect)
LXL Capital IX Limited #%7 KERAHE BREALF REER ZBRRES 100%7T 100%
(Ri%)
Yorkastle Capital Limited Hong Kong, Limited liability company  Investment holding, Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100%
(indirect)
BHEAERAT &% ARAELA REER BB 1,000,000/ 7T 100%
(i)
Zhuhai Yi Pu Li Business Consulting People’s Republic of China, Inactive, People’s Republic of China RMB50,000,000 100%
Services Limited"* Limited liability company (indirect)
KB ENBRRARKERAA hEARLAE  EREAAH EEe% hEARLNE ARE 100%
(Formerly known as Zhuhai Henggin 50,000,000 (A#%)

Kunlun Financial Exchange Limited)
(MBREREER
HERZHTLERAA)

Note 1:

No audited financial statements have been prepared as
these companies are incorporated in a jurisdiction which

does not have any statutory audit requirements.

*  For identification only
EHEF

TR

AtaET - BRERE R REEMARCZA RDERE R I
BEMEERZHATE @ B ERRE

187
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31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial
and operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be
related if they are subject to common control.

On 29 January 2015, KVB Kunlun Holdings Limited, the then
controlling shareholder of the Company, and CITIC Securities
entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Share
Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which CITIC Securities has
agreed to acquire 1,200,000 shares of the Company (the “Sale
Shares”) from the controlling shareholder (the “Transaction”).
In accordance with the Share Purchase Agreement, CITIC
Securities has nominated CITIC Securities Overseas to
purchase the full legal and beneficial ownership of the Sales
Share. Subsequent to the completion of the Transaction, KVB
Kunlun Holdings Limited ceased to be the fellow subsidiaries
and are regarded as “other related parties” as they are
controlled by some common key management personnel.

Commencing the year of 2019, management considered
KVB Kunlun Holdings Limited ceased to be a related party of
the Group and therefore no related party transactions were
disclosed.

Zhuhai Yi Pu Li Financial Consulting Limited (“CLSAP
ZHYPL”), entered into a membership agreement with TPME
during the year ended 31 December 2016. Pursuant to the
membership agreement, TPME provides a spot trading
and settlement platform for precious metals trading and the
relevant consulting, training and management services to
CLSAP ZHYPL. TPME is controlled by CITIC Limited, an entity
incorporated in Hong Kong which has significant influence
over CITIC Securities Overseas.

As disclosed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, as a result of the Suspension, the trading right of
TPME was fully impaired as at 31 December 2017.

For the outstanding balance due from or to related parties, net
amount is presented when the Group has a legally enforceable
right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends to settle on
a net basis.

31

BEE RS

i —77 B Re N B R EEIES 5 — e
M REERREH S —HEEERFE
- BHRAEA R - X KRESIE
DINERSREaL

RZE—RF—HAZ+hB  KXAFER
& A% BRKVB Kunlun Holdings Limited &
HFEEARI LR BB i ([ AR ﬁﬁ,jm
F) Bt PIEEFRE IR R
f%1,200,000% A&~ A Bl Ig 15 (T8H & AR5 1)
(IZ5%HE]) - RERNHEEWZ - P&
AFAREEHREAFBINEEHERD
EEEERBERBEE - RTKRH1E
KVB Kunlun Holdings Limited ™~ & R %
a0 Iﬁmﬁrﬁt@ﬁﬁﬂ 7l RER

ﬁ}szIa%?,\IEJE BEIEABIEH o

R-ZTE—-AFHEK B ERARK/KYB
Kunlun Holdings lelted$ﬁﬁ’52!§%.2
REEE 7T - M AR FR R T R

BE_ZT-—XRF+_A=+—RHILFEH
fA * Zhuhai Yi Pu Li Financial Consulting
Limited ([CLSAP ZHYPL |) 82K 2 & 5 &
RGMEILE B S - RIEBEGEHZE - X
2 E S BRFPTACLSAP ZHYPLIR fit —
HEEBREXGREETE - LAKIBE
B WA REBRE c REESBR %
FrEa B ERID AR A TIES - Z A
REBTMAL - %ﬁﬂfﬂ%%ﬁﬁ/%%*ﬁi
REET] -

AR A TS MRS IE - |ARNE
BEIR RRETBIHAZIXZEER
—EFtFt+-_A=+—HR2ERE"

PR BT R D MR EE SRS
ANEEBEAIARFIEIHE R -
WHIR FRREAEGEERE 2 SRFRFE -
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31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 31 BHARS (&)
(@) The Group had the following material transactions with its (a) NEENRFAEEBAIESETNE
related entities during the year: RZZWT :
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
et FHART FHEIT
Transactions with related parties BHLERS
Management fee expenses for the MM T REIZ AT IR AL 7%
provision of financial system services RERTE - ERBE
which include the provision of TEEREERGXE
enterprise resources planning system MEREMY
support to:
— the then immediate holding company ~— — & B E R A 7 (i) - 696
Amount paid for the provision of software [A1JA A &) S < 2 #h 44
development and maintenance R EERY &M
services, IT infrastructure project BIEEZEEERERE
management and maintenance EARTS A SR R R
services and IT risk assessment A R H IR
services to:
— the then other related party —EREMER S (ii) - 32,880
Amount paid for the provision of software LA ™2 7] IR L8
maintenance, upgrade and support HE - AR RITERS
services from: HIKIA -
— the then other related party — & B E A B (iif) - 354
Amount received for the sharing of the ~ [AIMA TN A RIWERE BB A
offices to: ER R ¢
— the then other related parties — & B EL A B (iv) - 1,267
Amount paid for the sharing of the AT AR AR
offices to: ER IR ¢
— the then other related parties — & B EL A B (iv) - 2,741
Cash dealing income for the provision of RIA TR FHREIRER 5
cash dealing services: BR7SWER A9 3R & 2 5 IR #
A &
— the then other related parties — & I H {th B HE 5 (v) - 3,309 T
g
Amounts due from related parties FE L2 B B 5 Y IR ;
2
Balances with related parties: EE A B B T B0 A5 BA =
— Tianjin Precious Metal Exchange —REETBR M =
LN (vi) 559 569 =
2
<
&)
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31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

32

(@) The Group had the following material transactions with its
related entities during the year: (continued)

(b)

Notes:

(@)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Management fee expenses are charged for the provision
of financial system services which include the provision
of enterprise resources planning system support with
reference to the costs incurred.

Amounts are paid for the provision of software development
and maintenance services, IT infrastructure project
management and maintenance services and IT risk
assessment services.

Amounts are paid for the provision of software
maintenance, upgrade and support services based on the
terms on agreement signed between parties.

Amounts are received and paid for the sharing of the
offices based on the agreement signed between patrties.

Cash dealing income is recognised when cash dealing
transactions have been completed by market makers with
reference to prevailing exchange rate.

Deposits placed are unsecured and non-interest bearing.

Key management includes directors (executive & non-
executive) and the remuneration of the key management
personnel of the Group are disclosed in Note 29.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating lease commitments

The Group leases office equipment and motor vehicles under
non-cancellable operating lease commitments existing at the
year end. Leases were negotiated for an average term of 3 to

31 BBAXRSB (&)

32

(a)

(b)

AEENFRAREFBERETNE
RZS0T : (&)

Htit

() BEEEBEMAXIIIRERMBRGRS
EREERHEEEREERAX
BSEELNE R MUER -

(i)  BRERFREFIE R IR - Bkt
RERIBER TR NEERS KA
T R B A7k AR 7% 1 S A< A SRR -

(i) BRI HE - AR R ZIERE
i S A5 B9 FRIE T AR 3R BT 49 % J7 PR &%
Rl 2 B IGR M EE -

BBRTHNETRT 2 HHEEBRRA
= T Y B e S AN B R

(iv)

K>

V) BERSRARTIBHER TR
2 P2 ERITE R -

V) BRI R R R B 2 8 -
A B E B EIRE (RIENITRIEN
TEE) RESEITABOTIAM
HOOWE -

AERRAEIE
HEEERRE

REBREBERSFREAN T A HEHLE
HEAEHERAERENIE - HER
T == HFER -

5 years.

2019 2018
g —E-RAFE —E)N\F
= HK$’000 HK$'000
5 FHET FAET
z Within one year — 4R 187 14,182
a One to five years —E=AF 210 23,173
=
=
- 397 37,355
=
é From 1 January 2019, the Group has recognised right-of-use BE-ZT—hF—A—B BREHAREE
o assets for these leases, except for short-term and low value BHECE—LERRWT2) N NEEH
4 leases see note 2 for further information. B HEREREAEEE
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in (i) the Company’s announcement
dated 24 January 2020 regarding the Company filed a
reply evidence in support of its application to continue
the Injunction Order obtained by the Company against
Banclogix; (i) the Company’s announcement dated 2 March
2020 regarding the Company has agreed with KVB Kunlun
Holdings to terminate the 2018 Renewed Office Licence
Agreement; (iii) the Company’s announcement dated 9 March
2020 regarding (a) CLSA Premium Pty has entered into the
Australian Service Level Agreement with CLSA Australia Pty;
and (b) the Company has entered into the New Information
Technology Services Agreement with CLSA Limited; (iv) the
Company’s announcement dated 23 March 2020 regarding
CLSA Premium (HK) has entered into the Hong Kong Service
Level Agreement with CITIC Securities Brokerage (HK) and
CITIC Securities Futures (HK); and the Company has entered
into the Supplemental Deed of guarantee and indemnity with
CLSA Premium (HK) and Yorkastle and, CITIC Securities
Brokerage (HK), CITIC Securities Futures (HK) and City Lion
Investment Limited (as the Landlord); and (v) the Company’s
announcement dated 23 March 2020 regarding the Company
issued a letter of termination to Banclogix to terminate
the Previous Renewed Information Technology Services
Agreement on 19 March 2020, the Directors are not aware of
any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place
subsequent to 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this
report.

EFFECT ASSESSMENT OF THE COVID-19
OUTBREAK

Given the outbreak of new COVID-19, economic activities
have been slowing down globally. The financial market was
extremely volatile in the first quarter of 2020. However, we
believe panic will be settled in the second half of 2020. The
epidemic will impact business operations of certain industries
as well as the overall economy. The Group will closely monitor
the situation and assess its impacts on our financial position
and operating results.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 24 April 2020.

33

34

35

HREPRER

BROAARBEAZZTE-_EF—A=+M
AeRnsE NABBEARARIERLDEFE
B U ARRRBEEINGERE
ZEHS (i) ARARBHA T -F
ZAZBzRE  NABBARAFEKVB
Kunlun HoldmgsE [l E 4R 1IEF20184E E &
WAERFERE (VAARBHAS
T-EF=ZANB2Z2AE REE )
CLSA Premium PtyE2CLSA Australia Pty
B AT S8R AR 75 /K ZE i 5 M (b) AR A B £
EF‘%EJ:EDE’é%ﬁﬁEAﬂEéTi%ﬁﬁETﬂ
FRHH&®E: (WVARRIBHAZZT =
THE=—HAZ+=ZHZzA%E  ANEAEH# )
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

192 B A A

A summary of the results and of the financial position of CLSA LA & FICLSA Premium Limited (282 7] -
Premium Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, EEEMMBATIHEIARER]) BT AEE K
the “Group”) for the last five financial years, as extracted from the /& 7 ¥E& R E - ThEiEe 2 75
published audited financial statements, is set out below. AL 2 SRR -

For the year ended 31 December

HET-A=t-HLEE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

“B-hE  ZE-\F ZT—+Ff ZB-R"FE CZE-RfF

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT TR TR TR FET

Total income 16,071 471,111 514,932 362,607 406,811
Profit before tax (180,457) 51,757 35,019 54,243 128,149
Profit for the year FREH (179,988) 34,249 27,354 38,688 94,709
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FR 2 Az B 5 (181,291) 19,144 31,212 40,716 83,328

For the year ended 31 December

BET-A=t-BLEE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

“B-hnE E-N\F -t ZE-RF ZT-hf

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT THL TEL TET FET

Total assets BELE 504,244 1,139,242 1,400,785 1,082,158 1,068,776
Total liabilities aEnE (113,263)  (567,536)  (853558)  (567,641)  (603,366)
390,981 571,706 547,227 514,517 465,410

Total equity and liabilties BEXREE 504244 1,139,242 1400785 1,082,158  1068,776
Net current assets REEEFE 376,907 712,811 505,056 475,645 447,080
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDERE 406,415 767,819 550,638 515,368 466,049
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The notes on pages 85 to 191 form part of these consolidated  £585Z= 191 B MM sFE AKX 454 I HREKR B
financial statements. — =R o
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